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In 2022, Finnair's business continued to recover
from the COVID-19 pandemic, but at the same time
we faced another crisis in the form of the war in
Ukraine and the closure of Russian airspace. The
number of our passengers more than tripled year-
on-year and was 9.1 million. Our revenue increased
to 2.4 billion euros (838.4 million euros) and
comparable EBIT was -163.9 million euros. However,
our comparable operating result turned positive in
the last two quarters, reflecting both the recovery in
travel and the numerous actions we have taken to
restore our profitability. Our customer satisfaction
remained high, and our net promoter score was 40.

The year was characterised by Russia’s invasion

of Ukraine and the subsequent closure of Russian
airspace, as Russia responded to the sanctions
imposed oniit by closing its own airspace from
European airlines. For us, this meant a fundamental
change in our operating environment, requiring

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

active adjustment of operations and defining a
completely new strategy.

At the beginning of the year, sickness absences
caused by the Omicron variant caused changes
to our flights. At the same time, however, we were
preparing for the removal of travel restrictions that
had already started and the strong recovery of
travel toward the summer season. We trained our
flight crews, who had been on long furloughs, and
returned aircraft from long-term parking back into
flight operations. In February, we also revealed our
200-million-euro investment in long-haul cabins.
The all-new Business Class, the new Premium
Economy travel class and the renewed Economy
Class are gradually rolled out to all our long-haul
aircraft.

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February quickly
led to the closure of Russian airspace, which

for us meant a reassessment of our entire Asian
traffic. We cancelled most of our flights o Japan
scheduled for the summer season, as avoiding
the Russian airspace increases flight time to
Japan by up to 40%. Nonetheless, we continued
to fly to Tokyo, Shanghai and Seoul, supported

by strong cargo demand. Flights to Southeast
Asia and India are less impacted by the airspace
closure, and we continued to operate to Bangkok,
Singapore and Delhi as normal. Due to the closure
of Russian airspace, we redirected our network
and also entered into wet lease agreements with
British Airways and Lufthansa Group's Eurowings
Discover. The lease-outs made it possible to
utilise idle aircraft and created work to ¢. 500
Finnair employees. We added flights to Delhi

and started flights to Mumbai. We also opened
new routes to Seattle and Dallas in the US, both

of which are home hubs for our partner airlines.
Through our partners, we gain distribution power

Auditor’'s Report

and at the same time we can offer our customers
comprehensive onward connections.

The summer of 2022 was a time of busy travel,

as the pent-up demand unraveled. The new
facilities at Helsinki Airport supported the smooth
reception of the growing number of passengers.
While several European airports suffered from a
lack of resources, our home hub, Helsinki-Vantaaq,
performed well and we were among the most
punctual network airlines in Europe during the busy
summer season.

In September, we announced our new strategy,
which aims to restore Finnair’s profitability
regardless of Russian airspace. The main areas of
the strategy are a geographically more balanced
network and leveraging the use of especially
oneworld partners, strengthening of unit revenues,
reduction of unit costs and sustainability. The
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aim is to restore Finnair's profitability to the
pre-pandemic comparable operating profit level
of 5 per cent starting from mid-2024.

Strategy implementation continued systematically
during the autumn. We started flights from three
Nordic capitals to Doha in cooperation with

Qatar Airways. We streamlined our organisation,
reducing approximately 150 jobs globally.

We agreed on long-term savings with several
personnel groups and started renegotiating
agreements with our suppliers. We invested

both inimproving sales efficiency and revenue
optimisation, as well as in modernising distribution.
This produced excellent results asin Q4, our

unit revenue (RASK) increased by 25 per cent
compared to Q4 2019. Share of all of our direct
channel sales increased to 64 per centin 2022
whereas it was 40 per cent in 2019.

Our sustainability targets remain unchanged, and
during 2022, we invested especially inincreasing
the use of renewable fuels by participatingin
oneworld alliance’s future joint purchases of
renewable fuel. We supported the re-employment
of those who lost their jobs with a comprehensive
programme. We also supported Ukrainians by
offering a 95% discount on flight tickets to Helsinki
on several key routes used by those fleeing the war
in Ukraine.
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Travel demand remained strong in the second
half of the year, and this was reflected in both

our bookings and in the development of ticket
prices. Our profitability was burdened by the
exceptionally high fuel price and the long flight
times on Asian routes, but our unit revenues were
supported by numerous measures we carried out
to drive sales and optimise revenues.

Towards the end of the year, Japan and China
opened up to travel, and the effects of the
pandemic on our operations are now being left
behind.

Finnair celebrates its 100th anniversary this year.
The last three years have been tough, but our
team has shown its ability to adapt and change.
At the same time, the sense of purpose in our work
and the important role of Finnair have carried

us forward. We are proud of our long history, but
our eyes are firmly on the future. Together we are
building an even stronger Finnair that will provide
Finns with connections to the world also in the next
hundred years.

Topi Manner,
President and CEO

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report




: The Report of the : : Board of Directors'’ _ J
Review of the year 2022 Board of Directors Financial Statements Proposal on the Dividend Auditor’s Report

The Report
of the Board
of Directors

6 Business model and 39 Riskmanagement
operating environment

41 Significantrisks and

10 Financial performancein 2022 uncertainties
15 Financial position 44 Seasonalvariationand
and capital expenditure sensi’rivj’ries in business
18 Fleet operations
46 Outlook

19 Strategy implementation
47 Performance indicators

22 Financial performance classified as alternative

2018-2022 performance measures

23 .Nozrz)—ggoncml performance 49 Reconciliation of key
n performance indicators

35 Changesincompany classified as alternative
management performance measures

36 Sharesandshareholders 51 Oftherperformanceindicators

Finnair — Financial Information 2022




Review of the year 2022

The Report of the
Board of Directors

Financial Statements

THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Business model and
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operating environment

Finnair is a network airline that specialisesin
passenger and cargo traffic between North
America, Asia and Europe. It also offers package
tours under its Aurinkomatkat-Suntours (later
Aurinkomatkat) brand.

The Finnair Plus loyalty programme strengthens
engagement with customers and generates
valuable customer data. It is one of Finland's
leading loyalty programmes with ¢. 4 million
members. The number of members has grown

by over 60% since 2017 and Finnair was able to
increase the number despite the challenging
operational and market environment during 2022.
The programme currently has ¢. 150 partners.

Finnair engages in closer cooperation with certain

oneworld partners through participation in joint
businesses, namely the Siberian Joint Business (SJB)

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

on flights between Europe and Japan, and the
Atlantic Joint Businesses (AJB) on flights between
Europe and North America. Finnair and its partners
were working closely together to ensure the
continued delivery of efficiencies and customer
benefits, despite the severely reduced capacity
and revenue. Further, Finnair has a Joint Business
with Juneyao Airlines launched in 2021. The Joint
Business demonstrates Finnair's commitment to
China as a strategic market.

Finnair's business is impacted by the four
megatrends described in the adjacent picture.
They offer numerous opportunities, but also add
new requirements for conducting business.

Finnair's business is cyclical in nature, andin
addition to long-term megatrends, it is heavily

Auditor’'s Report

Megatrends impacting Finnair's business

Technological progress, anincrease in the significance of
network connections and digitalisation
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Urbanisation

Shift in economic and political focus from the United
States and Europe to developing countries

Read more on Finnair's website.
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influenced by external factors described in the
adjacent picture.

Of these external factors, the COVID-19 pandemic
continued to have a negative impact on Finnair’s
business in 2022 on the back of travel restrictions
in many countries especially during the first half of
the year. Further, the closure of Russian airspace
and exceptionally high jet fuel price both following
the breakout of the war in Ukraine had significant
adverse impacts on Finnair. Consequently,

Finnair continued to adjust its operations. Both
temporary and permanent layoffs impacted
some of Finnair's personnel and the company
was also forced to reduce jobs globally. In
addition, the implementation of other significant
cost adjustment measures continued in order to
minimise losses caused by more limited operations
and longer Asian routings caused by the travel
restrictions and the closed Russian airspace.

With these actions, Finnair also strived to secure
its ability fo operate from a more efficient cost
base as passenger traffic gradually continued
recovering in 2022 despite the difficult operating
environment.

In 2022, Finnair continued the implementation

of its financing programme by drawing down

the capital loan of 400 million euros granted by
the State of Finland. Further, to maintain its cash
funds, it reached an agreement to extend its
600-million-euro pension premium loan until 2025
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with the bi-annual 100-million-euro amortisations
commencing in June 2023. Even though the
company reached the targeted permanent,
annual cost savings of ¢. 200 million euros by 2022,
it continued to seek significant cost savings through
negotiations with allits relevant stakeholders to
lower the unit cost and to restore its profitability

in accordance with the new strategy launched
in2022.

Business environment
in 2022

The COVID-19 pandemic continued to impact

the global aviation sectorin 2022 and it was
particularly visible at the beginning of the year,
when the Omicron variant clearly softened
demand in all markets. Although travel within
Europe and to the United States had already
opened and some of Finnair's markets in Asia had
or were opened during the year, many countries
in Asia maintained their strict fravel restrictions for
most of the year. This also had a significant impact
on Finnair's capacity, especially in Asia.

Another factor strongly affecting Finnair’s
operating environment was Russia’s war of
aggression against Ukraine, which began at the
end of February. Russian airspace was closed
almost simultaneously to EU carriers due to

the subsequent counter sanctions imposed by
Russia, which resulted in route and frequency

Proposal on the Dividend

Board of Directors’
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External factors influencing airlines

CHANGES IN CONSUMER PREFERENCE, EXPECTATIONS,
PURCHASING PATTERNS AND DEMOGRAPHICS

ﬁ PRICE OF
B JETFUEL
$£ EXCHANGE
RATES
|

POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT
AND REGULATION

cancellations in Asian traffic and to discontinued
Russian flights. Thanks to robust demand for air
cargo, Finnair was, however, able to continue
operating to most of its Asian destinations
despite routings that are up to 40 per cent longer,
thus, resulting in increased costs. Due to the
combined effect of the pandemic and closed
Russian airspace, the capacity of Asian trafficin
2022, measured in ASKs, was only c. 40 per cent
compared to the year 2019. The corresponding
figures were c. 80 per cent for European traffic and
as much as c. 165 per cent for North America, as
Finnair reallocated its capacity e.g., to the North
American routes.

—

GLOBAL
ECONOMIC CYCLES /:-lr1

SEASONALITY IN A
LEISURE AND BUSINESS
TRAVEL

WEATHER,

NATURAL DISASTERS,
PANDEMICS AND OTHER

| EXTERNAL SHOCKS

The war also had other adverse impacts on
Finnair's business, as it led to an energy crisis,
historically high fuel prices and, partly because
of this, to accelerating inflation increasing the
uncertainty of the operating environment. On the
other hand, demand for intra-European flights
and North American traffic was strong starting
from early summer as the restrictions were lifted.
In addition, capacity was more limited, which
increased market prices and improved passenger
revenues. Also the Asian market prices reacted
very positively especially as there were capacity
constraints due to the travel restrictions, global
labour shortage and operational challenges
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“Finnair’'s cargo revenue
reached a record high in 2022."
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Financial Statements

caused by longer flight times. Scheduled market
capacity, measured in ASKs, between origin
Helsinki and Finnair's European destinations
increased by 164.0 per cent (-14.1) year-on-yearr.
Direct market capacity between Finnair’'s Asian
and European destinations increased by 71.7 per
cent (-32.9) and between Finnair's North Atlantic
and European destinations by 109.6 per cent (17.2)
year-on-year.

At the beginning of the year, demand for
Aurinkomatkat’s foreign travel packages was
softer due to the Omicron variant. Further, the
travel restrictions e.g., in Thailand weakened
demand and caused more cancellations than
expected. However, the strong recovery in demand
started already at the end of Q1, and the strong
demand continued throughout the rest of the
year after the tfravel restrictions were gradually
lifted from European destinations during Q2 and
Q3. The robust demand was clearly reflected

in increased package prices which enabled
Aurinkomatkat to cover increasing jet fuel and
hotel costs. Despite the increase in prices, demand
remained strong also for last-minute deals. As a
result, Aurinkomatkat increased capacity to its
most popular destinations, such as Crete and
Rhodes. Demand for city holidays also continued
to grow strongly. The war in Ukraine has not had
a significant impact on demand for package
holidays.

Proposal on the Dividend
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The global air freight market was impacted by
COVID-19 and the war in Ukraine in 2022, as lack
of cargo capacity continued to benefit air cargo.
This resulted in strong albeit gradually softening
demand during the year. Because of this, also
market prices declined, but remained at a higher
level than before the pandemic. Finnair's cargo
revenue reached arecord highin 2022 as it rose
slightly from the comparison period primarily due
to the higher number of flights operated. In 2021,
cargo-only flights made up a significant part of
Finnair's cargo capacity but in 2022, they were
mostly replaced by passenger flights carrying
belly cargo due to the strong passenger demand.
Finnair estimates that the softening demand for
cargo will continue also in Q1.

The US dollar, which is the most significant expense
currency for Finnair after the euro, appreciated by
12.3 per cent against the euro year-on-year. The US
dollar-denominated market price of jet fuel was
80.3 per cent higherin 2022 than in the comparison
period and the euro-denominated market price
was as much as 102.2 per cent higher. Finnair
hedges part of its fuel purchases and key foreign
currency items; hence, market fluctuations are not
reflected directly in its result. The fuel hedging ratio
has been quite low during the pandemic, but it has
been lifted during the year, and, on the back of the
updated risk management policy, the average
hedging ratio will continue to rise during 2023.

Auditor’'s Report
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Finnair's 2022 fuel bill surged year-on-year due to
the exceptionally high market price, longer Asian
routings and higher capacity.

Finnair's revenue and profitability are expected

to improve more slowly during the strategy period
than what was estimated at the time of the 2021
financial statements due to the long-term impacts
of the Russian airspace closure and increased fuel
prices.
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Capitals

Human
» Competent personnel

Intellectual and social
* Suppliersand partners

» Jointbusinesses (AJB/SJB/Juneyao)
and alliance cooperation

» Distribution channels
* Public aoffairs

Immaterial

» Traffic & overflight rights

» Customer base and data
* Quality certifications

* Route network

* Brand

Financial and material
* Adjusted interest-bearing debt €2,618 4 million

* Equity capital €410.7 million
* Modern and efficient fleet of 80 aircraft

* COOL Nordic Cargo Terminal, Helsinki Hulb
* Maintenance facilities
» Catering facilities

Natural resources

* Fueluse (jet and ground)

* Energy consumption of facilities
 Wateruse

* Purchased goods

* Materialuse
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Business activities

Customer service and products

Finnair and oneworld global network
Passenger and cargo fraffic
Ancillary services

Package tours

Dynamic travel products

Support services
Catering

Aircraft maintenance
Ground handling
Airline training

Strategy and values

COMMITMENT WORKING
TO CARE TOGETHER
Sustainability Strengthening

unit revenues
Reducing More balanced
unit costs network and fleet
optimisation
SIMPLICITY COURAGE

Purpose: Enriching life by bridging the world

o

Auditor’s Report

Impact

Increasing value for society

* Enabling safe and free movement of people,
goods and services

* Improving cultural, societal and commercial
interaction

» Participating and inspiring cross-industry
collaboration

» Economic multiplier effects for the Finnish society

Sustainable growth

* Producingdirect and indirect employment
(e.g.tourism, international trade and foreign

investments)

* Venturing out of our traditional business
to find solutions for our core

* Producing value for shareholders' investments
* Increased brand value

Satisfied & competent personnel

» Equal opportunities for personnel

» Goodgovernance

» Safe and healthy work

* Support and respect of labour and human rights

Environmentalimpact

e Airemissions (CO2 and non-CO?)
* Noise emissions

 Liguid waste (de-icing fluids)

* Material waste

SUKUPUOLTEN
TASA-ARVO
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Financial performance in 2022

Revenue

Finnair's total revenue increased year-on-year as
the COVID-19 impact was more significant in the
comparison period.

Unit revenue (RASK) increased by 8.6 per cent and
amounted to 7.53 cents (6.93). The RASK increase
was caused by the higher passenger yields and

improved passenger load factor despite the higher

number of cargo-only flights in the comparison
period, as these flights do not generate any ASKs
and, thus, have a positive RASK impact.

Passenger traffic

Even though the passenger traffic figures
continued to improve year-on-year, the negative
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and related

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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travel restrictions was still clearly visible in the 2022
figures and especially in H1. Further, the Russian
airspace closure had a negative impact on the
figuresin 2022. Passenger revenue increased by
306.5 per cent and traffic capacity, measured in
Available Seat Kilometres (ASK), increased by 158.8
per cent overall against the comparison period.
The number of passengers increased by 218.9 per
cent 10 9,095,800 passengers. Traffic measured in
Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK) increased by
308.6 per cent and the passenger load factor (PLF)

Proposal on the Dividend

Board of Directors’

increased by 24.8 percentage points to 67.6 per
cent. The distance-based reported traffic figures
do not take into account longer routings caused
by the airspace closure as they are based on the
Great-Circle distance.

In Asian traffic, the number of scheduled
passenger flights remained limited because of the
pandemic impacts. Moreover, Finnair cancelled
multiple flights to and from Asia in March following
the Russian airspace closure even though it was

Auditor’'s Report

Revenue bridge by product

Revenue by product

EUR million 2022 2021 Change %
Passenger revenue 1,710.7 420.8 306.5
Ancillary revenue 123.2 441 1791
Cargo 352.3 334.7 53
Travel services 170.3 38.7 3399
Total 2,356.6 838.4 1811

€ million
131.6 2,356.6
12899 790 176
838.4
O R o @ & v
Q @ ) NS Q
AP RNV S A
Q@(& (\é}\'\,&Q} A@\%
c)el(\ e Q‘,\O\ «&0
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able to continue operating most of the routes by
using longer routings. The number of scheduled
passenger flights was nevertheless clearly more
than in the comparison period as in Q4 2021 travel
openedto e.g., Thailand, Singapore and Indiqg,
and as Finnair commenced flights from Sweden
to Thailand which were, however, discontinued at
the end of October 2022. Therefore, ASKs grew by
100.6 per cent and RPKs by as much as 484.1 per
cent. PLF increased by 41.0 percentage points to
624 per cent. As PLF was still weak and capacity
clearly lower than pre-pandemic, it resulted in low
passenger revenue compared to 2019. Revenue
overall was, however, supported by the strong
cargo operations.

In addition to the scheduled passenger flights to
New York, which were operated from March 2021,
Finnair reopened the Chicago and Los Angeles
routes in June 2021 and the Miami route was
reopened for the winter season 2021/2022. Finnair
also commenced direct flights from Stockholm

to New York, Los Angeles and Miami during Q4
2021, which were, however, discontinued at the
end of October 2022, and from Helsinki to Dallas
in March and to Seattle in June 2022. As a result,
North Atlantic ASKs in 2022 increased by 65.8 per
cent compared to 2019 whereas RPKs increased
only 13.7 per cent. On the other hand, ASKs and
RPKsincreasedin 2022 by 195.4 and 460.9 per cent,
respectively, year-on-year as no passenger flights
to the United States were operated during the first

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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two months of 2021 and only one weekly return
flight to New York was operated between March
and May 2021. Even though PLF increased by 27.7

Proposal on the Dividend

Board of Directors Auditor's Report

Domestic traffic capacity increased by 80.6 per
cent, RPKs by 92.5 per cent and the PLF by 4.3
percentage points to 70.3 per cent.

Revenue bridge by traffic area

€ million
percentage points 1o 58.5 per cent year-on-year, 100 244 23566
it remained weak. As in Asia, revenue overall was An Ci I I a ry 817.6
supported by the strong cargo operations.
Ancillary revenue, consisting of e.g., various service
ASKs grew by 208.5 per cent in European traffic, fees and inflight sales, increased to 123.2 million 249.8
as loosened travel restrictions within Europe have euros (44.1). Excess baggage, advance seat 356.4
had a meaningful and positive effect on demand reservations and frequent flyer programme related 838.4
from late summer 2021 onwards. In addition, Finnair revenue were the largest ancillary categories.
started its cooperation with Qatar Airways during
Q4 related to flights from Copenhagen, Stockholm Cq rg o
and Helsinki to Doha. The figures for these three P & & © L D
daily routes operated by Finnair were reported Although Finnair operated a lower number of v @Oo & O&"’% \\o‘JO v
until the end of 2022 as a part of Europe, but from scheduled passenger flights, especially o Asiq, eog\ AN
the beginning of 2023, they will be reported as a compared to the pre-pandemic erg, due to the
part of the new traffic area Middle East. RPKs grew COQOVID-19 related restrictions as well as the closure
by 2514 per cent and the PLF by 9.1 percentage of the Russian airspace at the end of February,
points to 74.9 per cent in European traffic. available scheduled cargo tonne kilometres
Passenger revenue and traffic data by areaq, 2022
Passenger revenue ASK RPK PLF
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Traffic area EUR miill. Share % EUR mill. Mill. km Mill. km Mill. km Mill. km % Change %-p
Asia 425.0 24.8 75.3 89531 44630 5586.0 956.3 624 410
North Atlantic 244.3 14.3 38.6 6,743.3 2,282.5 3946.2 7035 58.5 27.7
Europe 8979 525 243.6 14,3301 46447 10,730.2 3,053.8 749 91
Domestic 128.2 75 60.3 1,271.8 704.0 8944 464.6 70.3 43
Unallocated 15.3 09 3.0
Total 1,710.7 100.0 420.8 31,2984 12,094.2 21156.8 5178.2 67.6 24.8
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increased by 108.6 per cent year-on-year, whereas
revenue scheduled cargo tonne kilometres
increased by 67.0 per cent. Cargo-related available
tonne kilometres increased by 30.6 per cent, and
revenue tonne kilometres increased by 2.2 per cent;
both include the cargo-only flights, which were
operated mainly between Europe and Asia as well
as between Europe and North America. Strong
cargo demand continued as total cargo tonnes
increased by 16.9 per cent and cargo revenue
increased by 5.3 per cent year-on-year and was
record high.

Travel services

In Q1, package holidays’ financial development
was significantly affected by the COVID-19
pandemic and the related travel restrictions

and guidelines. Theirimpact was already very
moderate in Q2 and they were lifted in Europein
Q3, thus, resulting in robust demand during H2.
During 2022, both international and domestic
package holidays were produced whereas in the
comparison period, production consisted mainly
of domestic package holidays. Because of this, the
total number of Travel Services passengers grew
by as much as 2914 per cent and the load factorin
allotment-based capacity was 931 per cent. Travel
Services revenue increased to 170.3 million euros
(38.7).

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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Other operatingincome

Other operating income increased to 146.7 million
euros (39.2) mainly due to income related to the
agreed wet leases, which were operated starting
from Q2 2022, with Lufthansa-owned Eurowings
Discover and British Airways. The wet leases for
British Airways ended at the end of Q3 2022 but the
ones with Eurowings Discover will continue until the
end of current winter season.

Operating expenses
included in comparable
EBIT

Finnair's operating expenses, included in the
comparable operating result, increased by 98.1 per
cent mainly due to the increased capacity, longer
Asian routings and the fuel price. Finnair continued
its significant cost adjustment initiatives in 2022.

Unit cost (CASK) decreased by 25.5 per cent and
totalled 8.05 cents (10.81). CASK excluding fuel
decreased by 40.6 per cent. Year-on-year, the
unit cost decrease was caused by the increased
capacity, the wet lease operations, the smaller
number of cargo-only flights that were not
generating ASKs, as well as the achieved cost
savings. Operating expenses includedin the
comparable operating result, excluding fuel,
increased by 61.3 per cent.

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend
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Operating expenses included in comparable operating result

€ million
3,000 2 6671 B Staff and other crew Sales, marketing and
' related costs, distribution costs,
2,500 _ change 80% change 171%
2000 | Fuel costs, change 295% Passenger and handling
- services, change 135%
1,500 1.346.4 Sr?é) r?gce”zl/é@m& Depreciationand
1000 —— - - M Aircraft materials and impairment, change -1%
overhaul,change 100% Property, IT and other
500 l [ B Traffic charges, expenses, change 27%
. B change72%
2021 2022
Key Figures — Revenue and profitability
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Revenue EURmiIll. 23566 8384 8292 30977 28361
change from previous year % 181.1 11 -73.2 9.2 104

Comparable operating result EURmiIll. -1639 -4689 -5953 162.8 2184

Comparable operating result at constant 2018  EUR mill. 2365 -4660 -5589 2057 2184

currency and fuel price” 2019 EURmIll. 2108 -4765 -5755 1628

Comparable operating result of revenue % -7.0 -55.9 -71.8 53 7.7

Operating result EURmiIll. -2006 -4544 -4645 1600 256.3

Comparable EBITDA of revenue % 6.5 -17.8 -30.3 15.8 181

Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS)** EUR -036 -0.34 -0.51 0.09 013

%IJQTS rE)venue per available seat kilometre cents/ASK 753 6.93 6.41 6.56 6.69
RASK at constant currency* 2018 cents/ASK 147 6.91 6.40 6.53 6.69

2019 cents/ASK 7.51 6.99 6.43 6.56

Unit revenue per revenue passenger cents/RPK 8.09 8.13 6.48 6.44 6.48

kilometre (yield)

Unit cost per available seat kilometre (CASK) cents/ASK 8.05 10.81 11.01 6.22 6.18
CASK excluding fuel cents/ASK 5.38 9.06 9.21 476 4 81
CASK at constant currency and fuel price* 2018 cents/ASK 6.72 10.76 10.72 6.10 6.18

2019 cents/ASK 6.84 1093 10.88 6.22

*Key figures at constant currency and fuel price are reported on 2018 and 2019 levels.
** A rights offering was executed between June and July 2020 and, therefore, 2018 and 2019 EPS figures have

been restated accordingly.
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Operating expenses included in comparable operating result Fuel costs, including hedging results and emissions Aircraft materials and overhaul costs went up due

trading costs, increased mainly due to c. 2.5-fold to the added capacity and longer Asian routings

EUR million 2022 2021 Change % capacity (measured in ASK), longer Asian routings although updated USD-based discount rates of
Staff and other crew related costs 4471 2489 79.7 , , , , L
Fuel costs 836.0 N4 ~200 and a clearly higher fuel market price*, which maintenance reserves had a declining impact.
Capacity rents 1025 73 436 had an adverse impact of ¢. 375 million euros on Depreciation and impairment costs remained
Aircraft materials and overhaul 1836 917 10011 costs year-on-year. Fuel efficiency (as measured almost unchanged year-on year. Traffic charges
Traffic charges 206.5 1204 716 in fuel consumption per ASK) improved by 16.4 rose due to the increase in the number of flights
Sales, marketing and distribution costs 1031 381 170.6 per cent due to e.g., relatively fewer cargo-only and longer routings between Europe and Asia but
Passenger and handling costs 348.0 148.0 135.2 flights during 2022 that were not generating less than the capacity as e.g., the Russian overflight
Property, IT and other expenses 123.3 96.8 274 ASKs. Fuel consumption per RTK, which also royalties have not accrued since airspace was
Depreciation and impairment 3171 319.8 -09 accounts for developments in both passenger closedin February.
Total 2,661.1 1,346.4 98.1 and cargo load factors, decreased by 0.5 per
cent year-on-year due to the improved PLF even Capacity rents, covering purchased traffic from
though Asian routings have been longer since Norra and any wet leases or potential cargo rents,

Result the Russian airspace closure, thus, increasing fuel increased from the comparison period, despite

- consumption. renegotiated agreements with Norra in Q2 2021,
(E:L;Irznrsgtzgle EBITDA 12;)322 -124%2(; Clﬂlomszeo‘yoo | asca pqci’ry inc.reo.sed. Certain exceptional costs
Depreciation and impairment 3171 3198 09 Staff and other crew-related costs increased less had an increasing impact on property, IT and other
Comparable operating result 1639 4689 65.0 than capacity despite longer Asian routings and expenses.
ltems affecting comparability -36.6 144 <200 staff related exceptional costs totalling ¢. 9 million
Operating result -200.6 -454.4 55.9 euros, as the achieved cost savings were visible. Resu "-
Financialincome 6.5 12.8 490 Passenger and handling costs (including also tour
Financial expenses 1379 -17.8 170 operation expenses related to e.g., hotels) were Even though travel was open within Europe, and
Exchange gains and losses -38.8 -22.5 -12.7 driven up by the increased volumes, especially in more open 1o the United States as well as certain
Result before taxes -370.7 -581.9 36.3 passenger traffic. Sales, marketing and distribution countries in Asia during 2022, the result was still
Income taxes -1054 117.6 -189.7 costs increased due to marketing activities and clearly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic
Result for the period -476.2 -464.3 -2.6 improved sales intake. especially in H1. Further, Finnair was forced to cut

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

* Fuel price impact including impact of currencies
and hedging.

routes and frequencies to Asia in March due to
the Russian airspace closure, while the remaining
flights were rerouted. The rerouted flights were
longer, increasing e.g., staff, fuel and navigation
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costs. The result was also adversely impacted by
the higher price of jet fuel.

As revenue increased more than operating
expenses, Finnair's comparable EBITDA and

comparable operating result both improved year-

on-year and comparable EBITDA turned positive.
Comparable EBIT margin was -7.0 per cent (-55.9),
when the targeted over the cycle level was above

Auditor’'s Report
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were no exceptional changes in defined benefit
pension plans (20.6).

The net financial expenses increased from the
comparison period during 2022 because of the
unrealised exchange losses related to aircraft
lease liabilities as the US dollar strengthened and
due to increase in financial expenses following
the generalrise in interest rates. During 2022, the

7.5 per cent during the strategy period of 2020—
2025. The targeted level was, however, reassessed
during the period due to the impacts of COVID-19
and closed Russian airspace. Finnair's new

company did not recognise any deferred tax
assets based on the loss for the period due to
the uncertainty relating to utilisation of the losses
in faxation resulting from the closure of Russian

targeted levelis at least 5 per cent starting from airspace. Due to the same reason, the company

mid-2024. recognised a deferred tax asset write-down of 117
million euros in Q2 related to previous years' tax
Unrealised changes in foreign currencies relating losses.

to fleet overhaul provisions were -8.8 million euros
(-11.7) due to the strengthened US dollar. In Q1, the
company recognised an impairment totalling

32.7 million euros (hone in the comparison period)
relating to four owned A330 aircraft as based

on the company’s estimate, it was unlikely that

the shorter-range wide-body fleet would be fully
deployed as long as the Russian airspace remains
closed. Other items affecting comparability consist
of fair value changes of derivatives for which
hedge accounting is not applied, sales gains or
losses and restructuring costs. These items totalled
4.9 million euros (5.6) during 2022 and related
mostly to sales gains from four A321 aircraft. There

Finnair — Financial Information 2022 14
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Financial position
and capital expenditure

Balance sheet

The Group's balance sheet totalled 4,133.0 million
euros at the end of December (4,047.1). Despite
limited investments, the fleet book value decreased
by 51.5 million euros due to the impairment relating
to four A330 aircraft as well as depreciation of the
fleet. Due to depreciation, the right-of-use fleet
decreased by 92.4 million euros. There were no
assets held for sale at the end of 2022 (18.7) as four
A321 aircraft, held for sale at the end of 2021, were
sold during the period.

Receivables related to revenue increased to
134.9 million euros mainly due to improved ticket
sales (110.9). Net deferred tax assets declined to
80.6 million euros (191.9) as loss for the period was

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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not recognised as a deferred tax asset and as a
117-million-euro write-down was recognised due 1o

the uncertainty related to utilisation of the losses
in taxation. The pension assets rose to 120.0 million
euros (80.9) mainly due to actuarial gains whereas

pension obligations remained unchanged at 0.7

million euros (0.7).

Key Figures — Capital structure

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

Deferred income and advances received
increased to 452.0 million euros (291.1). This was
mainly caused by anincrease in the unflown ticket
liability amounting to 356.4 million euros (202.7) due
to clearly improved sales intake.

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Equity ratio % 99 11.8 24.6 249 23.3
Gearing % 2664 321.8 153.2 64.3 769
Interest-bearing net debt EURmiIll. 10940 15309 1,373.8 621.0 706.7
Interest-bearing net debt / 7] -10.3 -55 13 14
Comparable EBITDA
Gross capital expenditure EUR mill. 199.6 4345 5159 4438 4740
Return on capital employed (ROCE) % -6.1 -139 -15.2 6.3 93

Gearing
€ million %
3,500 350
3000 \266.4% 300
2,500 250
2,000 200
1,500 150
1,000 100
500 50
0 0

2021 2022

B Cashfunds
B Adjusted Interest-bearing liabilities
M Equity
= Gearing
Equity ratio

15



Review of the year 2022

The loss for the period as well as paid hybrid bond
interests decreased shareholders’ equity, which
totalled 410.7 million euros (475.7), or 0.29 euros
per share (0.34). Finnair and the State of Finland
sighed an agreement on an unsecured hybrid
loan of up to 400 million euros in 2021. This credit
limit could be used in full by Finnair based on the
state aid decisions made by the EU Commission
in March 2021 and in February 2022. In Q2, the
hybrid loan was fully converted to a capital loan
to support the parent company’s equity position
and, at the same time, Finnair made a 290-million-
euro drawdown recognised as equity, as the

Balance sheet

€ million Assets

The Report of the
Board of Directors

Financial Statements

conditions set in the agreement had been met.
Further, Finnair drew down the remaining 110 million
euros in Q3. Shareholders’ equity also includes a
fair value reserve that is affected by changesin

the fair values of jet fuel and currency derivatives
used for hedging as well as actuarial gains and
losses related to defined benefit plans. The value

of the item at the end of December was 42.8 million
euros after deferred taxes (16.6). This increase, also
improving the equity, was related to actuarial gains
from defined benefit pension plans.

Equity andliabilities

5,000

4,047.1 4133.0

4133.0 4,047.1

4,000

471.5

2021 2022
M Fleet B Otherassets
Other fixed assets B Cashandcash

equivalents and other

financial assets

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

2022 2021
M Equity M Deferredincome
Interest-bearing and advances
liabilities received

B Otherliabilities

Proposal on the Dividend

Board of Directors’

Cash flow
and financial
position

During 2022, the impacts of COVID-19 and the
Russian airspace closure were visible in net cash
flow from operating activities, although it was
clearly positive thanks to materially improved ticket
sales and positive comparable EBITDA. Net cash
flow from investments was negative mainly due to

Auditor’'s Report

J

fleet related investments, despite the divestment of
four A321 aircraft. Net cash flow from financing was
positive mainly due to the 400-million-euro capital
loan drawdown during the period, despite the c.
100-million-euro repayment in Q1 related to the

old 200-million-euro unsecured senior bond which
maturedin March 2022.

The equity ratio on 31 December 2022 decreased
from the year-end 2021 mainly due to the negative
result for the period, even though the 400-million-
euro capital loan and the positive change in the
fair value reserve partially alleviated the impact.

Cash flow

EUR million 2022 2021
Net cash flow from operating activities 2590 -25.3
Net cash flow from investing activities -75.5 309.6
Net cash flow from financing activities 421 7134
Capital structure

% 31Dec 2022 31Dec 2021
Equity ratio 99 11.8
Gearing 2664 321.8
Liquidity and net debt

EUR million 31 Dec 2022 31Dec 2021
Cash funds 15244 1,265.7
Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities 26184 2,7196.6
Interest-bearing net debt 1,094.0 1,530.9
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Gearing declined on the back of increased cash
funds, decline in adjusted interest-bearing liabilities
and, thus, lower interest-bearing net debt even
though equity weakened.

The company’s liquidity remained strong at the
end of the period as cash funds totalled 1,524 4
million euros (1,265.7). Liquid funds, which exclude
other current financial assets (maturity over three
months) compared to cash funds, totalled 1,375.6
million euros (1,150.0).

Cash Flow change 2022

Net cash flow from

The Report of the
Board of Directors

Net cash flow from

Financial Statements

In addition to the positive net cash flow from
operating activities, Finnair Group's cash funds
increased mainly due to the 400-million-euro
capital loan. To maintainits cash funds, the
company agreed in Q4 with other parties of its
600-million-euro pension premium loan to extend
the guarantees and the loan maturity until 2025.
The repayment schedule was amended so that the
company willamortise the loan by 100 million euros
every six months starting from June 2023. However,
the remaining two 100-million-euro tranches

will be paidin fullon 15 May 2025. Prior to the

Net cash flow from

€ million operating activities, +259.0 investing activities, -75.5 financing activities, +42.1
2,000
1,375.6
1500 152.5 49.5 2660
153.2 ] :
1,150.0 -96.1 -62.5  -12.8 -0.2
1,000
500
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extension, the loan was planned to be repaid in two
300-million-euro tranches in December 2022 and

in June 2023. In addition, Finnair has a 200-million-
euro short-term, unsecured commercial paper
programme, which was unused at the end of
December.

Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities decreased
from year-end 2021 mainly due to the ¢. 100-million-
euro repayment of the old senior bond. The share
of lease liabilities decreased and totalled 1,330.7
million euros (1,381.0).

Capital expenditure

Gross capital expenditure, excluding advance
payments, totalled 199.6 million euros during
2022 (434.5) and was primarily related o fleet
investments.

Cash flow from investments (including fixed asset
investments and divestments, sublease payments
received, advance payments and change in other
non-current assets) totalled -62.7 million euros
(3771).

Change in other current financial assets (maturity
over three months) totalled -12.8 million euros (-67.5)
also forming a part of the total net cash flow from
investments, which amounted to -75.5 million euros
(309.6).

Auditor’'s Report
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Cash flow from investments (including only fixed
asset investments and advance payments) for the
financial year 2023 relates mainly to the fleetand is
expected to total -173 million euros. Investment cash
flow includes both committed investments as well
as estimates for planned, but not yet committed,
investments.

The company has 33 unencumbered aircraft,
which account for approximately 30.9 per cent of
the balance sheet value of the entire fleet 0f 1,827.6
million euros.*

Dividend policy and the
Board's proposal for the
distribution of profit

The aim of Finnair's dividend policy is to pay, on
average, at least one-third of the earnings per
share as a dividend over an economic cycle. The
aim is to take into account the company’s earnings
trend and outlook, financial situation and capital
needs in the distribution of dividends.

In 2022, earnings per share were -0.36 euros (-0.34).
Finnair Plc’s distributable equity amounted to
-291913121.87 euros on 31 December 2022. The
Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General
Meeting that no dividend be distributed for 2022.

* Fleet value includes right of use assefts as well as
prepayments of future aircraft deliveries.
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Fleet

Finnair's operating fleet

Finnair's fleet is managed by Finnair Aircraft
Finance Oy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Finnair
Plc. At the end of December, Finnair itself operated
56 aircraft, of which 25 were wide-body and 31
narrow-body aircraft. The average age of the fleet
operated by Finnair was 11.6 years.

Fleet renewal

At the end of December, Finnair had seventeen
A350 aircraft, which have been delivered between
2015-2021, and two A350 aircraft on order

from Airbus. These aircraft are scheduled to be
delivered to Finnairin Q4 2024 and Q12025.

Finnair's investment commitments for property,
plant and equipment, totalling 366.1 million euros,
include the upcoming investments in the wide-
body fleet.

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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Fleet operated by Norra
(purchased traffic)

Nordic Regional Airlines (Norra) operates a fleet
of 24 aircraft for Finnair on a contract flying basis.
All the aircraft operated by Norra are leased from
Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy.

Board of Directors’

Proposal on the Dividend Auditor’s Report
Fleet operated by
Finnair* Change
from Average age
31.12.2022 Seats # 3112.2021 Own** Leased 3112.2022 Ordered
Narrow-body fleet
Airbus A319 144 6 5 1 211
Airbus A320 174 10 8 2 204
Airbus A321 209 15 -4 0) 15 84
Wide-body fleet
Airbus A330 289/263 8 4 4 13.2
Airbus A350 297/336 17 5 12 5] 2
Total 56 -4 22 34 11.6 2

*Finnair's Air Operator Certificate (AOC).

** Includes JOLCO-financed (Japanese Operafing Lease with
Call Option) and ECA (Export Credit Agency) financed aircraft

o MEAIR. =y

J o
g— — ,._-l';_ . i
Fleet operated by
Norra® Change Average
from age
31.12.2022 Seats # 31.12.2021 Own Leased 3112.2022 Ordered
ATR 68—70 12 6 6 134
Embraer E190 100 12 9 3 14.5
Total 24 0 15 9 14.0

* Nordlic Regional Airlines Oy’s Air Operator Certificate (AOC).
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Strategy implementation

Finnair renewed its strategy 1o 2025 in September
due to the impacts of the pandemic and closed
Russian airspace. The new strategy aims to

restore profitability and build a competitive airline
regardless of Russian airspace. It includes four
main themes, which are a more balanced network

and fleet optimization, strengthening unit revenues,

reducing unit costs and sustainability.

The new strategy focuses on reaching the
pre-pandemic comparable EBIT level of at least
5% from mid-2024. The key actions to achieve this
include:

* A geographically more balanced network
connecting Europe to Asig, India and the Middle
East, and North America via Finnair's home hub
Helsinki.

* Optimisation of the fleet to meet the needs of the
future network.

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

» Furtherleveraging various partnerships,
most notably the oneworld alliance and joint
businesses, to strengthen distribution, network
reach and product offering. Significantly
strengthening unit revenues through enhanced
digital offering, competitive products and
customer choice.

 Significantly reducing unit costs from the 2019
level to be competitive in all markets.

 Building a sustainable balance sheet that allows
the company to invest in the future.

* Being among the sustainability leadersin the
aviation industry.

More balanced network
and fleet optimization

Due to the closure of Russian airspace, Finnair lost
the unique advantage of Finland's geography,
as flying around Russia lengthens the routings

between Finnair's home airport and the mega
citiesin Japan, South Korea and China by 15—-40
per cent, depending on the destination. Withiits
new strategy, Finnair is therefore placing more
emphasis on the West, the Middle East and India in
its network. Despite the longer routings, however,
the company continues to serve key Asian markets,
focusing on the most profitable cities. With the
new strategy, the European network and traffic
structure is optimised to increase efficiency,
because the transfer traffic via Helsinki between
Asia and Europe, which was the basis of the
previous strategy, will decrease.

The new strategy also emphasises the utilisation
of joint businesses with airline partnerships
(Atlantic Joint Business or AJB, Siberian Joint
Business or SJB and joint business with Juneyao
Air). This highlights the role of oneworld partners
such as American Airlines and Alaska Airlinesin
North America, Qatar Airways in the Middle East
and Japan Airlines on routes to Japan. The North

Auditor’'s Report

American partners provide their extensive network
to Finnair's customers and, on the other hand,
significantly strengthen Finnair’s distribution power
in North America. In Q4, Finnair commenced its
strategic cooperation with Qatar Airways that
comprises daily flights from Helsinki, Copenhagen
and Stockholm to Qatar Airways' home airport in
Doha. Qatar Airways purchases a fixed share of
the passenger and cargo capacity of these flights
operated by Finnair.

With the new strategy, the company aims to
optimise its fleet to meet the needs of the future
network. Due to the closure of Russian airspace,
Finnair concluded e.g., wet lease agreements,
thus, utilising some of its excess capacity. As the
company has stated, it will postpone the narrow-
body fleet renewal investment by some years as
it concentrates on optimising the life of its current
fleet.
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Strengthening unit
revenues

In order to strengthen its unit revenues, Finnair has
three goals: to offer its customers the best digital
experience for sales and services by improving the
ease of use, fo improve customer engagement by
increasing the share of direct distribution channels
and through more efficient distribution, and to offer
competitive products and options to customers
enabling upselling and cross-selling. With the help
of these goals, Finnair also aims for even better
customer satisfaction.

Product and service quality are still differentiating
factors for Finnair, and operative quality plays an
important role in this. Finnair’s long-haul tfraffic
emphasises a high-quality, differentiating travel
experience, while smoothness, simplicity and
efficiency are key o intra-European traffic. In
February, Finnair revealed the new long-haul

Key Figures — Strengthening unit revenues
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experience that covers all Finnair's wide-body
aircraft and, as a result, business and economy
classes are refurbished, and a completely new
premium economy class was infroduced. In 2022,
the renewed cabin won many awards and has
received very positive feedback from customers,
which has contributed to customer satisfaction.
Another contributing factor was Finnair’s on-time
performance that was 79.0 per cent (82.3), despite
various capacity challenges in the European
aviation system, and one of the best in Europe.

As anindication of Finnair’s strong customer
satisfaction, the company was selected as the best
airline in Northern Europe for the 12th consecutive
time in the Skytrax customer survey. Finnair’s
customers also awarded Finnair five starsin the
Airline Passenger Experience Association (APEX)
airline evaluation. The Net Promoter Score (NPS)
measuring customer satisfaction was at a good
level of 40 (38).

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Proposal on the Dividend

Net Promoter Score 40 38 48 38 47
Share of digital direct ticket sales* 440 51.0 40.7 259 239
Average number of monthly visitors at mill. 2.3 1.1 11 2.0 19
finnaircom**

Active users for Finnair mobile app 1,000 /M.0 326.0 187.3 3326 265.5
Ancillary revenue EUR mill. 123.2 44] 62.3 176.2 160.8

*In Finnair's own digital channels only.

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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The role of digital services, which is already key

for Finnair, is further increasing. The average
monthly number of unique Finnair's website visitors
exceeded the pre-pandemic level in 2022 (in 2019,
c. 2.0 million) and the comparison period figure as
it totalled 2.3 million (1.1). The number of active users
of the Finnair mobile application increased by 118.1
per cent to 711,000 year-on-year. Direct sales in
Finnair's digital channels fell to 44.0 per cent (51.0)
while fotal sales clearly increased. During the year,
Finnair continued to infroduce new distribution
technologies and e.g., signed an agreement

with Amadeus to bring NDC (new distribution
capability) content to travel agency customers.
With the help of this, the reach of Finnair's offers is
expanded.

Reducing unit costs

Due to the closure of Russian airspace, profitable
operations require a lower cost base than before,
which is emphasised in Finnair's new strategy.
The company’s goalis to significantly reduce unit
costs from the 2019 level. This goal includes the
permanent cost savings of ¢. 200 million euros
reached during the pandemic.

Considering the better-than-expected market
development and strong cost inflation, Finnair
expects that the strengthening of unit revenues
will play a bigger role than previously expected
in achieving the targets. At the same time, Finnair

Auditor’'s Report

continues to strongly control and cut costsin

all operations. Additional savings are sought
from, among other things, fleet costs, personnel
costs, supplier contracts and office space,

as well as structural changes. Negotiations

with the personnel on changes to the terms of
employment are progressing and the company
has reached negotiation results with several
personnel groups. Finnair is also evaluating
other actions, such as potential outsourcing of
certain operational activities. In addition, during
the period, the company completed discussions
with its employees to streamline the company’s
structures to match Finnair's future size. As a result,
Finnair reduced c. 150 jobs globally. After the
period, Finnair reached a negotiation result with
its Finland-based cabin crew. The result will still
proceed to an administrative handling.

Sustainability

Sustainability is an integral part of all of Finnair's
operations, but in its Sustainability Strategy, the
company focuses on its Purpose and Environment.
The company’'s ambitious sustainability targets
remained unchanged when the strategy was
renewed. Finnair's long-term goal is carbon
neutrality by 2045, with a 50 per cent reduction

in net emission by the end of 2025 from the 2019
level. Part of the goal is achieved by flying less
than in 2019. Key measures also include improving
the fuel efficiency of Finnair’s fleet, increasing the
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use of sustainable aviation fuels and emission
compensation.

During 2022, Finnair signed a commitment to set
a science-based target (SBT) for reducing carbon
dioxide emissions in accordance with the Paris
Climate Agreement. The company must set this
target in 2024 at the latest.

In 2021, the oneworld Alliance set a common goall
of achieving a 10% level of SAF refuelling by 2030,
well above the suggested 5% EU target. As a first
concrete step, members of the alliance, inclusive
of Finnair, signed long-term commitments with

two fuel producers, Aemetis and Gevo, in 2022.
Fuels will be delivered from Aemetis from 2025 and
from Gevo from 2027 onwards. Finnair has earlier
partnered with Neste in Finland to increase to use
of SAF.

During the year, Finnair also reintroduced the
opportunity for its customers to compensate
emissions from their flights by combining certified
emission offset projects and SAF. The service can
be used to calculate flight emissions and offset a
flight's carbon footprint by seamlessly combining
SAF and offset projects.

Social responsibility is also a key component of the
company'’s sustainability work, and itsimportance
will only grow in the future. As a part of this, the
company supports those employees’ well-being

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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and re-employment who are subject to reductions
in connection with the change negotiations. The
company has also supported Ukraine by donating
blankets and supplies through aid organisations
as well as by giving the Ukrainians a 95 per cent
discount on a one-way ticket onroutes that were
important for those leaving the country due to

the wa.

People

Genuine collaboration, target-oriented leadership
and utilising new working methods such as lean
and agile are important tools when implementing
the strategy. These measures are emphasised in
Finnair's people plan. The number of employees
has decreased during the pandemic and a need
for further reductions has continued because of
the impacts of closed Russian airspace. Therefore,
new, more effective ways of working as well as
extensive and cross-organisational collaboration
are necessary.

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report
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Revenue Number of passengers Available seat kilometres (ASK) and Cash flow of investments and net cash flow Comparable operating result
revenue passenger kilometres (RPK) from operations and operating result
€ million thousand million % € million € million %
3,500 15,000 50000 500 600 300 45
259. 200 30
3000 40000 400 300 290
23566 12000 31,298 308.6% 100 "
2,500 9,096 ' i
' 30000 300 0 0 0
2000 9,000 21157 -62.5 100 15
20000 200 -300 200 30
1,500 6.000 158.8% ) 1639
1000 10000 100 -600 -300 “Eé -45
-400 -60
500 3000 0 0 -900
-500 -75
0 0 -100 -1,200 -600 -90
18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22

Interest-bearing liabilities and cash funds

B Available seat kilometres (ASK)
Return on capital employed (ROCE) B Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK)

= Available seat kilometres (ASK), % change

B Investment cash flow*
B Net cash flow from operations
*Including investments and divestments of fixed

B Comparable operating result*
B Operating result
Comparable operating result*, % of revenue

£ million % Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK), % change assets and group shares. Financial target: The target level of comparable
operating result percentage of revenue for the
3,000 15 strategy period is atleast 5% starting from mid-2024.
2.6291 *Comparable operating result excludingunrealised
2,500 10 changesinforeign currencies of fleet overhaul
provision, fair value changes of derivatives where
2,000 > hedge accountingis not applied, salesgainsand
0 -6.1 losses on aircraft and other fransactions, impairment
1500 on A330 aircraft, exceptional changesin defined
' 5 benefit pension plans and restructuring costs.
1,000
-10
500 15
0 -20

18 19 20 21 22

B Interest-bearing liabilities
B Cashfunds
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Non-financial performance in 2022

Finnair is committed to continuously and
systematically developing its operations in every
aspect of sustainability. The company aims to be
one of the most sustainable airlines in the world.
To achieve this, the company must perform visible
and effective acts of social and environmental
sustainability, as well as cooperate closely with its
partners and its entire supply chain.

The company’s most significant non-financial
measures are aimed at managing the impacts
of climate change and the local environmental
impacts (such as aircraft noise) and delivering
on the social responsibility of flying. In addition
to these major sustainability themes, Finnair’s
priorities in 2022 have been related to improving
the accessibility and material efficiency of its
services, ensuring the personnel’'s competencies
and well-being, and deepening the assessment
of double materiality. Leading and developing

a sustainable business requires a two-way
understanding of the company’s impact on the
environment and the environment’simpact on the
company.
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The biggest risks facing Finnair in this area are
related to the ongoing transition to a green
economy and the effects of the company’s
profitability strategy. In the European Union,

there will be legislative reforms in the near future
(namely the Fit for 55 package) which will increase
the airline's costs and may cause a competitive
advantage for operators outside the EU. Finnair
has had continuous and open discussions with
both legislators and other stakeholders about

the appropriate fiming and magnitude of the
changesin the legislation. In the next few years,
Finnair will be a smaller airline than it was before
the pandemic. The change to a smaller airline can
be reflected in the company’s desirability as an
employer, and therefore investments will be made
in the retention, availability and development of
competent and motivated personnel.

Finnair's ambitious goal of being a carbon-neutral
airline in 2045 requires common actions now.
Finnair follows closely and participates, whenever
possible, in the development of new technologies.
The company’s goalis to significantly increase
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the use of affordable sustainable aviation fuels
inits fleet in the 2020s. Supporting this goal, in

the beginning of year 2022, Finnair joined the
oneworld Alliance’s common goal of achieving

a 10 per cent level in SAF (Sustainable Aviation
Fuels) uptake by 2030. Finnair closely monitors the
development of both legacy and revolutionary
aircraft technologies and prepares for on-time
fleet investments. The company’s current estimate
is that revolutionary aircraft flying on green energy
(either hydrogen or electricity) may enter the wider
market after the mid-2030s.

In 2022, Finnair continued adaptations and
financing measures related to the two crises;
COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine war.
The negative impact of the pandemic in Asia traffic
continued throughout the year, and was intensified
by the closure of Russian airspace. Even though the
impacts of the pandemic on Finnair's operations
have partially eased, the consequences of the war
in Ukraine war hit the company’s route structure
hard, and thus the operative environment differs
significantly from the previous years for a third
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Our responsibility is to develop
sustainable travelling towards
carbon neutral flying.
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consecutive year. Therefore, it can be stated that
the year 2022 still shows unusual figures in both
financial and non-financial performance.

Direct and indirect taxes paid during 2022
remained relatively low due to reduced operations
and the negative result. Other performance-based
payments, such as environmental charges, also
remained low.

Human Rights, Bribery
and Anti-Corruption

Finnairis committed to complying with
infernational and national legislationinits
operations and the ethical business principles
laid out in its Code of Conduct and supports the
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) set by The
United Nations General Assembly.

The Code of Conduct applies to all Finnair
personnel and all locations. Further, Finnair’s
Supplier Code of Conduct provide clear principles
to ensure for example ethical purchasing and
zero-tolerance for corruption. The company
requires that its suppliers comply with ethical
standards that are essentially similar to those with
which Finnair complies with in its own operations.
Finnair is working to further integrate sustainability
and ethical business conduct into all business
processes. Finnair's Code of Conduct includes an
anti-corruption section; the receiving and giving of
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bribes is strictly prohibited. Preventing corruption

is everyone's responsibility at Finnair, including the
heads of business operations, compliance function
and the internal audit.

Finnair respects the UN Universal Declaration

on Human Rights and the core conventions of
the International Labour Organisation (ILO). The
company has signed the United Nation's Global
Compact initiative and as required by the Global
Compact'sten principles, the company aims to
prevent any violations of human rights and the
use of forced or child labour both within its own
operations and its supply chain.

Finnair's own operational activities are not
associated with significant direct human rights risks
orimpacts. However, there may be indirect risks
and consequences associated with the service,
supply chain and outsourced operations. The
company'’s versatile supply chain is built around

its route network. It includes suppliers and service
providers who are specializing in airlines and
subject to international aviation regulations, as well
as operators who ensure and enable the safety of
Finnair's core business.

Suspected human trafficking is a real concernin
aviation, and it is a topic that Finnair is increasingly
focusing on. Finnair has signed IATA's resolution
against modern slavery and human trafficking. The
company works closely with governments and the
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airports it operates from to ensure that all trafficking
incidents onits flights are reported and dealt with
appropriately. The crew has been given specific
instructions on the procedures to be followed in
cases where human trafficking is suspected. Finnair
has made IATAs human trafficking online training
package mandatory for all crew members and
ground agents. Finnair is committed to increasing its
personnel’'s awareness of thisissue.

Finnair has a Whistleblowing line called Finnair
Ethics Helpline in use, through which both our
employees and partners can report on concerns
related to ethical business principles. During 2022,
no material incident of material misconduct was
reported through the Finnair Ethics Helpline nor
were there any such investigations ongoing in the
company.

In 2022, Finnair supported Ukrainians by offering
them a 95 per cent discount on flights from Warsaw,
Krakow, Budapest and Prague to Helsinki.

Customers, employees,
and other stakeholders

Equality and non-discrimination are part of Finnair’s
basic principles, and the company is striving to
ensure accessibility for people with disabilities. The
company is constantly improving the customer
experience of its services and applying relevant
accessibility standards in practice.
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Finnair's overall customer satisfaction, measured
by the Net Promoter Score (NPS), increased slightly
compared to previous year and was 40 (38), while
the number of customersincreased, and the

war in Ukraine heavily impacted the operating
environment in 2022. This shows that customers
were satisfied with the service we provided, evenin
changing circumstances.

During 2022, Finnair introduced new award-
winning elevated long-haul experience and
invested in a digital customer experience. During
the first half of the year, customers started to travel
again, as most national Covid restrictions were
lifted. To meet the growing demand for customer
service, Finnairincreased the resourcing of its
customer service operations and ramped up
the overall ecosystem of the route network to
ensure the reliability and quality of the growing
operations.

The well-being of Finnair's employees and
customers is equally important to the company.
Finnair fakes good care of its employees by
investing in their health and safety, as well as by
providing learning and training opportunities
and promoting equality, non-discrimination, and
diversity. At Finnair, diversity is seen as a driver for
performance.

Finnairemployed an average of 5,336 (5,614)
peoplein 2022, which is 4.9 per cent less than
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in the previous year. The number of employees
decreased during 2022 by 95 or 1.8 per cent,
totalling 5,230 at the end of December (5,325).
During 2022, the staff turnover rate was 7.3 per cent
(6.8). The increase in staff turnover was still due to
continuous layoffs and the prolonged low level of
activity caused by the pandemic. During 2022, the
average number of people at work was 4,492.

Due to the impacts of the pandemic and the war
in Ukraine on employment, Finnair has especially
invested in social responsibility by supporting
employees who were either made redundant or
furloughed. The company has an ongoing NEXT
programme designed to individually support
those who lost their jobs in finding new work. The
programme consists of among other things, a
personal plan for moving forward in career, a
wide range of training, career coaching, services
supporting change management and well-being,
and support of the Employment and Economic
Development Office of Finland.

Full-time staff accounted for 87 per cent (91) of
Finnair employeesin 2022, and 97 per cent (99) of
staff were employed on a permanent basis. The
average age of employees was 43 years (42). Of
the personnel, 33 per cent (33) were over 50 years
of age, while 13 per cent (13) were under 30 years of
age. At the end of 2022, 56 per cent (57) of Finnair’s
employees were women and 44 per cent (43) were
men. Three (three) out of the eight members of
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Finnair's Board of Directors are women. Finnair
does not maintain statistics based on ethnicity.

LTIF (Lost Time Incident Frequency), which
measures the frequency of accidents at the
company level, increased when compared to
previous year being 6.8 (5.6). The number of
absences due toillness was higher than in the
comparison period and was 5.4 per cent (2.3). It was
still strongly affected by COVID-19 and the fact that
there were more employees at work than in 2021.

Finnair values good co-operation with labour
unions representing its various employee groups.
In 2022, the following collective agreements were
negotiated:

* An agreement between Palta and Transport
Workers' Union AKT representing Finnair's cabin
crew. The agreement is valid until the end of
January 2024.

* An agreement between Service Sector
Employers Palta Trade Union Pro concerning
technical aviation employees and aviation
employees. The agreement is valid until the end
of January 2025.

* An agreement between Finnair Plc and Finnairin
INsin®orit ja ylemmat FINTO ry concerning
Finnair Plc:s upper white-collar employees. The
agreement is valid until the end of February 2025.

Number of persons employed by Finnair at
year-end
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0
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In addition, the following previously negotiated
collective agreements are valid:

« An agreement between Palta and Finnish
Aviation Union IAU concerning blue collar
employees in Finnair's Helsinki Airport customer
and ground service, cargo and technical services
was negotiated in 2020. The agreement is valid
until 15 March 2023.

* An agreement between Palta and Workers’ Union
AKT concerning travel agencies (Suntours) was
negotiated in 2021 and will expire on 30 April 2023.

* Anagreement between Palta and Finnish Air Line
Pilots’ Association concerning Finnair PIc’s Finnish
pilots was negotiated in 2021 and it is valid until
the end of September 2024.

Supply chain

The sustainability of the supply chainis very
important in Finnair's operations, as Finnair
increasingly uses partners and service providers
to maintain and expand its international route
network. The supply chain directly related to flight
operations must operate according to international
aviation regulations, and these suppliers are
strictly monitored. For example, international
aviation safety regulations require that all airport
employees must be registered and must always
carry an official ID card with them. This creates a
secure basis for activities directly related to flight
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operations not being subject to a significant risk of
forced labor or children’s rights.

During 2022, Finnair sent a survey to all its

key suppliers, in which it mapped the level of

the suppliers’ environmental work. Based on

the analysis of the survey responses and the
company's own materiality assessment, Finnair
will prepare an action plan that aims to reduce the
environmentalimpact of Finnair's supply chain.

Environmental
Performance

The three major global environmental challenges;
climate change, biodiversity loss, and the
transition to a circular economy, are interlinked.
Addressing these challenges requires our common
attention and actions. Finnair has set its own
goals for all three of these challenges and urges
allits stakeholders to work together to achieve
these goals. Finnair aims to fly carbon-neutral in
2045, and already by the end of 2025 it intends

to halve its Scope 1and 2 CO, emission net
balance compared to the 2019 level. In addition,
the company shall enforce the circular economy
principals and pollution prevention hierarchy

inits operations by the end of 2025. Finnair has
zero tolerance for illegal wildlife trading andis a
United for Wildlife-certified airline. The company
only uses sustainable aviation fuels (SAF) that are
sustainably produced and certified.
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In 2022, Finnair continued its wide range of
emission reduction activities. At the beginning of
the year, Finnair started cooperation with a climate
company Chooose to offer a compensation
service where everyone can participatein
reducing global CO, emissions by supporting
renewable fuel and climate projects. During 2022,
approximately 10 per cent of our customers’
compensation money went to SAF and 90 per cent
to climate projects. In total, Finnair customersoffset
about 3,400 tons of carbon dioxide, which
corresponds to 0.15 per cent of the company’s total
flying emissions, or about 520 Helsinki—Oulu flights.
We are also grateful to our business customers who
participated in the air industry’s common long-
term goal of making flying carbon neutral. In 2022,
business travellers compensated for their travel

by buying 629 tons of renewable aviation fuel for
Finnair's planes. With this cooperation, 1,809 tons
of CO, emissions from flying were reduced. Finnair
also compensates for the business trip flights of its
own staff from 2022 with climate projects. In 2022,
the company offset 1,418 tons of its staff's emissions.

SAF shall be any airline’s most important measure
in achieving reasonable emission reductions at
this decade. This is the reason why Finnair together
with the oneworld Alliance has set a common

goal of achieving a 10 per cent level in SAF uptake
by 2030, well above the designed five per cent

EU mandate target. As concrete first big SAF

steps, Finnair signed long-term agreements with

Auditor’'s Report

J

Our customers offset about 520
Helsinki—Oulu flights in 2022,
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Aemetis and Gevo, renewable fuel companiesin
U.S. The refuelling will start from 2025 onwards in
California. Finnair has earlier partnered with Neste
in Finland to increase the use of SAF. The company
is currently working on with SAF and compensation
roadmaps which will be implemented during 2023.

While the biggest environmental impact of an
airline is its aircraft engine emissions another
easily observed impact is aircraft noise at the
areas surrounding airports. The noise produced by
aircraft is mainly engine noise and aerodynamic
noise. The level of engine noise is greater in take-
offs, while the level of aerodynamic noise grows
during approaches. Finnair has continuously,

in cooperation with air traffic control, improved
continuous descent approaches (CDA) at Helsinki-
Vantaa airport reaching all-time record of 86.3 per
centin 2022.

Climate Change

More than 92 per cent of Finnair's greenhouse gas
emissions relate to flight operations; burning jet fuel
(Scope 1) and its production and transportation
(Scope 3). For thisreason, the company’s measures
and reporting related to climate change are
focused on this function. In 2022, Finnair signed a
letter of intent for a commitment to cooperate with
the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) to bring
CO, emissions reduction targets in line with the UN
Paris Climate Agreement. SBTi-eligible emission
reduction measures will include investments in new
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technology aircraft, use of SAF and operational
efficiency improvements.

Finnair is also committed to reducing the climate
impact of its facilities and its ground operationsin
Helsinki-Vantaa, and from the beginning of 2023
these operations will be carbon neutral.

In 2022, Finnair's traffic measured in revenue tonne
kilometres (RTK) increased by 117 per cent (1.6)
compared to 2021, and thus direct carbon dioxide
emissions from flying (CO») also increased by 116
per cent (-0.4) to 2,478,674 tons (1146,903).

During 2022, effective and successful work to
improve fuel efficiency continued. The fuel
efficiency of flying was 294 g/RTK (296) (without
allocation between passengers and cargo), i.e.

fuel efficiency improved by 0.5 per cent (2.0) in
2022. Carbon dioxide emissions of flying have

also been calculated by allocating them between
passengers and cargo in accordance with IATA
recommendations (see the sustainability appendix
for more details). Calculated in this way, CO,
emission efficiencies in 2022 were 85 g CO»/RPK
(89) and 854 g CO,/RTKcargo (890). Allocated
emission efficiencies improved by 4.1 per cent
(-23.2). The improvement in fuel efficiency was
mainly due to the increase in aircraft load factors
from 42.8 per cent to 67.6 per cent, on the other
hand, flying efficiency was weakened by the longer
routes between Helsinki and Asia. The company
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has a cross-organizational working group
focused on fuel efficiency, which with its actions
implemented during 2022 saved approximately
5,000 tons of fuel and thus reduced carbon
dioxide emissions by approximately 15,750 tons.
The actions included optimizing flight planning
and flight operations and reducing the weight of
the aircraft. The working group has been active at
Finnair for several years already, and the above-
mentioned figures do not take info account the
group’'s achievements in previous years.

The energy consumption of the Finnair facilities
increased by 0.5 per centin 2022 (12.2). Inyear 2022,
the total electricity consumption of the facilities
was 22,266 MWh (21,130) and heat consumption
23,316 MWh (24,238). Total energy efficiency was

211 kWh/m?3(21.0), including both electricity and
heat consumptions. The increase in electricity
consumption was due to increased operational
activity, and the decrease in heating energy may
be explained by a warmer winter and energy
saving measures taken. CO, emissions from energy
consumptionin buildings decreased by 1.2 per cent
(+8.9) to a total of 5,441 (5,507).

Circular Economy

Finnair develops its products and services
constantly to be more sustainable. Finnair’s
objective is to infroduce circular economy
principles in all its operations by the end of year
2025. This will help the company to make more
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efficient use of materials and reduce consumption. figures of 2018, the reduced total amount is ecosystem services, or benefits provided to people
The plan covers the following measures: Prevention well over half, and the amount of plastic waste by nature, that are most relevant to its business, and
of waste generation, reuse of materials as widely generated per customer is now half less. its operations most significant impacts on them. Of
as possible, utilization of the recycling potential of the different categories of the ecosystem services,
waste materials, utilization of waste in other ways Finnair has also set itself the goal of reducing food cultural services and regulating services are the
(e.g. as energy) and, finally, safe disposal of the waste that is generated when preparing customer most relevant to Finnair's business. Cultural services
remaining waste. meals. In 2019, Finnair set a goal to reduce food include tourism, human value and aesthetic value.
waste in the preparation of dishes by 30 per cent Regulating services include the regulation of air
The total amount of waste produced by Finnairin by the end of 2022. The amount of food waste per quality and climate, disease control, and pest
Finland increased by 101.2 per cent (-40.4), or about passenger was returned 1o the pre-corona level, control.
925 tons (618), with the total masss for the year being and in terms of kilograms, food and beverage
1,839 tons (914). The increase in the amount of waste waste was 29 per cent lessin 2022 than at the Finnair's core business and key product areas
is directly connected to the increased growth in the starting level in 2019. The company’s priority is to benefit ecosystem services in various ways.
number of customers. The largest waste stream utilise food waste as well as possible, and edible Cultural services are particularly important
has been mixed waste from the in-flight service, surplus food is primarily donated to charity. for travel services. Accordingly, Finnair’s travel
containing food waste, i.e. international food waste. agency, Aurinkomatkat, has participated in various
Food and beverage waste from international Finnair's technical services have set themselves local projects to maintain biodiversity at various
flights has to be incinerated, while other ordinary the goal of turning aircraft maintenance services destinations for several years. When planning its
food waste is composted. In 2022, approximately info a paperless operation by the end of 2023. destination programmes, Aurinkomatkat carefully
74 per cent of the waste was utilized as energy and Achieving this goal will reduce paper consumption evaluates their potential effects on the environment
A approximately 26 per cent of the waste material from approximately 2.7 million A4, i.e. 5400 reams. and biodiversity. For example, it has stopped all
was either reused, recycled or composted. No In ferms of mass, this means approximately 14,000 trips to zoos and other attractions where animals
waste ended up in alandfill. kilograms less paper per year. are held captive. The operations aim also to avoid
I excursions 1o sites where visits could pose a threat
Finnair achieved its goals of halving the single-use Biodiversity to biodiversity. The customers are informed at
y plastic products it uses and recycling 50 per cent Finnair fakes environmental aspects into destinations on appropriate conduct to preserve
'\ ' of all used plastic. Four years of systematic work consideration on the ground and in the air biodiversity.
in a challenging, constantly changing operating operations. Besides energy solutions that reduce
9 \ environment was completed in the summer of the environmental load, Finnair's environmental In the airline business, Finnair has supported both
| 2022.1n 2018, when the goal was set, Finnair’s policy also includes the preservation and cultural and regulating services by prohibiting the
operations generated 466 tons of plastic waste. promotion of natural diversity, known as transportation of hunting trophies or memorabilia
Now the amount is 150 tons. Compared to the biodiversity thinking. Finnair has assessed the originating from endangered species or their
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partsinits cargo network. Also, primates and
canines intended for laboratory, experimental
or other exploitation use will never be accepted
for transport. Furthermore, Finnair has signed
the United for Wildlife (UFW) Buckingham
Palace declaration of the Duke of Cambridge to
prevent the illegal wildlife frade. As a signatory,
the company has undertaken to promote the
awareness of different stakeholders about this
topic.

The significance of biodiversity in Finnair’s

airline business will be highlighted furtherin the
coming years through climate change mitigation
measures. When Sustainable Aviation Fuels (SAFs)
replace fossil fuels in the future, the company wants
to ensure that the primary production of feedstocks
for renewable energy sourcesis used in line with the
principles of sustainable development and does
not compromise ecosystem services. For example,
in the manufacturing of biofuel, measures must be
taken not directing to Indirect Land Use Change
(ILUC). The objective is to ensure that arable land
used for growing food crops is not used to produce
raw material for biofuel, which would result in either
the clearing of forests or wetlands to create space
for food production or a decline in food production.
Regulating services have a significantimpact on
both the airline business and travel services. The
local decline of biodiversity erodes the operating
conditions of the tourism industry and increases
the risk of infectious diseases.
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EU Taxonomy

Background

As a part of its Action Plan for Sustainable Finance,
the European Union is working on a classification
system for determining environmentally
sustainable economic activities, also known as the
EU Taxonomy. The Taxonomy regulationincludes
the sectors assessed to have the largest climate
change mitigation and adaptation potential.

The EU Taxonomy Regulation establishes six
environmental objectives: Climate change
mitigation, climate change adaptation, the
sustainable use and protection of water and
marine resources, the transition to a circular
economy, pollution prevention and control, and
the protection and restoration of biodiversity and
ecosystems. The first delegated act on sustainable
activities for climate change adaptation and
mitigation came into force on 1 January 2022.

The second delegated act for the remaining four
environmental objectives will be published in 2023.

Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy regulation brought
an obligation for a Public Interest Entity under the
Non-Financial Reporting Directive, such as Finnair,
to report onits Taxonomy eligibility starting from
1January 2022 for the first two environmental
objectives. Allin-scope Entities did have to report
the proportion of their 2021 economic activities
that are considered Taxonomy-eligible in their
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revenue, capital expenditure (CAPEX) and
operating expenditure (OPEX). For the reporting
year of 2022, Entities are also required to assess the
Taxonomy-alignment of their economic activities
regarding the first two objectives; the climate
change mitigation and adaption.

Finnair’'s approach on EU Taxonomy

Finnair's core businesses, i.e. commercial aviation
(including ancillary sales), air freight or travel
services, are not covered by the Taxonomy’s list of
economic activities yet. Thus, detailed technical
criteria for e.g. passenger air transportation (NACE
H51.1 and N77.35) have not yet been specified.
However, Finnair estimates that transition fo new,
low-emission aircraft and sustainable aviation
fuels (SAF) are likely to be considered Taxonomy-
eligible activities.

Finnair has also assessed the Taxonomy-eligibility
of its other economic activities by comparing their
NACE coding against economic activities included
inthe EU Taxonomy and related criteria. The most
significant identified economic activity listed in

the Taxonomy is freight transport services by road
(activity number 6.6) supplied by Finnair Cargo.
However, as these services have been outsourced
to athird party, they are not deemed as Taxonomy-
eligible. As a result, almost all of Finnair's operations
in the financial year 2022 were not deemed as
Taxonomy-eligible economic activities.

Auditor’'s Report

Taxonomy-eligible and Taxonomy-aligned
proportions of Finnair's revenue are O per cent due
to the aforementioned reasons.

Taxonomy-eligible and Taxonomy-aligned
proportions of Finnair's CAPEX rounded downto O
per cent despite an installation of energy efficient
LED lights (activity number 7.3) totalling c. 1 million
euros, which was also deemed as Taxonomy-
aligned CAPEX as it substantially contributed to
climate change mitigation and it did no significant
harm to other environmental objectives. CAPEX
deemed only as Taxonomy-eligible related to
acquisition and ownership of buildings (activity
number 7.7) and their refurbishment investments
totalling less than half a million euros. Majority

of Finnair's CAPEX related toits fleet and was,
therefore, non-eligible.

Taxonomy-eligible proportion of Finnair's
taxonomy-based OPEX rounded up to 5 per cent.
This OPEX totalling c. 7 million euros consisted of
maintenance and short-term lease costs related
to acquisition and ownership of buildings (activity
number 7.7). Clear maijority of non-eligible OPEX
related to maintenance of Finnair fleet. In 2022, 0
per cent of taxonomy-based OPEX was deemed
as Taxonomy-aligned. More detailed figures can
be found in the tables on the following pages.

COVID-19 has had an unprecedented financial
impact on Finnair both in 2020 and 2021 followed
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by the war in Ukraine in 2022 resulting in the closure
of Russian airspace. Due to tfravel restrictions

and lack of customer demand, Finnair’s revenue
plummetedin 2020 and was very close to it in

2021. Therefore, the company has been forced to
drastically cut allits expenses and investments,
including those supporting sustainable
development, to minimise the losses caused

by the limited operations as well as to secure a
healthy cash position. Due to the negative impacts
of COVID-19 and the closed Russian airspace,
year 2022 was not fully comparable with the
pre-pandemic years either.

Finnair has heavily modernised its wide-body fleet
inrecent years. In 2015-2017, seven A340 aircraft
were retired from revenue service at Finnair and
since 2015, Finnair has introduced 17 modern,
lower emission A350 wide-body aircraft to its

fleet. Of the disposed A340 aircraft, one was sold
for recycling, two were returned to lessors at the
end of their leases, and four were sold to Airbus in
conjunction with the confirmation of the exercise of
Finnair's option to purchase eight additional A350
aircraft. This renewal of the wide-body fleet is the
largest single investment in the company’s history.
It is not yet defined how, or whether, this forward-
thinking investment made before the Taxonomy
implementation can be reported within the
Taxonomy.
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Finnair aims to increase the use of sustainable
aviation fuels (SAF) together with the oneworld
alliance and other stakeholders. The oneworld
Alliance has set a common goal of achieving

a 10 per cent level in SAF uptake by 2030, well
above the designed five per cent EU mandate
target. Achieving this goal will require a joint
effort with both legislators and various industrial
sectors. The introduction of SAF is also strongly
linked to the protection of biodiversity, i.e., the
sixth environmental objective, so that the rapidly
growing global demand does not lead to e.g.,
increased land use and, thus, harm biodiversity.
SAF volumes used by Finnairin 2022 did not meet
the minimum level of 5 per cent potentially to be set
by the Taxonomy.

Regarding Travel Services, the Taxonomy focuses
on the conservation and protection of nature’s
biodiversity. The technical criteria have been
created for accommodation services, and the
need to develop criteria for the leisure activities
management is still pending. Nature and its
diversity are a significant attraction in the business
of Aurinkomatkat. When planning destination
programmes, Aurinkomatkat carefully assesses
their potential impacts on environment and
biodiversity. The aimis to avoid, for example,
organising visits in places where this might pose a
threat or harm to biodiversity.

Board of Directors’
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Taxonomy-
aligned share
Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria of turnover
c S 2 o > % £ = S 2w > %; £ o >
. ‘el - O - A [e) = [} . c = O o = Q . c » O e <
Economic activities 0 59 8a>) pos 205 D¢ Qg S $ B | LUE LOT D¢y 9% S S 58 S
0 00 90 | 8Bcnm 8cao 0E&E3 B¢ 5 = | 828 8o £33 S8 = 2 >| ED o
8 B3t 32t Eg= Esg Ty £ 5 32g Es= Eod Tsg £8 0§ 899 E£g o
O <2 w2 OGE Oco =S€E¢ 00 . mool  OGE OGo =S£E¢ Oo o @oo| =3 | 2022 | 2021 O
MEUR % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % % E/T
TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Taxonomy-aligned activities
Turnover of Taxonomy-aligned activities 0] 0 0] 0]
Taxonomy-non-aligned activities
Turnover of Taxonomy-non-aligned activities 0 0 o) o)
Total Taxonomy-eligible activities 0] 0] 0] 0]
TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Turnover of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities 2,357 100
Total Taxonomy-eligible and non-eligible turnover 2,357 100
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Taxonomy-
aligned share
Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria of CapEXx
o . s §%2g » . %E . s §2Te » _ F7E E >
Economic activities @ 5 o o, | o 005 T4y0 FE S O % | Lo 005 O4u0 FE S ¢ %| 33 O
¢ oW gu 825 8L S£3 32 05 S gz 928 9€8 8£3 3205 S 7| ED 8
% B8 9& | E£g= Esy ssg £23 5 82g| ES:= ESy 3Ty 828 05 829 ES G
O <O w0 | OGE Oco =€¢ 00 . mool  OGE OGo =S£E¢ Oo o @oo| =3 | 2022 | 2021 O
MEUR % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % % E/T
TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Taxonomy-aligned activities
Installation of energy efficient equipment 1.3 1 0] 100 0] 0] 0] 0] 0] Y N/A N/A Y N/A Y 0] 0] E
CapEx of Taxonomy-aligned activities 1 0] 100 0 0 0 0 0 Y N/A N/A Y N/A Y 0 0 E
Taxonomy-non-aligned activities
Acquisition and ownership of buildings 1.7 0 0
CapEx of Taxonomy-non-aligned activities 0] 0] 0] 0]
Total Taxonomy-eligible activities 1 1 0] 0]
TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
CapEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities 199 99
Total Taxonomy-eligible and non-eligible CapEx 200 100
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Taxonomy-
aligned share
Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria of OpEXx
o . s &2y > _ TE s ST > _ 7k 8 >
Economic activities 0 5 O Los 0og D4u0 FE o ¢ % QLoE Qo5 D4h0 FE o ¢ % 58 O
5 3x Ox | 829 B35 FEs S8 € 2 > ©28 ©23 £33 S8 5 =_g5| £ED o
8 88 92 Egs Eo3 ©5g £8 5 899 Egs £Eo8 Tsg £33 828 £ 3
O <O wO | OGE ©OGo =€¢ 00 . mool  OGE OGo =S£E¢ Oo o @oo| =3 | 2022 | 2021 O
MEUR % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % % E/T
TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Taxonomy-aligned activities
OpEx of Taxonomy-aligned activities 0] 0] 0] 0]
Taxonomy-non-aligned activities
Acquisition and ownership of buildings 77 7 5
OpEx of Taxonomy-non-aligned activities / 5 5 0]
Total Taxonomy-eligible activities / 5 5 0]
TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
OpEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities 148 95
Total Taxonomy-eligible and non-eligible OpEx 155 100
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Performance
Topic Targets and KPls 2022 2021 Key actions during the reporting period
Environmental responsibility  Halving net CO, emissions by the end of 2025, compared to -12] -58.7 Due to the COVID-19 and Ukrainian war 2022 figures are showing unusual
2019 figures (%, Scope 1) performance when comparing to 2019, since passenger demand was minor
Carbon free flying by the end of 2045 (gCO,/RTK) Gross 926 931 and unnecessary flying was minimised.
Net 913 931
Improving the fuel efficiency of flying by 1% annually. 41% 0.0% Operative methods to reduce weight of the flight continued (E.g. rationalise
Company’s internal Fuel Efficiency Index (FEl) is used here reduction fuelling, on-board printed material was reduced, potable water intake was
as a basis for the KPl where e.g. wind and payload impacts optimised). The operative flying procedures were further improved (E.g. pilots’
are normalised. situational awareness of network was improved, this reduces unnecessary
high Cost Index flying. Continuous Decent Approaches at Helsinki-Vantaa
were further increased). Fleet utilisation was improved (Aircraft type allocation
corresponding to the passenger and Cargo amounts)
Reducing single used plastics in Kitchen operations by 50% -51.0 -40.0 The targets were achieved by removing packaging around certain products
by the end of 2022 and replacing plastic in others. Biggest three plastic reduction actions include
o e I : replacement of economy cutlery, starter salad and hot meal casserole with
JIrQheecgﬁlg 3192/6 % plastics in Kitchen operations for reuse by 495 370 renewable materials such as cardboard and wood.
Reducing food waste from Kitchen operations by 30% by -29.0 New The previous target of halving food waste was extended with an additional
the end of year 2022 30% reduction target. Constant monitoring and careful product selection have
enabled waste reduction. 33% of food & beverage waste was donated to
NGOs.
Social responsibility Arrival punctuality at least 85% 79.0 82.3 Despite the savings measures in 2022, many improvement measures and
process development were carried out to improve arrival punctuality.
Forexample, the baggage process, winter operations, Lapland traffic
coordination and defect management were improved.
Customer satisfaction, NPS increase on the previous year, 40 38 Finnair introduced a new cabin offering a more comfortable long-haul
long-term target level 60 experience and invested in a digital customer experience. Finnairincreased
the resourcing of its customer care operations and ramped up the overall
ecosystem of the route network to ensure the reliability and quality of the
growing operations.
Employee satisfaction, eNPS increase on the previous year -17 -31 Sickness rates were stillimpacted heavily by the pandemic. Also, the amount of
Absences due to illness increased from the previous year 54 2.3 employees on duty was higher thanin 2021
LTIF (Lost-time injury frequency) of less than 14.8 6.8 56
Ethical Business conduct Code of Conduct awareness grade in 39 3.8 Continuous training of employees, Renewal of Finnair Ethics helpline

WeTogether@Finnair survey at least 4 on scale 1-5

*Net emissions in 2021 were exceptionally low due to reduced number of flights during the COVID-19 pandemic.
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34



Review of the year 2022 e Repor"r LU Financial Statements
Board of Directors

Changes in company

management

Tomi Pienimdaki, Finnair's Chief Digital Officer and
amember of Finnair's Executive Board, left Finnair
at the end of January 2022. Finnair announced on 2
March 2022 that Antti Kleemola (M.Sc. Business) has
been appointed as Chief Information Officer and
member of the Finnair Executive Board as of 1 June
2022. Most recently, he has worked as the CIO of
Outokumpu and has also held leadership positions
in digital and IT services among others in VR Group,
Vapo Group and Posti Group.

Finnair announced on 24 August 2022 that Kristian
Pullola (M.Sc. Economics) has been appointed as
Chief Financial Officer and member of the Finnair
Executive Board as of 1 October 2022. Pullola
started at Finnair as an executive advisor already
as of 1 September 2022. Pullola has previously
worked for a long period as Chief Financial Officer
of Nokia, and prior to that, he held other senior

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

leadership positions in accounting, finance and
investor relations at Nokia. Pullola is aboard
member at Kemira Plc and Terveystalo Plc, and
chairman of the board at Antilooppi Management,
Eduhouse and FinanceKey. Finnair's previous CFO
Mika Stirkkinen acted as an executive advisor as of
1 October 2022 and left Finnair on 31 October 2022.

Finnair announced on 8 September that Christine
Rovelli, MBA, has been appointed as Senior Vice
President, Strategy and Fleet, and member of the
Executive Board at Finnair as of 1 October 2022.
Rovellijoined Finnairin 2012, and most recently
worked as Senior Vice President, Finance and
Fleet management. Nicklas llebrand, the previous
SVP Strategy, worked as an executive advisor as
of 1 October 2022 and left Finnair on 31 December
2022.

Board of Directors'’

Proposal on the Dividend Auditor’s Report

35



Review of the year 2022

Shares and shareholders

Shares and share capital

On 31 December 2022, the number of Finnair
shares entered in the Trade Register was
1,407401,265 and the registered share capital was
75,442,904.30 euros. The company’s shares are
quoted on Nasdaq Helsinki. Each share has one
vote at the General Meeting.

Share price development
and trading

Finnair's market capitalisation was 546.4 million
euros at the end of December (837.7) and the
closing price of the share was 0.39 euros (0.60).
During 2022, the highest price for the Finnair Plc
share on the Nasdaq Helsinki was 0.68 euros, the
lowest price 0.34 euros and the average price 0.49
euros. Some 619.2 million company shares, with a
total value of 302.7 million euros, were traded on
the Nasdaqg Helsinki exchange.

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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Shareholders

The number of Finnair shareholder increased

by 2.2 per centin 2022 to 118,675 shareholders
(excluding nominee registered shareholders). The
number of domestic retail shareholders increased
from 113,926 1o 116,549, whereas their combined
share of ownership increased by 2.1 per cent.
Nominee registered or foreign investors held 7.6 per
cent (4.8) of all shares.

Flagging notifications
No flagging notices were issued in 2022.

Government ownership

At the end of 2022, the Finnish Government
owned 55.9 per cent of Finnair's shares and votes.
According to the decision made by the Finnish
Parliament on 20 June 1994, the Government
must own more than half of Finnair PIc’s shares.
Decreasing the ownership below this level would
require revision of the Parliament’s decision.

Proposal on the Dividend

Board of Directors’

Share ownership by management
On 31 December 2022, members of the company’s

Board of Directors did not own any Finnair
shares, while the CEO Topi Manner owned 738,271

Auditor’'s Report

shares and the members of the Executive Board,
including the CEQ, owned a total of 1,311,962 shares,
representing 0.09 per cent of all shares and votes.

Finnair plc largest shareholders Number of Changes
as at 31 December 2022 shares % 2022
1 State of Finland, Prime Minister's Office 786,669,686 559% 0
2 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 30,881,263 2.2% -19,200,000
3 limarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 14,850,000 11% -15150,000
4  The State Pension Fund 11,000,000 0.8% 0]
5  EloMutual Pension Insurance Company 8,355,000 0.6% -5,653,115
6  Madakitalo Allan Risto Pekka 1,695,548 01% 500,000
7 OP Life Assurance Company Ltd 1,544 214 0.1% -487084
8  FinnairPension Fund 1,505,262 01% 0]
9  University of Lapland 1,098,167 0.1% 0]
10 LehtonenTimo Petri 1,085,000 01% 485,000

Nominee registered 105,676,261 1.5% 40,298,168

Others 443 040,864 31.5% 82,008,835

Total 1,407401,265 100% 82,801,804
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Own shares Finnair's share-based incentive scheme 2019-2021  Change of control Share-based incentive

in March. o o o o
On 31 December 2021, Finnair held a total of prOVI5|ons In mqterlql SChemeS
1,421133 own shares, representing 0.10 per cent of On 31 December 2022, Finnair held a total of (Jg reemenfs Employee share savings plan FlyShare
the total number of shares and votes. 399,303 own shares, representing 0.03 per cent of

the total number of shares and votes. Some of Finnair's financing agreements include a In September 2022, Finnair's Board of Directors
In February, Finnair tfransferred, using the change of control clause under which the financier decided that the voluntary Finnair employee
authorisation granted by the AGM 2021, a total Sh a rehOIder qg reem en-l-s shall be entitled to request prepayment of the share savings plan, FlyShare, is discontinued and,
of 902,093 own shares as incentives to the existing loan or to cancel the availability of aloan thus, new savings period will not be initiated. The
participants of the FlyShare employee share Finnair is not aware of any shareholder facility in the event that a person other than the decision to discontinue FlyShare is part of Finnair’s
savings plan. It also transferred 119,737 own shares agreements pertaining to share ownership or the Finnish state acquires control of Finnair either savings target. It has no impact on the ongoing
as areward to the key personnelincludedin use of voting rights. through a maijority of the voting rights or otherwise. FlyShare plans that were initiated in 2020 and 2021.
Finnair share 2018—-2022* Comparison Nasdaq Helsinki Comparison European Airlines Key Figures — Share

=R 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
25 150 150 Equity/share FUR 029 034 064 139 133
125 125 Dividend for the EUR mill. 0] 0] 0] 0 35
20 financial year*
100 100 Dividend/share* EUR 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.05
1.5 Dividend/earnings* % 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 394
75 75 Dividend yield* % 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 39
1.0 Cash flow from EUR 0.18 -0.02 -0.99 0.82 0.73
50 50 operating activities/
share
0> 25 25 P/E ratio 108 74 447 1212 1018
0 0 0 ;\%fr)?% g;'\gcé%/y J/O/CI )éeec;iquZOZZ is a proposal of the Board of Directors fo the
18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22 g
B Average price M Finnair M Finnair
* Arights offering was implemented between B Nasdaqg Helsinki M Bloomberg Europe Airline Index

June and July 2020 and, therefore, Finnair's share
prices have beenrestated accordingly.
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The share savings plan is described in more detail
on the company’s website.

Share-based incentive plan for key
personnel

After the periodin January 2023, the Board of
Directors of FInnair approved new individual
performance share plan periods covering the
years 2023—2024 and 2023—-2025. Within the plan,
the participants have the opportunity to earn
Finnair shares as along-term incentive reward,

if the performance targets set by the Board of
Directors for the plan are achieved. The potential
share rewards will be delivered to the participants
in the spring of 2025 regarding the first period and
in the spring of 2026 regarding the second period.
The plan applies to some 70 persons, and it is

described in a stock exchange release issued on 23

January 2023 and on the company’s website.

The Report of the
Board of Directors

Financial Statements

Effective authorisations

granted by the Annuadl
General Meeting 2022

Finnair's Annual General Meeting was held
in Vantaa on 7 April 2022 under special

arrangements due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The AGM authorised the Board of Directors to

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

the company, and the authorisation regarding
the issuance of shares shall not exceed 8,000,000
shares, which corresponds to approximately 0.6
per cent of all the shares in the company. The
authorisations are effective for a period of 18
months from the resolution of the AGM.

Auditor’'s Report

decide on the repurchase of the company’s
own shares and/or on the acceptance as
pledge and on the issuance of shares (concerns
both the issuance of new shares as well as the
transfer of tfreasury shares). The authorisation
regarding the repurchase of own shares and/
or on the acceptance as pledge shall not
exceed 50,000,000 shares, which corresponds
to approximately 3.6 per cent of all the sharesin

J

The AGM also authorised the Board of Directors

to decide on donations up to an aggregate
maximum of 250,000 euros for charitable or
corresponding purposes. The authorisationis

effective until the next Annual General Meeting.

The resolutions of the AGM are available in full on

Shareholders by type Number of Number of
at 31 December 2022 shares % shareholders %
Public bodies 852,857,673 60.6 8 0.0
Households 399807055 284 116,549 98.2
Private companies 37484 501 2.7 1,732 1.5
Financial institutions 8,089,646 0.6 31 0.0
Associations 1,664,240 01 62 01
Finnish shareholders, total 1,299903,115 924 118,382 997
Registered in the name of anominee 105,676,261 7.5 9 0.0
Outside Finland 1,821,889 01 293 0.2
Nominee registered and foreign 107,498,150 76 302 0.3
shareholders, total
Total 1,407,401,265 100.0 118,684 100.0

the company’s website.
Acquisition and delivery of own
shares and returns of shares Number of shares Acquisitionvalue, EUR  Average price, EUR
1January 2018 433,367 2,312,768.53 534
2018 452,000 3,206,965.70 710
2018 -236,359 -1,264,765.58 5.35
2019 164,651 1,042,35590 6.33
2019 -261,346 -1,501,496.17 575
2020 -381,653 -2,701,783.40 708
2021 1,800,000 1144,440.00 0.64
2021 -549 527 -1,350,674.25 246
2022 -1,021,830 -649,074.54 0.64
31 December 2022 399,303 238,736.19 0.60
Breakdown of shares Number of Number of
at 31 December 2022 shares %  shareholders %
1-500 8,873,605 0.6 49,371 41.6
501-1,000 13997422 1.0 17624 14.8
1,001-10,000 147107217 10.5 43193 364
10,001-100,000 198,154,124 141 8,126 6.8
100,001-1,000,000 71,859116 51 348 0.3
1,000,001-10,000,000 18,332,571 1.3 9 0.0
10,000,001-100,000,000 56,731,263 40 3 0.0
100,000,001- 786,669,686 559 1 0.0
Registered in the name of 105,676,261 75 9 0.0
nominee
Total 1,407,401,265 100.0 118,684 100.0
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Risk management

Ri sk ma nqgemen‘l' corporate-wide portfolio view of risks. The risk Ri Sk ma nqgemenf policy Risk identification and evaluation include the
o o management principles are summarised as following phases:
framework and principles | and process
follows:
Finnair operates in a global and highly competitive The framework and principles for risk management * |dentification of external and internal events
environment that is sensitive to economic * Risk management extends beyond internal have been defined in the Finnair Internal Control affecting the achievement of objectives;
fluctuations. In executing its strategy, Finnair and its control to strategy-setting, governance, and and Risk Management Policy, which has been o , o
, . , , o  Distinction between risks and opportunities;
operations are exposed to a broad range of risks measuring performance; approved by the Board of Directors. The policy is
and opportunities. , , supplemented by other policies for managing risks * Analysis of identified risks;
* Risks are managed as an integrated part of , o , o
, , , in specific areas. Examples of other risk policies are , _ ,
, , , , strategic and operational planning, day-to-day , , _ * Integration (aggregation) of risks;
Risk management is an integral part of effective . _ _ Treasury Policy, Procurement Policy, Information
_ , o decision making, and operational processes; , , , , - , o ,
management practice to ensure that Finnair is Security Policy, Data Privacy Policy, Competition » Evaluation and prioritisation of risks based
successful in achieving its business objectives. * Three Lines of Defence modelis applied as the Policy, and Trade Sanction Policy. on theirimpact and likelihood.
Uncertainty (opportunity or threat) is an inevitable primary governance principle to ensure that the
element in all decision-making, and thus an integrall segregation of duties is defined and established The Finnair Risk Management Framework and
component of running the business. between risk management and risk control; principles are based on the internationally
. _ o recognised best practices for risk management
, A * The performance and efficiency of Finnair’s risk , . ,
Finnair's Risk Management Framework has , (COSO Enterprise Risk Management — Integrating
, , management and internal control systems are ,
been defined and established to ensure the , , o with Strategy and Performance, and ISO
, o _ subject to systematic monitoring.
identification, evaluation and management of 31000:2009 standard).

risks and uncertainties associated with the set
objectives. The framework is designed to take a
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Risk governance

1st Line of Defence

Business units and shared functions are responsible
for setting the objectives and managing
day-to-day performance. As risk owners, the
business units and shared functions identify and
evaluate risks and make risk-informed decisions.
They manage risks by defining and implementing
controls. Thus, they are responsible for conducting
day-to-day control and risk management activities
in accordance with Finnair's Risk Management and
Internal Control Frameworks.

As a part of the first line of defence, Finnair's CEO
and the Finnair Executive Board have the overall
accountability for appropriate risk management
practices.

2nd Line of Defence

Risk & Compliance provides expertise in risk
assessment and risk management, and actsas a
control function that is responsible for developing
and maintaining the Risk Management Framework
and Internal Control Framework as well as for
continuously monitoring the implementation of

the policies, rules, procedures and key controls
within the frameworks. Risk & Compliance has a
reporting line to the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors.

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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Outside the scope of the Risk & Compliance
functionis Finnair's statutory Safety Management
System, which is required by Finnair’s Air Operator’s
Certificate and applicable Aviation Regulation

and is subject to specific responsibility matrix

and supervision prescribed by the supervisory
authorities. Safety & Compliance acts as a control
function with respect to the Safety Management
System.

3rd Line of Defence

Internal Audit performs audits and provides the
Audit Committee with an independent assessment
of the overall effectiveness and maturity of the
internal control and risk management systems.

Board of Directors’

Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

Risk management process

Inform and
communicate

Control Environment

il

¢ > Establish context and set objectives

Identify risks and opportunities

Analyse risks

Integrate risks

Evaluaterisks

— Controlrisks

—

Monitor and
continuously
improve
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Significant risks and uncertainties

In the implementation of its strategy and business,
Finnair is faced with various risks and opportunities.
Finnair has a comprehensive risk management
process to ensure that risks are identified and
mitigated as much as possible, although many risks
are not within the company’s full control. The risks
and uncertainties described below are considered
as potentially having a significant impact on
Finnair's business, financial result and future
outlook. This list is not infended to be exhaustive.

Factors such as geopolitical uncertainty, the

threat of frade wars, the threat of terrorism and
cyber-attacks as well as other potential external
disruptions may, if they materialise, significantly
affect Finnair's operations. Geopolitical tensions
may have an adverse effect on the global
economic environment, and on Finnair's network
and profitability. The war in Ukraine has already
dramatically impacted the global trade in the form
of sanctions and countersanctions, and as regards

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

to civil aviation, closures of the airspace. For
Finnair's Asian traffic, the duration of the closure
of the Russian airspace as well as a potential
escalation of the war are key risk factors. Further
routes between Europe and Asia may become
impossible to operate and / or commercially
unviable. The impact of a prolonged closure of the
Russian airspace and the potential escalation of
the war on Finnair's business, financial result and
future outlook depends on the company’s ability
to adapt its network, costs, revenue sources and
financing in a new business environment.

Macroeconomic factors continue to be a key
driver of air transportation demand, as there
has historically been a strong correlation
between air fravel and the development of
macroeconomic factors such as GDP. Due to
this correlation, aviationis an industry whichis
highly sensitive to global economic cycles and
reacts quickly to external disruptions, seasonal

variations and economic trends, as the global
COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine have
demonstrated.

The effect of the COVID-19 pandemicin the
markets in which Finnair operates has adversely
affected the demand for Finnair's services. Even
though the existing travel restrictions are very
limited as China opened for travel, the uncertainty
concerning the travel restrictions, especially in
Asiq, poses a risk to demand for air travel, and
conseqguently to Finnair's revenue development.
The COVID-19 pandemic may also have long-
term negative effects on air travel demand due
to potential changes in travellers' perception

of the air travel experience and the perceived
uncertainty relating to the current pandemic

or other similar health threats in the future. The
recovery of business travel to pre-COVID-19 levels
is likely to be affected by the adoption of virtual
and teleconferencing tools.

Factors beyond Finnair's control are related to the
duration of the Russian airspace closure, COVID-19
pandemic and retightening of related travel
restrictions, resource challengesin the European
aviation system caused by the pandemic as

well as the recovery of demand for air travel. In
addition, other general risk factors in the industry
and business, such as the fluctuation of jet fuel
prices and its weakened supply, fluctuationin
demand for air fravel in general, and fluctuations
in currency exchange rates, as well as regulatory
and tax changes are also beyond Finnair's control.
Other general macroeconomic conditions, such as
deterioration in business or consumer confidence,
changing customer preferences or employment
levels, lower availability of credit, rising interest
rates, rise in prevailing high inflation, recession, or
changes in taxation may have an adverse impact
on private consumption, and consequently on the
demand for air fravel.
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The key factors affecting revenue and operating
result, which Finnair can partially affect, are
operating costs and the volume of production.
Due to the considerable effect of the COVID-19
pandemic, Finnair has carried out an extensive
200-million-euro cost savings programme and

is now targeting significantly lower unit costs
compared to 2019 levels (this includes the already
achieved 200 million euros) by mid-2024 due to
the continued effects of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the closed Russian airspace. The current
inflationary pressure poses arisk to retaining the
cost level achieved.

As jet fuel costs are the largest variable expense
item, the jet fuel price development has a material
effect on profitability. Fuel price fluctuations may
result inincreased uncertainty around Finnair’s
financial performance and cash flow. Jet fuel
prices have historically fluctuated significantly,

and fluctuations are expected to continue in the
future e.g., due to the impacts of the Ukrainian war.
Finnair's ability fo pass on the increased costs of jet
fuel to its customers by increasing fares is limited

by the fierce competition in the airline industry.
Finnair's jet fuel costs are also subject to foreign
exchange raterisk as international prices for jet fuel
are denominated in U.S. dollars. The residual effect
of jet fuel price fluctuations is determined by the
hedges in use at a given point in fime. Increasing

jet fuel costs, disruptions in fuel supplies and
ineffective hedging in relation to changes in market
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prices may result in increased expenses, which
may have a material adverse effect on Finnair’s
business, financial result and future outlook.
Derivatives used to hedge against adverse price
movements in jet fuel may prove to be inefficient
resulting inincreased jet fuel price in relation to
market prices. Due to market volatility impacting
the pricing and availability of hedging instruments,
Finnair's hedging ratio is currently below the
pre-pandemic levels but within the range defined
inthe treasury policy.

Retightening of the COVID-19 pandemic related
restrictions especially in Japan and China as

well as prolongation of closed Russian airspace
would have an adverse impact on the company’s
profitability, cash funds and equity. Weakened
profitability also increases the risk of fleet and
other asset impairment.

Prolonged unprofitability and depletion of equity
may have an adverse effect on the availability and
terms of new funding.

Capacity increases and product improvements
among Finnair’s existing or new competitors may
have an effect on the demand for, and yield of,
Finnair's services. Competition in the industry is
infense and the market situation is continuously
changing as new entrants and/or alliances
expand, industry participants consolidate and
airlines form marketing or operational alliances,

Proposal on the Dividend

Board of Directors’

which might gain competitive advantage over
Finnair's oneworld alliance or its joint businesses.
In addition, the cost base restructurings of
Finnair's competitors, undertaken in response

to the COVID-19 pandemic and the closure of
Russian airspace, may result in further intensified
competition through, among others, more
aggressive pricing.

Finnair, along with other airlines, strives to distribute
its services inincreasingly versatile and flexible
ways and at lower cost by adopting and utilising
new distribution tfechnologies and channels,
including the transition towards differentiation of
fare content and availability between channels.
The ability to capitalise on the commercial
possibilities provided by these technologies is
dependent on, among others, Finnair's partners
to develop and implement such applications

as well as Finnair's ability fo generate products
and services that best correspond to customer
needs. Hence, introduction of new digital
distribution technologies and channels involves
implementation and commercial risks.

The aviation industry is affected by a number
of regulatory trends. Estimating the impacts of
the regulatory changes on airlines’ operational
activities and/or costs in advance is difficult.
Examples of such regulatory trends include
regulation related to emissions trading, noise
regulation and other environmental regulation,

Auditor’'s Report
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as well as regulations on privacy and consumer
protection. Due to the extraordinary circumstances
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, uncertainties
related to agreements and authority policies

as well as interpretation and implementation of
legislation, such as approval of state aid, may
increase. This may increase the likelihood of
litigation processes.

Finnair is exposed to the risk of operating losses
from natural events, pandemics or health
epidemics and weather-related events, influencing
operating costs and revenue. Outbreaks of
epidemics or pandemics, as COVID-19 has
demonstrated, can adversely affect the demand
for air travel and have a significant effect on
Finnair's operations. Further, natural hazards
arising from climate change, such as increased
extreme weather conditions, including substantial
snowfall, atmospheric turbulence, earthquakes,
hurricanes, typhoons, or severe thunderstormes,
may result in substantial additional costs to Finnair.
Such weather conditions may, for example, lead
to flight cancellations, increased waiting times,
increased fuel consumption as well as costs
associated with aircraft de-icing, which could lead
to additional costs to Finnair and thus, have an
adverse effect on Finnair's results of operations
and financial condition.

In a changing aviation business environment,
it is difficult to predict the impact that the
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COVID-19 and the potential further changesin the
geopolitical situation may have on airline market
access and fraffic right opportunities in general.
Potentially increasing protectionism in the political

environment may have an adverse impact on the
market access required for the implementation
of Finnair's strategy. At the same time, it is also
possible that connectivity needs may increase

in some countries, leading to increasing market
access opportunities and new traffic rights.

In Finnair's goal of halving its net carbon emissions
by the end of 2025 the from 2019 level, 95 per cent
of the target has relied on offsetting. However, their
global market has not developed as expected

as the market is stillimmature. In 2022, Finnair
committed to the Science Based Target Initiative,
where emission credits are not accepted as
emission reductions. Due 1o this, Finnair is now
reassessing the selection of means it uses to
achieve the emission target and its costs. There is
also arisk that Finnair would not reach the target.

The overall labour market situation in Finland

is challenging and it may have animpact on
Finnair's operations. Strikes and other work-related
disruptions may, if they materialise, significantly
affect Finnair's operations.
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Seasonal variation and sensitivities
In business opera

Due to the seasonality of the airline business, the
Group's revenue and result are, in a normal situation,
generally at their lowest in the first quarter and at
their highest in the third quarter of the year.

In addition to operational activities and market
conditions, the fuel price development has a key
impact on Finnair's result, as fuel costs are the
company's most significant variable expense item.
Finnair's foreign exchange risk arises primarily from fuel
and aircraft purchases, divestments of aircraft, aircraft
lease payments, aircraft maintenance, overflight
royalties and foreign currency revenue. Significant
dollar-denominated expense items are fuel costs
and aircraft lease payments. The largest investments,
namely the acquisition of aircraft and their spare parts,
are also mainly denominated in US dollars. The most
significantincome currencies after the euro are the
Japanese yen, the Chinese yuan, the US dollar, the
South Korean won and the Swedish krona.

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

The company hedges its currency, interest rate
and jet fuel exposure using a variety of derivative
instruments, such as forward contracts, swaps and
options, in compliance with the risk management
policy approved annually by the Board of
Directors. Finnair's policy is to hedge its fuel
purchases 12 months forward on arolling basis.
The risk management policy was revised during
the last quarter of 2022. The maximum hedging
ratio for the first 3-month period is approximately
90 per cent and the lower limit is approximately

60 per cent. The hedging ratio decreases towards
the end of the 12-month hedging period. As a
result of the revision, the average hedging ratio
will be on asignificantly higher level. Therefore, the
average hedging ratio defined in the revised risk

management policy will be reached during the first

half of the 2023.

fions

Sensitivities in business operations, impact on comparable operating

profit (rolling 12 months from date of financial statements)

1 percentage point change

Passenger load factor (PLF, %) EUR 30 million
Average yield of passenger traffic EUR 22 million
Unit cost (CASK excl. fuel) EUR 20 million

10% change,
Fuel sensitivities 10% change, takinghedging
(rolling 12 months from date of financial statements) without hedging into account
Fuel EUR 80 million EUR 64 million
Fuel hedging and average hedged price Hedged fuel, Average hedge
(rolling 12 months from date of financial statements) tonnes*  price, USD/ton* **
Q12023 108,000 1,055
Q22023 87000 1,069
Q32023 84,000 996
Q4 2023 and after 60,000 1,005
Total 339,000 1,035

*Based on the hedged period, i.e., not hedging related cash flow.
** Average of swaps and bought call options strikes.
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Hedging of foreign currency exposure in Finnair has mitigated the foreign exchange
balance sheet volatility introduced by this difference by using
Finnair's balance sheet includes asset-related derivatives as well as by partly investing liquidity
foreign currency exposure due to the recognition in foreign currency money market funds or other
of the present value of qualifying operating lease financial assets where possible. The annual effect
liabilities in the balance sheet as right-of-use in net result going forward is dependent on the
assets. Unrealised foreign exchange losses/gains size of the qualifying operating lease portfolio,
caused by the translation of the USD denominated the duration of the leases and hedging ratio. At
liability willhave animpact on Finnair's net result. the end of December, the hedging ratio of USD

In the future, the effect and amount of the foreign denominated interest-bearing liabilities (including
currency exchange could be positive or negative, IFRS 16) was approximately 60 per cent.

depending on the USD-rate at the closing date.

Helsinki Vantaa New York

Departure

16.'00, 22nd Dec 2021 Flight

AY1337

Boardi
Iso.a ey Gate Seat
:30 Group 3

45aq 16D
Currency sensitivities USD and JPY Hedging ratio for :a_mmy
(rolling 12 months from date of financial operational cash flows LPEgrs
Currency distribution, % Q42022 Q4 2021 2022 2021 statements for operational cash flows) (rolling next 12 months) -' ,gg;ggggm
Sales currencies 10% change without 10% change taking 4
hedging hedging into account
EUR 63 49 59 46 - - -
UsSD* 5 5 8 5 see below see below see below
JPY 3 / 4 9 EUR 8 million EUR 5 million 32%
CNY 1 6 2 7 - - -
KRW 2 4 2 5 - - -
SEK 4 4 4 4 - - ;
Other 21 25 21 25 - - -
Purchase currencies
EUR 55 65 55 69 - - -
USD* 40 31 41 26 EUR 74 million EUR 48 million 36%
Other 5 5 5 5 - - -

*Hedging ratio and sensitivity analysis for USD basket which consists of net cash flows in USD and HKD. The sensitivity analysis assumes that the correlation of the
Hong Kong dollar with the US dollar is strong.
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Guidanceissuedon
28 October 2022:

Finnair estimates that in Q4 2022, it will operate an
average capacity of ¢. 70 per cent, as measured

in ASKs, compared to the corresponding period in
2019. With the leases of aircraft with crew to other
airlines, the total capacity deployed would be ¢. 80
per cent, depending on future lease agreements.

In the short term, the strong demand for travel is
predicted to continue, which will support Finnair’s
unit revenues as in the summer months of 2022.
Significant uncertainty in Finnair's operating
environment prevails, however, because the
market price of fuel is exceptionally high and

the length of the Russian airspace closure, the
impact of inflation on demand and costs, as well
as the development of the COVID-19 pandemic
and related measures are unclear. The company
reiterates its guidance according to which the 2022

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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comparable operating result will be significantly
negative for a third consecutive year.

Finnair willupdate the progress in the
implementation of its new strategy as well

as provide guidance and outlook for 2023 in
connection with the financial statements bulletin
for 2022.

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

New guidance on
15 February 2023:

Finnair estimates that in 2023, it will operate an
average capacity of 80—85 per cent, as measured
in ASKs, compared to 2019. The capacity is
impacted by the development of demand, e.g.,
increase in travel in Chinese routes, and potential
leases of aircraft with crew to other airlines.

Finnair estimates that the strong demand for
travel will continue in the short-term, supporting
its unit revenues as in the second half of 2022, but
the continuing general economic uncertainty
will weaken the visibility of fravel demand
development during 2023. With the fading
impacts of the pandemic following the opening
of Ching, Finnair expects normal seasonality to
return. Accordingly, the first quarter of the year

is seasonally the weakest and results typically in

Auditor’'s Report

negative EBIT, while the summer months are the
high seasonin fravel.

Significant uncertainty in Finnair’'s operating
environment continues, as the price of fuel is high
and the length of the Russian airspace closure and
the impact of inflation on demand and costs are
unclear.

Finnair estimates that its 2023 revenue will
significantly increase year-on-year, especially as
the first half of 2022 was heavily burdened by both
the pandemic and the closed Russian airspace.
Nonetheless, the company estimates that its
revenue will not yet reach the level of 2019.

Finnair will update its outlook and guidance in
connection with the Q12023 interim report.
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Performance indicators classified as
alternative performance measures

Finnair uses alternative performance measures referred to in the European Securities Markets Authority (ESMA) Guidelines on Alternative
Performance Measures to describe its operational and financial performance, to provide a comparable view of its business and to enable
better comparability relative to its industry peers. The alternative performance measures do not replace IFRS indicators.

Alternative performance measures

Calculation

Auditor’'s Report

Reason to use the measure

ltems affecting comparability

Unrealized changes in foreign currencies of fleet overhaul provisions
+ Fair value changes of derivatives where hedge accounting is not
applied + Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions

+ Impairment on A330 aircraft + Changes in defined benefit pension
plans + Restructuring costs

Component used in calculating comparable operating result.

Comparable operating result

Operating result - ltems affecting comparability

Comparable operating result is presented to better reflect the Group's
business performance when comparing results to previous periods.

Comparable operating result, % of revenue

Comparable operating result / Revenue x 100

Comparable operating result is presented to better reflect the Group's
business performance when comparing results o previous periods.

Revenue at 2018 and 2019 constant currency

Revenue + Currency impact adjustment at 2018 and 2019 currency

Component used in calculating comparable operating result at
constant currency and fuel price and RASK at constant currency:. Al
changes in currency levels and hedging results since 2018 and 2019 are
excluded from the measurement.

Costs at 2018 and 2019 constant currency and fuel price

Other operating income + Operating expenses included in comparable
operating result + Currency and fuel price impact adjustment at 2018
and 2019 currency and price

Component used in calculating comparable operating result at
constant currency and fuel price and CASK at constant currency and
fuel price. Allchanges in fuel price, currency levels and hedging results
since 2018 and 2019 are excluded from the measurement.

Comparable operating result at 2018 and 2019 constant currency
and fuel price

Revenue at 2018 and 2019 constant currency + Costs at 2018 and 2019
constant currency and fuel price

Comparable operating result at constant currency and fuel price aims
to provide a comparative, currency and fuel price neutral measurement
for comparable operating result. All changes in fuel price, currency
levels and hedging results since 2018 and 2019 are excluded from the
measurement.

RASK at 2018 and 2019 constant currency

(Reve)nue at 2018 and 2019 constant currency / Available seat kilometres
ASK

Unit revenue (RASK) at constant currency aims to provide a
comparative, currency neutral measurement for unit revenues. All
changes in currency levels and hedging results since 2018 and 2019 are
excluded from the measurement.

CASK at 2018 and 2019 constant currency and fuel price

Costs at 2018 and 2019 constant currency and fuel price / Available seat
kilometres (ASK)

Unit cost (CASK) at constant currency and fuel price aims to provide

a comparative, currency and fuel price neutral measurement for unit
costs. Allchanges in fuel price, currency levels and hedging results since
2018 and 2019 are excluded from the measurement.

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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Calculation
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Reason to use the measure

Comparable EBITDA

Comparable operating result + Depreciation and impairment

Comparable EBITDA is presented to better reflect the Group's business
performance when comparing results to previous periods. Comparable
EBITDA isa common measure in airline business which aims to reflect
comparable operating result excluding capital cost.

Comparable EBITDA, % of revenue

Comparable EBITDA / Revenue x 100

Comparable EBITDA is presented to better reflect the Group's business
performance when comparing results to previous periods. Comparable
EBITDA is a common measure in airline business which aims to reflect
comparable operating result excluding capital cost.

Equity ratio, %

Equity total / Equity and liabilities total x 100

Equity ratio provides information on the financial leverage used by the
Group to fund its assets.

Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities

Lease liabilities + Other interest-bearing liabilities + Cross currency
interest rate swaps in derivative financial instruments

Component used in calculating gearing.

Cash funds

Cash and cash equivalents + Other financial assets

Component used in calculating gearing. Cash funds represent the total
amount of financial assets that are available for use within short noftice.
Therefore, cash funds provide the true and fair view of the Group's
financial position.

Interest-bearing net debt

Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities - Cash funds

Interest-bearing net debt provides view of the Group’s total external
debt financing.

Gearing, %

Interest-bearing net debt / Equity total x 100

Gearing provides view of the level of the Group's indebtedness.

Interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, LTM

Interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, for the last twelve
months

The ratio provides information on the Group’s leverage by comparing
the Group's net debt to the amount of income generated before
covering interest, taxes, depreciation and impairment.

Gross capital expenditure

Additions in fixed assets + New contracts in right-of-use assets +
Reassessments and modifications in right-of-use assets

Gross capital expenditure provides information on the Group’s
capitalized investments and lease modifications.

Return on capital employed (ROCE), LTM, %

(Result before taxes + Financial expenses + Exchange rate gains and
losses, for the last twelve months) / (Equity total + Lease liabilities + Other
in’reres’;—beoring liabilities, average of reporting period and comparison
period

The ratio provides a view to monitor the return of capital employed.

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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Reconciliation of key performance indicators
classified as alternative performance measures

ltems affecting comparability

EUR in millions 2022 2021
Operating result -200.6 -454.4
Unrealized changes in foreign currencies of fleet overhaul provisions 8.8 1.7
Fair value changes of derivatives where hedge accounting is not applied -09 0.0
Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions -6.6 -5.6
Impairment on A330 aircraft 32.7
Changes in defined benefit pension plans -20.6
Restructuring costs 2.6 0.0
Comparable operating result -163.9 -468.9
Depreciation and impairment 3171 319.8
Comparable EBITDA 153.2 -149.0
Comparable operating result, RASK and CASK at 2018 constant currency and fuel price
EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 2022 2021
Revenue 2,356.6 8384
Currency impact adjustment at 2018 currency -17.2 -2.5
Revenue at 2018 constant currency 2,339.3 8359
Other operatingincome 146.7 39.2
Operating expenses included in comparable operating result -2,667] -1,346.4
Currency and fuel price impact adjustment at 2018 currency and price 77 53
Costs at 2018 constant currency and fuel price -2102.8 -1,3019
Comparable operating result at 2018 constant currency and fuel price 236.5 -466.0
Available seat kilometres (ASK), million 31,2984 12,094.2
RASK at 2018 constant currency, cents/ASK 147 6.91
CASK at 2018 constant currency and fuel price, cents/ASK 6.72 10.76

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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Comparable operating result RASK and CASK at 2019 constant currency and fuel price

EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 2022 2021
Revenue 2,356.6 8384
Currency impact adjustment at 2019 currency -5] 1.2

Revenue at 2019 constant currency 2,351.5 845.6
Other operatingincome 146.7 39.2
Operating expenses included in comparable operating result -2,6671 -1,346.4
Currency and fuel price impact adjustment at 2019 currency and price 3798 -14.8

Costs at 2019 constant currency and fuel price -2140.7 -1,322.1

Comparable operating result at constant currency and fuel price 210.8 -476.5

Available seat kilometres (ASK), million 31,298 12,094

RASK at 2019 constant currency, cents/ASK 7.51 6.99

CASK at 2019 constant currency and fuel price, cents/ASK 6.84 10.93

Equity ratio

EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 31Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Equity total 410.7 4757

Equity and liabilities total 41330 40471

Equity ratio, % 99 11.8
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EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Lease liabilities 1,330.7 1,381.0
Ofther interest-bearing liabilities 1,298.5 14279
Cross currency interest rate swaps* -10.7 -12.3
Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities 26184 2,796.6
Ofther financial assets -7138.6 -5314
Cash and cash equivalents -/85.8 -7134.3
Cash funds -1,524.4 -1,265.7
Interest-bearing net debt 1,094.0 1,5309
Equity total 410.7 4757
Gearing, % 2664 321.8
Comparable EBITDA, LTM 153.2 -149.0
Interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, LTM 7.1 -10.3

*Cross-currency interest rate swayps are used for hedging the currency and interest rate risk of interest-
bearing loans, but hedge accounting is not applied. Changes in fair net value correlate with changes

in the fair value of inferest-bearing liabilities. Therefore, the fair net value of cross-currency interest rate
swaps recognised in derivative assets/liabilities and reported in the note 3.8 Derivatives, is considered an

interest-bearing liability in the net debt calculation.

Gross capital expenditure

EUR in millions 2022 2021
Additions in fixed assets 125.8 28.7
New contracts in right-of-use assets 95 380.6
Reassessments and modifications in right-of-use assets 64.3 25.3
Gross capital expenditure 199.6 4345

Finnair — Financial Information 2022
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Return on capital employed (ROCE), LTM

EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Result before taxes, LTM -370.7 -5819
Financial expenses, LTM 1379 117.8
Exchange rate gains and losses, LTM 38.8 22.5
Return, LTM -194.0 -441.6
Equity total 410.7 4757
Lease liabilities 1,330.7 1,381.0
Other interest-bearing liabilities 1,298.5 14279
Capitalemployed 3,039.8 3,284.6
Capital employed, average of reporting period and 3162.2 3,180.0*
comparison period

Return on capital employed (ROCE), LTM, % -6.1 -139

*Capital employed accounted was EUR 3,075.4 million as at 31 December 2020.

50



Review of the year 2022

Financial Statements

The Report of the
Board of Directors

Other performance indicators

Revenue and profitability

Board of Directors’

Proposal on the Dividend

Strengthening unit revenues
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Earnings per share (EPS), basic

(Result for the period - Hybrid bond expenses net of tax) / Average
number of outstanding shares during the period

Earnings per share (EPS), diluted

(Result for the period - Hybrid bond expenses net of tax) / Average
number of outstanding shares during the period taking into
account the diluting effect resulting from changing into shares all
potentionally diluting shares

Net Promoter Score (NPS)

Net Promoter Score is based on a question: "Thinking about all
aspects of this journey, how likely would you be to recommend
Finnair to a relative, friend or colleague?” Scale is 0-10: The share
of detractors (ratings 0-6) is deducted from the share of promoters
(ratings 9-10).

Unit revenue per available seat

kilometre (RASK)

Unit revenue (RASK) represents the Group's revenue divided by
available seat kilometres (ASK).

Unit revenue per revenue
passenger kilometre (yield)

Passenger revenue by product divided by Revenue passenger
kilometres (RPK).

Share of digital direct ticket sales

Share of ticket sales in Finnair's own direct channels in relation to
total ticket sales for the period. Direct channels include Finnaircom,
Finnair mobile app, New Distribution Capability (NDC) solutions
and Finnair Holidays.

Unit cost per available seat
kilometre (CASK)

Unit cost (CASK) represents the Group's operational costs divided
by available seat kilometres. Other operating income is deducted
from operational costs.

Sustainability

Flight CO, emissions

CO; emissions from jet fuel consumption

CASK excluding fuel

(Comparable operating result - Revenue - Fuel costs) / ASK x 100

Traffic

People

Absences due toillness

Share of sickness absence hours relating to planned work hours

Available seat kilometres (ASK)

Total number of seats available x kilometres flown

Revenue passenger kilometres
(RPK)

Number of revenue passengers x kilometres flown

Attrition rate, LTM

Number of leavers on own request during the last twelve months
compared to active employments on reporting date and leavers
on own request during the last twelve months

Passenger load factor (PLF)

Share of revenue passenger kilometres of available seat kilometres

Reducing unit costs

Share

Equity/share

Equity / Number of outstanding shares at the end of period

On-time performance

The share of flights arrived less than 15 minutes late

Dividend/earnings

Dividend per share / Earnings per share (EPS) x 100

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

Dividend yield, %

Dividend per share / Share price at the end of period x 100

Cash flow from operating
activities/share

Net cash flow from operating activities / Average number of
outstanding shares during the period

P/E ratio

Share price at the end of period / Earnings per share (EPS) x 100
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® Consolidated income statement

Consolidated income statement Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

® Consolidated statement

of comprehensive income EUR mill. Note 2022 2021 EUR mill. Note 2022 2021
Revenue 11,12 2,356.6 838.4 Result for the period -476.2 -464.3
Consolidated balance sheet Other operatingincome 1535 62.5 Other comprehensive income items
Operating expenses ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
Consolidated cash flow statement Staff and other crew related costs 1.3.8 -449.6 -229.3 Change in fair value of hedging instruments -13.8 30.1
Fuel costs -835.1 -2114 Tax effect 0.1 -6.0
Consolidated statement Capacity rents -102.5 -71.3 Iltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
of changes in equity Aircraft materials and overhaul -192.4 -117.2 Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit plans 1.3.8.2 49.9 43.0
Traffic charges -206.5 -120.4 Tax effect -10.0 -8.6
Notes to the consolidated Sales, marketing and distribution costs -103.1 -38.1 Other comprehensive income items total 26.2 58.4
financial statements Passenger and handling services 13.2 -348.0 -148.0 Comprehensive income for the period -450.0 -405.9
Depreciation and impairment 2.3 -349.8 -319.8
1. Operating result Property, IT and other expenses 1.3.3 -123.7 -99.7 Attributable to
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing Operating result -200.6 -454.4 Owners of the parent company -450.0 -405.9
arrangements Financialincome 3.1 6.5 12.8
3. Capital structure and financing costs Financial expenses 31 -137.9 -117.8 , o o o -
o Exchange rate gains and losses 31 -38.8 225 The pandemic and closure of Russian airspace had a significant negative impact on year 2022 profitability
4. Consolidation Result before t -370.7 -581.9 Finnair's revenue grew almost threefold in 2022 as the passenger traffic recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic
5 Other notes esult betore laxes : : especially in Europe and the United States. However, the remaining pandemic related travel restrictions in Asia as well
' Income taxes 5.1 -105.4 1n7.6 as the closure of Russian airspace, combined with exceptionally high fuel prices, had a significant negative impact on
6. Parent company financial statements Result for the period -476.2 -464.3 the Group’s operating result in 2022. Income taxes for the period had a negative impact on the result for the period
due to a write-down recognized for deferred tax assets related to the previous years' taxable losses. Finnair has not
. , . recognized any deferred tax assets based on 2022 losses due to the increased uncertainty caused by the closure of
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Attributable to Russian airspace. Accounting for income taxes is presented in more detail in note 5.1 Income taxes.
Owners of the parent company -476.2 -464.3
Auditor's report
Earnings per share attributable to
shareholders of the parent company, EUR
Basic earnings per share 39 -0.36 -0.34
Diluted earnings per share 39 -0.36 -0.34
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Board of Directors

Proposal on the Dividend

Consolidated income statement C .
onsolidated balance sheet
Consolidated statement . .
of comprehensive income EUR mill. Note 2022 2021 EUR mill. Note 2022 2021
ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Consolidated balance sheet Non-current assets Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Fleet 2.1 8948 946.3 Share capital 75.4 754
Consolidated cash flow statement Right-of-use fleet 2.2 9329 1,025.3 Other equity 335.2 400.2
Fleet total 1,827.6 1971.6 Equity total 410.7 475.7
Consolidated statement Other fixed assets 2.1 150.1 162.3 Non-current liabilities
of changes in equity Right-of-use other fixed assets 2.2 145.4 156.4 Lease liabilities 22,33 1,128.0 1,204.1
Other fixed assets total 2955 318.7 Other interest-bearing liabilities 33 1,058.4 986.2
Notes to the consolidated Pension assets 1.3.8.2 120.0 80.9 Pension obligations 1.3.8.2 0.7 0.7
financial statements Other non-current assets 45 6.9 Provisions and other liabilities 1.3.6 186.4 200.7
Deferred tax assets 5.1 80.6 191.9 Non-current liabilities total 2,373.5 2,391.6
1. Operating result Non-current assets total 2,328.3 2,569.9 Current liabilities
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing Current assets Lease liabilities 22,33 202.7 176.9
arrangements Receivables related to revenue 123 134.9 1109 Other interest-bearing liabilities 33 240.1 447
3. Capital structure and financing costs Inventories and other current assets 1.3.4 122.0 55.8 Provisions 1.3.6 ni 13.8
4 Consolidation Derivative financial instruments 38 235 26.1 Trade payables 90.3 535
‘ Other financial assets 321 738.6 5314 Derivative financial instruments 38 36.7 04
5. Othernotes Cash and cash equivalents 322 785.8 734.3 Deferred income and advances received 124 4520 291.1
6. Parentcompany financial statements Current assets total 1,804.8 1,458.5 Liabilities related to employee benefits 1.3.8.1 11.2 74.4
Assets held for sale 18.7 Other liabilities 135 144.4 128.1
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Assets total 4,133.0 4,047.1 Current liabilities total 1,348.9 1,179.8
Liabilities total 3,722.4 3,571.4
Auditor’s report Equity and liabilities total 4133.0 4,047.1
The group’s equity declined as aresult of the negative result for the period
Although the group’s equity in 2022 was strenghtened by the witdrawal of a hybrid loan granted by the Finnish
government, it decreased as compared to the prior year as a result of the significant losses generated during the
period. The improved passenger ticket sales increased cash funds as well as the flight ticket liability included in
deferred income and advances received. The balance of deferred tax asset decreased in 2022 as a result of a write-
down. Accounting for deferred tax assets is presented in more detail in note 5.1 Income taxes.
= Highlights
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Auditor’'s Report

*Liquid funds
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Other financial assets 738.6 5314
Cash and cash equivalents 785.8 734.3
Cash funds 1,524.4 1,265.7
Other current financial assets (maturity over 3 months) -148.8 -115.7
Liquid funds 1,375.6 1,150.0

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Cash flow from operating activities
Result before taxes -370.7 -581.9
Depreciation and impairment 349.8 319.8
Financialincome and expenses 170.2 127.5
Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions -6.6 -19.4
Change in provisions 452 19.8
Employee benefits 127 -4.3
Other adjustments 2.1 33
Non-cash transactions 60.0 189
Changesintrade and other receivables -86.9 -499
Changesininventories -10.1 19
Changesin trade and other payables 2495 257.3
Changes in working capital 1525 209.2
Financial expenses paid, net -96.1 -99.3
Net cash flow from operating activities 259.0 -25.3
Cash flow from investing activities
Investments in fleet -83.1 -70.3
Investments in other fixed assets -49 -6.0
Divestments of fleet, other fixed assets and shares 255 4117
Lease and lease interest payments received 04 1.7
Change in other current financial assets (maturity over 3 months) -12.8 -67.5
Change in other non-current assets -0.7 0.0
Net cash flow from investing activities -75.5 309.6
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds fromloans 396.7
Loan repayments -144.0 -154.8
Repayments of lease liabilities -193.4 -146.8
Hybrid bond interests and expenses -20.5 -20.5
Proceeds from capital loan 400.0
Acquisitions of own shares -1.1
Net cash flow from financing activities 421 73.4
Changeincashflows 225.6 357.8
Liquid funds, at beginning 1,150.0 792.2
Changein cash flows 225.6 357.8
Liquid funds, at end* 1,375.6 1,150.0

Changes in equity and liabilities arising from financing activities are disclosed in the note 3.3 Financial liabilities

and in the note 3.9 Equity-related information.

The group’s liquidity remained strong in 2022

The net cash flow from operating activities turned positive in 2022 as a result of the increased passenger demand
which was reflected in higher revenues and increased ticket liability. Investments in fleet relate mostly to the cabin
renewal of Finnair's widebody aircraft launched in the beginning of the year and the divestments to the sale of four
A321 aircraft. The proceeds from capital loan shown under financing cash flow relate to the hybrid loan granted by

the Finnish government which was fully drawn in 2022.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Hedgingreserve
Other and other OCI Unrestricted Retained

EUR mil. Share capital  restricted funds items equity funds earnings Hybrid bond Capitalloan Equity total
Equity 1Jan 2022 75.4 168.1 16.6 762.0 -744.5 198.0 475.7
Result for the period -476.2 -476.2
Change in fair value of hedging instruments -13.7 -13.7
Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit plans 40.0 40.0
Comprehensive income for the period 26.2 -476.2 -450.0
Proceeds from hybrid bond 290.0 290.0
Conversion of hybrid bond into capital loan -290.0 290.0

Proceeds from capital loan 110.0 110.0
Hybrid bond interests and expenses -16.4 -16.4
Share-based payments 14 14
Equity 31Dec 2022 75.4 168.1 42.8 763.3 -1,237.0 198.0 400.0 410.7

Hedgingreserve
Other and other OCI Unrestricted Retained

EUR mill. Share capital  restricted funds items equity funds earnings Hybrid bond Capitalloan Equity total
Equity 1Jan 2021 75.4 168.1 -41.8 759.5 -262.6 198.0 896.6
Result for the period -464.3 -464.3
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 24.0 24.0
Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit plans 344 344
Comprehensive income for the period 58.4 -464.3 -405.9
Hybrid bond interests and expenses -16.4 -16.4
Acquisitions of own shares -1.1 -1.1
Share-based payments 2.4 24
Equity 31Dec 2021 75.4 168.1 16.6 762.0 -744.5 198.0 475.7

Equity ratio at 9.9% in 2022 (11.8%)

The Group's equity continued to decrease in 2022 due to a decrease in retained earnings resulting from the loss for the period. Equity was partly supported by the withdrawal of the hybrid loan granted by the State of Finland. The hybrid loan was

converted into a capital loan during the year.

Finnair hedges against jet fuel price fluctuations with forward contracts and options according to its risk management policy decscribed in note 3.5 Management of financial risk. The change in fair value of hedging instruments was mainly related
to decreased jet fuel prices at the year-end 2022. Changes in hedging reserve and other OCI (other comprehensive income) items are presented in more detail in note 3.9 Equity-related information.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Accounting principles

Financial Statements

How should Finnair’'s accounting principles be read?
Finnair describes the accounting principles in conjunction with each note with the aim of providing an enhanced
understanding of each accounting area. The basis of preparation is described as part of this note at a general level,
while the principles more directly related to a specific note are attached to the corresponding note. The Group
focuses on describing the accounting choices made within the framework of the prevailing IFRS policy and avoids
repeating the actual text of the standard, unless Finnair considers it particularly important to the understanding of the
note’s content. The table below shows in which notes the related accounting principles are presented and to which
IFRS standard the accounting principle is primarily based on.

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Accounting principle Note Nr. IFRS
Segment reporting Segment information 1.1 IFRS 8
Revenue recognition, otherincome and trade IFRS 15, IFRS 9,
receivables Operating income 1.2 IFRS 7
Provisions and contingent liabilities Provisions 1.3.6 IAS 37
Employee benefits and share-based payments Employee benefits 1.3.8 IAS 19, IFRS 2
Pensions Pensions 1.3.8.2 IAS 19
Tangible and intangible assets Fleet and other fixed assets 2.1 1AS16,1AS 36, IAS 38
Leases Leasing arrangements 2.2 IFRS 16
Impairment of assets Depreciation and impairment 2.3 IAS 36
Interestincome and expenses Financialincome and expenses 31 IFRS7,1AS 32
Financial assets Financial assets 32 IFRS9,IFRS7
Cash and cash equivalents Financial assets 32 IFRS9,IFRS 7
Financial liabilities Financial liabilities 33 IFRS9,IFRS 7
Derivative contracts and hedge accounting Derivatives 38 IFRS9,IFRS7
Equity, dividend and treasury shares Equity-related information 39 IAS 32, 1AS 33
Consolidation principles of subsidiaries Subsidiaries 42 IFRS10
Non-controlling interests and transactions with

non-controlling interests Subsidiaries 42 IFRS10

Investments in associates and

Investments in associates and joint ventures joint ventures 44 IFRS11,1AS 28
Related party disclosures Related party transactions 45 IAS 24
Income tax and deferred taxes Income taxes 5.1 IAS 12

Company information

Finnair Group engages in worldwide air transport operations and supporting services. The Group's parent
company is Finnair Plc, which is domiciled in Helsinki at the registered address Tietotie 9, Vantaqg, Finland. The
parent company is listed on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Stock Exchange.
The consolidated financial statements of Finnair Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of Finnair Plc on 14 February 2023. Under Finland’s Limited Liability
Companies Act, shareholders have the option to accept, or reject the financial statements in the Annual General
Meeting of the shareholders, which will be held after the publication of the financial statements.

Auditor’'s Report

Basis of preparation

Finnair Plc's consolidated financial statements for 2022 have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, and they comply with the
IAS and IFRS standards and respective SIC and IFRIC Interpretations effective on 31 December 2022. The notes
to the consolidated financial statements also comply with Finnish accounting and corporate law. Changes
applied in accounting principles in 2022 and future periods are described in the below section Changesin
accounting principles.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is the parent company'’s functional
currency. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency by using the
exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies and outstanding at the end of the reporting period are translated using the exchange rates of the
closing date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary assets and liabilities as well as fair value
changes of related hedging instruments are recognized in the income statement.

The 2022 consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on original acquisition costs, except
for financial assets recognised through profit and loss at fair value and derivative contracts measured at fair
value. Financial statement data is presented in millions of euros and rounded to the nearest hundred thousand
euro, which is why the sum of the individual figures may differ from the total shown.

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine on the consolidated
financial statements

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the related travel restrictions on Finnair's revenue and profitability
eased during the financial year 2022 with the exception of the Asian markets, which was reflected in the
increase of passenger numbers and load factors in Europe and the United States. The number of passenger
kilometers (ASK) offered in 2022 increased clearly from the comparison period and amounted to 31,298 million
(12,094 million). Finnair's revenue increased to 2,356.6 million euro (838.4) and the total number of passengers to
9.1 million (2.9).

Although the impact of the pandemic on Finnair's operations eased during the year, the pandemic’s effects
especially in the beginning of the year and the closure of Russian airspace following the war in Ukraine caused
the Group's result for the period to remain considerably negative amounting to -476.2 million euro (-464.3). The
Russian airspace closure had a significant impact on the routings and cost of Finnair flights to Asia, in addition
to which the market price of jet fuel rose to exceptionally high levels. Profitability was further impacted by write-
downs recognized for deferred tax assets and four A330 aircraft totaling to 149.7 million euro. Finnair estimates
that the current difficult operating environment, including the closure of Russian airspace, will continue for a
longer period and announced its new strategy on September 7, 2022 aiming to improve the weak profitability
and strengthenits financial position. The implementation of the new strategy started at the end of 2022, as part
of which Finnair recorded a provision of EUR 2.6 million related to a decision to reduce approximately 150 jobs.

The group's equity decreased mainly as aresult of the losses generated during the period and totaled to 410.7
million euros (475.7). Equity was strengthened by the 400 million euro hybrid loan from the Finnish government,
which was converted into a capital loan during the year. The deferred tax asset recognised on the consolidated
balance sheet decreased to 80.6 million euros (191.9) as a result of a write-down, resulting from the expected
impacts of the Russian airspace closure on Finnair's taxable future income.

Net cash flow from operating activities turned positive due to the improved passenger ticket sales, amounting
to 259.0 million euro (-25.3). Following the increase in passenger demand, working capital increased by 152.5
million euro as a result of the increase in ticket liability. Overall, the Group's liquid funds grew by 225.6 million euro
during the financial period, amounting to 1,375.6 million euro (1,150.0) at the end of the year.

Further detail on the Group's financial figures can be found in the following notes: revenue and operating
expenses (note 1.2 and 1.3), deferred income and advances received (note 1.2.4), changes in liabilities and equity
(notes 3.3 and 3.9) and income taxes (note 5.1).

The COVID-19 pandemic and Russia’'s war against Ukraine have also impacted the critical accounting
estimates and sources of uncertainty used in the preparation of the financial statements. This has been dislosed
in more detail in the below section Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty.
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Board's assessment of Finnair as a going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the going concern assumption.

The Finnair Board of Directors has assessed the Group's ability to continue as a going concern based the
Group's ability to meet its obligations as they fall due at least 12 months after the financial statements are
issued. The Board of Directors’ assessment is based on Finnair's new strategy published in September and
the management’s latest business plan approved by the Board of Directors. Due to the current uncertainty
embedded in the economic environment caused by the pandemic and the war in Ukraine, and the difficulty
in forecasting its duration, the Board of Directors have reviewed three different scenarios prepared by the
management that cover a period of 36 months from January 2023 to December 2025. The scenarios differ
mainly in regard to impacts of a possible economic downturn as well as the estimated duration of the Russian
airspace closure. Under all three scenarios, Finnair will be able to meet its obligations as they fall due at least 12
months after the date that the financial statements are issued.

Based on the forecast scenarios prepared in connection with the financial statements 2022, revenue and
profitability are expected to improve slower than what was estimated at the time of the preparation of the
2021 financial statements due to the negative long-term impacts of the Russian airspace closure in 2022 and
increased fuel prices. Under the base case scenario and the more pessimistic scenario, the Russian airspace
is expected to remain closed for the foreseeable future whereas under the optimistic scenario, the airspace
would open in the second quarter of 2025. In addition, the company estimates that in the most pessimistic
scenario, a possible economic downturn will reduce passenger revenues, leading to a somewhat weaker result
than the base scenario. Finnair expects it will optimize capacity and network as well as significantly enhance
its operations by mid-2024 in accordance with the renewed strategy. It expects to operate at c. 84% capacity
in 2023 and c. 88% capacity in 2024 (measured in annual available seat kilometres) as compared to the pre-
pandemic levels of 2019 under all of the scenarios. In 2025, the company expects it would operate at ¢. 93%
capacity under the optimistic scenario and at 88% capacity under the other two scenarios. Following the closure
of Russian airspace, Finnair no longer estimates to reach its pre-pandemic operational levels during the forecast
period due to the optimization of the fleet and flight network in accordance with the updated strategy.

The management forecast scenarios are based on estimated development of passenger demand and
capacity levels which depend on the development of general economic environment as well as on how long the
strong, post-pandemic passenger demand will continue. The unit revenue (RASK) is expected to remain above
the 2019 level in all scenarios due to partial capacity limitations of the industry, strengthening of the unit revenues
in line with the strategy and increased fuel costs that are partly reflected in higher ticket prices. At the same time,
the reduction in unit costs following the new strategy is estimated to lead to improved profitability. Flight related
variable expenses depend on the planned capacity, whereas aircraft maintenance investments are assumed
to stay rather constant between all scenarios.

In 2022, Finnair continued to safeguard its strong cash position by optimizing investments and costs, adjusting
capacity to meet the demand, renegotiating its funding arrangements and by renewing its prior strategy that
was heavily relying on flight connections between Europe and Asia. Finnair's new strategy focuses on building a
competitive airline, with the target of reaching the pre-pandemic comparable EBIT level of 5% from mid-2024.
As a result of the savings and change negotiations carried out in connection with the strategy implementation
in 2022, Finnair announced that it will reduce around 150 jobs worldwide. In order to adjust the operational
capacity, Finnair signed crew and aircraft lease agreements with British Airways and Eurowings Discover for a
fixed period and started cooperation with Qatar Airways between three Nordic cities and Doha. In addition to
the operational measures, the 400-million-euro hybrid loan issued by the Finnish government was converted
info an equity capital loan, strengthening the equity capital of the group’s parent company Finnair Plc, in
addition to which Finnair reached an agreement to extend the loan term and payment schedule of the 600
million-euro pension premium loan until 2025.

As aresult of the aforementioned actions, Finnair's liquidity position remained strong and as at 31 December
2022, the Group held liquid funds of 1.375,6 million euro (1,150.0). The cash funds including other current financial
assets (maturity over 3 months) totalled to 1,524.4 million euro (1,265.7). The Group management and the Board of
Directors continue to pay close attention to the Group’s cash position considering the challenging dynamicsin
its current operating environment. The maturities of the Group's interest-bearing liabilities are presented in note

3.3.and information about hedging policies and management of liquidity risk is described in notes 3.5 and 3.8.
Finnair had no debt covenants at the end of the financial year 2022.

The main identified uncertainties relating to the management estimates relate to the current difficult
operating environment caused by the effects of the war in Ukraine, including closure of the Russian airspace,
the duration of which cannot be known with certainty at the time of the publication of the financial statements.
Also the future development of the already increased jet fuel prices, impact of inflation and possible economic
downturn on passenger demand and operating costs as well as the changes in the economic and competitive
environment are subject to increased uncertainty. These events are not in the sphere of Finnair management’s
influence and the management has been required to apply material judgement relating to the duration of the
current geopolitical and economic situation and make estimates about its impact on Finnair's business and
financial performance.

Despite of the abovementioned uncertainties, Finnair's management has at its disposal other mitigating
measures that are within the sphere of its influence and with which it believes it will be able to meet its
obligations for at least 12 months after the date the financial statements are issued. These include discussions
initiated by Finnair with Airbus on options to delay or cancel the two remaining A350s, which according to the
current contract are due to arrive in the last quarter of 2024 and the first quarter of 2025. In addition, Finnair is
investigating the possibilities of refinancing some of its existing financial arrangements.

Considering the above-mentioned circumstances and uncertainties, as well as the already realized
and planned measures to mitigate the impacts of the situation, the Board of Directors has concluded that
the assessment does not cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
that consequently, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. The Board of Director’s conclusion is based on the information available
as at the date of the issuance of the consolidated financial statements and an assessment conducted based
on the information assuming, that the company is able to conduct its adjusted business operations according
to the plan and to maintain sufficient financing for period of at least 12 months after the date that the financial
statements are issued. The management and the Board of Directors have also considered events and
developments taking place after the balance sheet date and concluded that there is no material impact on the
scenarios approved by the Board of Directors and the going concern assessment of the Group.

Despite the various mitigating measures implemented by Finnair, including the commencement of the
strategy implementation, the upcoming months will continue to be significantly affected by the closure of
Russian airspace and high jet fuel prices leading to weaker financial performance for a duration that is currently
uncertain. Should future events or conditions cause the Group to be unable to continue its operationsin
accordance with current assessment of the Board of Directors, using the going concern principle may prove
to be no longer justified and the carrying values as well as the classification of the Group's assets and liabilities
would have to be adjusted accordingly.

Presentation of consolidated income statement and balance sheet
Finnair's consolidated income statement includes a subtotal ‘operating result’ which is not defined in the IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements standard. The Group has defined it as the net amount of operating income
and expenses, including revenue and other operating income, less operating expenses, such as employee
benefits, fuel costs, maintenance expenses and depreciations. Exchange rate differences and realised changes
in fair values of derivatives are included in the operating result if they arise from items related to business
operations; otherwise, they are recognised in financial items. The operating result excludes financial items, share
of results from associates and joint ventures and income taxes.

In the consolidated balance sheet, assets and liabilities are classified as current when they are expected to
realise within 12 months or when they are classified as liquid funds or as financial assets or liabilities classified
at fair value through profit or loss. Other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets or liabilities.
Interest-bearing liabilities include loans from financial institutions, bonds, loans taken for aircraft financing
(JOLCO-loans & export credit support), lease liabilities and commercial papers. Interest-bearing assets include
intferest-bearing deposits as well as investments in commercial paper and certificates, bonds and money
market funds. Interest-bearing net debt is the net amount of interest-bearing assets and liabilities and cross-
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currency interest rate swaps that are used for hedging the currency and interest rate risk arising from interest-
bearing loans.

Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty

The preparation of IFRS financial statements requires Group management to make certain estimates,
assumptions and judgements in applying the accounting principles that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as well as income and expenses. The application of the accounting policies prescribed by IFRS
require making estimates and assumptions relating to the future where the actual outcome may differ from the
earlier estimates and assumptions made. In addition, management discretion has to be exercised in applying
the accounting principles especially when the IFRS has alternative accounting, valuation or presentation
methods. The estimates and assumptions made are based on past experience and management’s best
estimate of future events and other factors, that are believed to be reasonable given the current circumstances.
The estimates and associated assumptions are continuously evaluated and any changes therein are reflected
in the period that the changes occur.

Although the negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic eased towards the end of the year 2022, Finnair's
operating environment became significantly more difficult due to the escalation of the geopolitical situation in
Eastern Europe which resulted from Russia’s attack against Ukraine in February 2022. The resulting sanctions,
and countersanctions, led to the closure of Russian airspace which has had negative impact on the routings and
operating costs of Finnair flights to Asia. Also, the price of jet fuel increased to exceptionally high level during
the year, in addition to which the future fuel price development, impact of inflation on passenger demand and
operating costs as well as the changes in the economic and competitive environment are subject to increased
uncertainty. Further, even when after the opening of China, there were practically no pandemic-related travel
restrictions remaining at the time of the preparation of the financial statements, the uncertainties associated
with possible new virus variants and travel restrictions continue to pose arisk to air passenger demand and
therefore, to the development of Finnair's revenue.

In order to reflect the increased uncertainty in its estimates and assumptions, Finnair's management
has considered three different forecast scenarios incorporating possible variations of the development of
passenger demand and changes in its operating environment based on its best estimate at the time. The
scenarios are discussed in more detail in the earlier section of the notes called Board's assessment of Finnair as
a going concern. Further, in order to consider the increased uncertainty also in its impairment testing performed
at the year-end, Finnair is using the expected cash flow approach which incorporates expectations about all
forecast scenarios instead of relying on just a single, most likely, cash flow estimate.

Information about the estimates and judgement exercised by management in applying the Group's
accounting principles and the areas where estimates and judgements have biggest impact on the financial
statements are highlighted in the following table Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty.

H The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. Assessment of the going
concern is made based on management estimates about future events and other information that is available to
the management and the Board of Directors at the time of the assessment. The main identified critical estimates

and sources of uncertainty related to the assessment are presented earlier in this note in section Board's assessment
of Finnair as going concern. The identified main critical estimates and sources of uncertainty related to separate
sections of the financial statements are presented in connection to the financial items considered to be affected and
attached to the corresponding note. The table below shows where to find more information about those estimates
and uncertainties. H

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

Critical accounting estimates

and sources of uncertainty Note number Note

Finnair Plus Customer Loyalty Program 1.2 Operatingincome
Maintenance reserves of the fleet 1.3.6 Provisions

Pension obligations 1.3.8.2 Pensions

Leasing arrangements 2.2 Leasing arrangements

Impairment testing of the fleet and other fixed assets 2.3 Depreciation and impairment
Derivative contracts and hedge accounting 3.8 Derivatives
Deferred taxes 5.1 Income taxes

Climate-related matters in the consolidated financial statements

Finnair's environmental management is based on the principle of continuous and systematic improvement, and
it is committed to the goal of carbon neutral flying by the end 2045, in addition to which it will halve carbon net
emissions by 2025 compared to the 2019 level. Finnair's climate-related targets have been disclosed in more
detail in the Report of the Board of Directors and Sustainability Appendix.

Finnair expects the climate-related costs to increase significantly over the next 1-5 years, resulting from
carbon emission reduction targets and tightening climate legislation. Especially three initiatives included
inthe EU's "Fit for 55" legislative package are particularly relevant for the aviation industry: the reform of
emissions trading (EU-ETS), the mixing quota for sustainable aircraft fuel (ReFuelEU Aviation) and the proposall
to introduce a kerosene tax (energy tax directive). When in force, the new regulation is expected to result in
higher costs for Finnair due to more expensive emission allowances, increased consumption of renewable fuel
and possible abolition of the aviation fuel tax exemption. Where Finnair considers such costs will be recovered
through increase in ticket fares, a corresponding adjustment is added to passenger revenue. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the expected impacts of the climate related matters on the Group's results
have been considered in the management’s profitability and cash flow forecasts, which are used in impairment
testing of non-financial assets and evaluation of the recovery of deferred tax assets.

Finnair expects the impact of climate-related matters on the estimated economic life of its fleet to be
insignificant, as management is not aware of such regulations at the balance sheet date that would directly
prevent or limit the company'’s ability to use its current fleet. For example, an unexpected and significant
increase in emission costs could, if realized, affect the timing of the planned fleet renewal in the future, but this is
not considered likely at the time of the preparation of the financial statements.

Changes in accounting principles

New and amended IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations
The changes in the IFRS standards and IFRIC-interpretations effective from periods beginning 1 January 2022
included mainly amendments or improvements to current standards and did not have material effect on Finnair
financial statements.

Other standards issued that are effective from periods on or after 1st of January 2023 mainly include
amendments and improvements to current standards that are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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1 Operating result

B Operating result includes notes related to revenue and operating result from the point of view of income
statement and balance sheet. H

1.1Segment information

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Group’s Executive Board. Segments are defined
based on Group's business areas. Group has one business and reporting segment: Airline business.

The Finnair Executive Board, defined as the chief operative decision maker according to IFRS 8 Segment

reporting, considers the business as one operating segment. Thus, separate segment information is not reported.

The revenue by product and geographical area is presented in the note 1.2.1 Revenue by product and traffic
area. The division is based on the destination of Finnair flights. Finnair operates international and domestic
routes, but the assets are almost solely owned in Finland. The fleet composes the major part of the non-current
assets (see note 2.1 Fleet and other fixed assets). The fleet is owned or leased by Finnair's Finnish subsidiary
and the aircraft are operated flexibly across different traffic (geographical) areas. More details about fleet
management and ownership can be found in the management report in the section “Fleet”.

Even though the passenger traffic figures improved from prior year, the negative impact of the COVID-19
pandemic and related travel restrictions was still clearly visible in the figures. Further, the Russian airspace
closure had a negative impact on the figures in 2022. During the financial year Finnair transported 9.1 million
passengers (2.9), which was 218.9 per cent more than in 2021. Strong cargo demand continued and the revenue
of cargo business was record high. The demand for travel services also grew strongly with the lifting of travel
restrictions. Finnair continued to control and optimize its costs in all operations. The effects on revenue and
operating expenses as well as the related receivables and liabilities are presented in more detail in the following
notes1.2and1.3.

Due to the wide scale of customers and nature of the business, sales to any individual customer is not material
compared to Finnair's total revenue.

1.2 Operatingincome

H The operating income section includes both income statement and balance sheet notes that relate to
revenue. The aimis to provide a more coherent picture of income related items affecting Finnair's result and
financial position. Trade receivables and deferred income containing mainly prepaid flight tickets and travel
tour services are presented in connection with this section, because those are an essential part in revenue
recognition. H

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when goods or services are delivered. Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, net of discounts and indirect taxes.

Passenger revenue includes sale of flight fickets, and is recognised as revenue when the flight is flown in accordance
with the flight traffic program. Recognition of unused tickets as revenue is based on the expected breakage amount of
tickets remaining unused in proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by the passenger.

Sales price is allocated to a flight ticket and points in Finnair Plus’ Customer Loyalty Program. Finnair loyalty
customers can earn Finnair Plus Points from tickets or services purchased, and use the earned points to buy services
and products offered by Finnair or its cooperation partners. The points earned are measured at fair value and
recognised as a decrease of revenue and debt at the time when the points-earning event (for example, flight is
flown) is recognised as revenue. Fair value is measured by taking into account the fair value of those awards that can
be purchased with the points and the customer selection between different awards based on historical customer

behaviour. In addition, the fair valuation takes into account the expiry of the points. The debt is derecognised when the
points are used or expire.

Customer compensations for delays or cancellations is a variable consideration in the contract and it is recognised
as an adjustment to revenue.

Ancillary revenue includes sale of ticket related services, such as advance seat reservations, additional baggage
fees as well as different service fees, and sale of goods in the aircraft. The service revenue is recognized when the
flight is flown in accordance with the flight traffic program, since it is considered as a contract modification instead of
a separate revenue transaction. The sale of goods is recognized when the goods are delivered to the customer.

Cargo revenue is recognized when the cargo has been delivered to the customer.

Tour operations revenue includes sale of flight and hotel considered as separate performance obligations, which
are recognized as the service is delivered.

Public subsidies are recognised as other operating income.

Trade receivables

Finnair Group recognises impairment provisions based on lifetime expected credit losses from trade receivables

in accordance with IFRS 9. Finnair has chosen to apply a simplified credit loss matrix for trade receivables as trade
receivables do not have a significant financing component. Accordingly, the credit loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. The expected credit loss model is forward-looking, and expected
default rates are based on historical realised credit losses. The lifetime expected credit loss allowance is calculated
using the gross carrying amount of outstanding trade receivables in each aging bucket and an expected default rate.
The changes in expected credit losses are recognised in other operating expenses.

H Finnair Plus Customer Loyalty Program

Valuation and revenue recognition related to Finnair Plus debt requires management judgment especially related to
fair valuation of points and timing of revenue recognition related to points expected to expire. The fair value of the
point is defined by allocating the point to award selection based on historical behaviour of customers, after which

the fair value of each award is defined. The liability is calculated by taking the total amount of points earned by
customers, decreased by the expected expiry of the points. These points are then fair valued as described above, and
the result is recognised as liability on the balance sheet. H

1.2.1Revenue by product and traffic area

2022
Share, % of

North Unallo- revenue by
EUR mill. Asia Atlantic  Europe Domestic cated Total product
Passenger revenue 425.0 2443 8979 128.2 15.3 1,710.7 72.6
Ancillary and retail
revenue 194 12.8 37.6 54 48.0 123.2 52
Cargo 227.1 82.6 46.3 04 -4.1 352.3 15.0
Travel services 7.6 03 161.7 05 0.2 170.3 72
Total 679.2 340.0 1,143.6 134.4 59.4 2,356.6
Share, % of revenue by
traffic area 28.8 144 485 57 25

The division of revenue by traffic area is based on destination of the Finnair flights.

Finnair's revenue increased significantly when compared to the financial year 2021 due to reduced impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic and exceptionally high passenger yields resulting from strong passenger demand and
restricted capacity. Despite the increase in total revenues, the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and
closure of the Russian airspace was still reflected in the passenger numbers especially on the Asian routes.
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2021
Share, % of

North Unallo- revenue by
EUR mill. Asia Atlantic  Europe Domestic cated Total product
Passenger revenue 75.3 38.6 243.6 60.3 30 420.8 50.2
Ancillary and retail
revenue 97 1.8 10.7 25 194 441 53
Cargo 236.3 498 359 0.2 12.6 3347 399
Travel services 15 0.0 35.8 1.3 0.0 38.7 4.6
Total 322.8 90.2 326.0 64.4 35.0 838.4
Share, % of revenue by
traffic area 38.5 10.8 389 7.7 42

1.2.2 Revenue by currency

EUR mill. 2022 2021
EUR 1,381.5 387.3
USD 180.4 38.1
SEK 994 295
JPY 96.7 76.0
KRW 52.3 39.8
CNY 437 575
Other currencies 5025 210.2
Total 2,356.6 838.4

The hedging policies against foreign exhange rate fluctuations are described in note 3.5 Management of

financial risks.

1.2.3 Receivables related to revenue
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Trade receivables 89.4 68.2
Accruedincome 455 427
Total 134.9 110.9

Most of the accrued income represents contract assets, for which Finnair has met the performance requirement
prior to receiving payment from customers and these have not yet been recognized as trade receivables.
Contract assets mainly include accrued income related to cargo sales and receivables from airlines involved

in the Siberian Joint Business on flights between Europe and Japan, and the Atlantic Joint Business on flights

between Europe and North America.

The fair value of trade receivables does not materially differ from balance sheet value.

J
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2022 2021

Aging analysis Trade Probability Expected Trade Probability Expected
of frade receivables, of not uncollectible, receivables, of not uncollectible,
receivables EUR mill. collecting, % EUR mill. EUR mill. collecting, % EUR mill.
Not overdue 87.1 0.5% 04 67.7 0.7% 05
Overdue less than

60 days 0.2 19.7% 0.0 0.1 59% 0.0
Overdue more

than 60 days 2.1 6.3% 0.1 04 1.4% 0.0
Total 89.4 0.7% 0.6 68.2 0.7% 0.5

During the financial year, the Group recognised credit losses in total of 0.2 million euros (1.5). Trade receivables

do not contain significant credit risk because of the diversified customer base. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date equals to the total carrying amount of trade receivables. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security related to tfrade receivables.

Trade receivables by currency

EUR mill. 2022 2021
EUR 52.6 19.3
NOK 6.2 44
USD 52 43
GBP 37 23
SEK 33 2.8
KRW 32 52
JPY 3.1 50
THB 27 1.4
SGD 2.1 2.6
HKD 17 37
CNY 0.8 41
Other currencies 47 3.0
Total 89.4 68.2
1.2.4 Deferred income and advancesreceived
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Deferred revenue on ticket sales 356.4 202.7
Loyalty program Finnair Plus 51.3 551
Advances received for tour operations 279 15.2
Otheritems 16.4 18.1
Total 452.0 291.1

Most of the deferred income and advances received represents contract liabilities, for which payments have
been received from customers before the performance obligation is discharged by Finnair.Deferred income
and advances received includes prepaid flight fickets and package tours for which the departure date isin
the future. The Finnair Plus liability is related to Finnair's customer loyalty program, and equals the fair value
of the accumulated, unused Finnair Plus points. Other items mainly include gift voucher liabilities and liabilities
to airlines involved in the Siberian Joint Business on flights between Europe and Japan, and the Atlantic Joint
Business on flights between Europe and North America.Deferred revenue on ticket sales and advances
received for tour operations increased significantly as a result of the lifting of travel restrictions and the strong
increase in passenger demand.
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EUR mill. 2022 2021
Leaseincome 118.8 23.0
Sales gains on fixed assets 6.8 233
Otherincome 279 16.2
Total 153.5 62.5

Other operating income increased when compared to financial year 2021 mainly due to agreed wet lease
arrangements with British Airways and Eurowings Discover in which Finnair leases out aircraft and crew for a

fixed period of time.

Public subsidies received due to COVID-19 pandemic increased compared to previous year mainly because

of a support received for uncovered fixed expenses. Overall, the amount of subsidies was not material.

1.3 Operating expenses

H The operating expenses section includes the income statement and balance sheet notes related to operating
expenses, aiming to provide a better overview of business operations and related expenses. Maintenance provisions
of leased aircraft that inherently relate to aircraft overhaul costs are included in this operating expenses section. Also
accrued expenses, such as liabilities related to jet fuel and traffic charges, are presented in this section. In addition,

items related to employee benefits are presented at the end of this section in a separate note 1.3.8. Employee benefits.

It includes the different forms of benefits received by Finnair employees, including share-based payments and
pensions, their effect on staff costs and balance sheet as well as information on management remuneration. [

Although Finnair continued with the cost adjustment measures due to the effects of the closure of Russian

airspace and the COVID-19 pandemic also in 2022, the Group's operating expenses increased as compared to

the prior year due to increased operational volumes and exceptionally high fuel prices.

1.3.1 Operating expenses by currency

Auditor’'s Report

1.3.3 Property, IT and other expenses

EUR mill. 2022 2021
IT expenses 63.9 551
Property expenses 20.6 15.9
Ofther expenses 39.2 28.7
Total 123.7 99.7
Property, IT and other expenses mainly consist of fixed costs.
Audit fees
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Auditor's fees 0.6 0.3
Tax advising
Other fees 0.0 0.0
Total 0.6 0.3

The auditor's fees of KPMG Oy Ab included fees of 466 thousand euro (332) for audit services and 127 thousand

euro (15) for auditor’s statements. Non-audit services to Finnair Group entities were 3 thousand euro (1).

1.3.4 Inventories and other current assets

EUR mill. 2022 2021
EUR 1,490.1 930.6
USD 1,092.3 364.0
Other currencies 128.3 60.8
Total 2,710.6 1,355.3

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Credit card acquirer holdbacks 57.0

Inventories 311 21.0
Aircraft materials and overhaul 74 7.8
Jet fuels 6.6 34
Capacity rent receivables 6.4 6.7
VAT receivables 2.1 1.2
Interest and other financial items 1.5 11
Receivables from sublease contracts 03 8.0
Other items 9.5 6.6
Total 122.0 55.8

The hedging policies against foreign exchange rate fluctuations are described in note 3.5 Management of

financial risks.

1.3.2 Passenger and handling services

Credit card acquirer holdbacks relate to cash funds from passenger ticket sales that are held by credit card

Processors.

1.3.5 Other liabilities

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Ground and cargo handling expenses 158.3 93.6
Expenses for tour operations 88.9 215
Catering expenses 450 95
Other passenger services 55.8 234
Total 348.0 148.0

Passenger and handling costs (including also tour operation expenses related to e.g., hotels) were driven up by

the increased volumes, especially in passenger traffic.

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Jet fuel and traffic charges 50.9 49.8
Passenger and handling services 348 29.6
Aircraft materials and overhaul 14.0 10.0
Sales, marketing and distribution cost accruals 13.8 73
Interest and other financial items 9.0 15.7
Otheritems 219 15.8
Total 144.4 128.1
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Consolidated income statement 1.3.6 Provisions Aircraft Aircraft
maintenance Other maintenance Other
Consolidated statement Provisions EUR mill. provision provisions 2022 provision provisions 2021
of comprehensive income Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as the result of a past event, Provision at the
the fulfilment of the payment obligation is probable, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be beginning of period 195.9 3.8 199.8 162.8 13.0 175.8
, made. The amount to be recognised as provision corresponds to the management'’s best estimate of the expenses Provision for the period 56.1 4.8 60.9 320 19 339
Consolidated balance sheet that will be necessary to meet the obligation at the end of the reporting period. Provisi g P 16.6 26 19.2 127 90 18
In most cases, the Group is obliged to return leased aircraft and their engines according to the redelivery condition set rovision use = : : - : :
Consolidated cash flow statement in ’rhe.lease agre-e.men.’r. If q’r the time of.redelive.ry, ’rhe conc;ii’rion of the oircrof’r and its engines diffgrs from ’rhg ggreed Provision reversed -3.1 -1.0 -4.2 -1.3 -2.1 -34
redelivery condition, Finnair needs to either maintain the aircraft so that it meets the agreed redelivery condition or Provision for right-of-use
settle the difference in cash fo the lessor. To fulfil these maintenance obligations, the Group has recognised airframe assets redelivery -09 -09 22 22
Consolidated statement heavy maintenance, engine performance maintenance, engine life limited part, landing gear, auxiliary power unit and Unwindi £ di ' 6.4 6.4 14 14
fch i it other material maintenance provisions. The provision is defined as a difference between the current condition and nwinding of discoun - d : :
of changes in equity
redelivery condition of these maintenance components. The provision is accrued based on flight hours flown until the next Exchangerate
maintenance event or the redelivery and recognised in the aircraft overhaul costs in the income statement. The provision differences 8.8 8.8 1.7 1.7
Notes to the consolidated is reversed at the maintenance event or redelivery. The price of the flight hour depends on the market price development Total 246.7 5.0 251.7 195.9 3.8 199.8
financial statements of the maintenance costs. Estimated future cash flows are discounted to the present value. The maintenance market
prices are mainly denominated in US dollars, which is why the amount of maintenance provision changes due to currency
. fluctuation of the dollar. Of which non-current 178.7 14 180.1 184.6 14 186.0
1. Operatingresult ThThg finolﬁc.heclé olpd pcgilr;’rir:ﬁ r<|equireq| at rede}rl.iveryqr ?k:e EonSid(efFeﬂtur?OVOi?'ﬁble m<:1}rin’ren<;|fncf<=:r k<]:os'rs ’rhg"r reglise thjnd ‘ Of which current 68.0 36 77 13 25 13.8
2 Fleet and other fixed assets and leasin e aircraft is redelivered to the lessor, irrespective of the time or flight hours. The counterpart of the provisionis recordedin
g the book value of the right-of-use asset at the commencement of the lease. Respectively, costs depending on the usage of Total 246.7 5.0 251.7 195.9 3.8 199.8
arrangements ) : ) : : e
the aircraft are not considered as part of the right-of-use asset cost, but these are recognised according to the principles ) ) o
e lidati Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Group has prepared a detailed restructuring plan and has begun On balance sheet, non-current provisions and other liabilities 186.4 million euro (200.7) includes, in addition
: onsoliaation to implement the plan or has announced it. to provisions, other non-current liabilities 6.3 million euro (14.7), which mainly consist of received lease deposits.
5. Ofthernotes Long-term incentives for the Executive Board and other personnel, which are expected to be paid during the
6. Parent company financial statements third quarter of 2023, were transferred to current liabilities.

Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

Auditor's report

= Accounting principles
M = Critical accounting estimates
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H Maintenance reserves of the fleet

The measurement of aircraft maintenance provisions requires management judgement especially related to the
timing of maintenance events and the valuation of maintenance costs occurring in the future. The future maintenance
costs and their timing are dependent on, for example, how future traffic plans actually realise, the market price
development of maintenance costs and the actual condition of the aircraft at the time of the maintenance event. The
ultimate duration of the war in Ukraine may have an impact on the level of future maintenance expenses, which could
cause the actual outcome to differ from the estimates currently made. H

1.3.7 Items affecting comparability
Finnair uses alternative performance measures in its internal reporting to the chief operative decision maker,
or Finnair Executive Board. The figures are referred to in the European Securities Markets Authority (ESMA)
Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures, which Finnair uses to describe its business and financial
performance development between periods. The alternative performance measures do not replace IFRS
indicators, but shall be read in conjunction with key figures in accordance with IFRS financial statements.
Unrealised exchange rate differences of mainly in US dollars denominated aircraft maintenance provisions
and unrealised fair value changes of derivatives where hedge accounting is not applied are excluded from
comparable operating result. These exchange rate and fair value effects are included in the comparable
operating result only when they will realize. In addition, gains and losses on aircraft and other tfransactions, the
impairment of owned A330 aircraft, certain changes in defined benefit pension plans and restructuring costs
are not included in the comparable operating result.
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2022 2021
ltems ltems
affecting affecting
compara- compara-
EUR mill. Reported bility Comparable Reported bility Comparable
Revenue 2,356.6 2,356.6 838.4 838.4
Other operatingincome 153.5 -6.8 146.7 62.5 -23.3 39.2
Operating expenses
Staff and other crew
related costs -449.6 25 -447 1 -229.3 -19.5 -248.9
Fuel costs -835.1 -0.9 -836.0 -211.4 0.0 -211.4
Capacity rents -102.5 -102.5 -71.3 -3
Aircraft materials and
overhaul -192.4 8.8 -183.6 -117.2 25.5 917
Traffic charges -206.5 -206.5 -120.4 -120.4
Sales, marketing and
distribution costs -103.1 -103.1 -38.1 -38.1
Passenger and handling
services -348.0 -348.0 -148.0 -148.0
Property, IT and other
expenses -123.7 04 -123.3 -99.7 29 -96.8
EBITDA 153.2 -149.0
Depreciation and
impairment -349.8 327 -317.1 -319.8 -319.8
Operating result -200.6 36.6 -163.9 -454.4 -14.4 -468.9

ltems affecting comparability include an impairment of 32.7 million euros related to four owned A330 aircraft,
unrealized exchange rate difference of 8.8 million euros related to aircraft maintenance provisions and sales gain
of 6.8 million euros on four A321 aircraft. In addition, 2.5 million euros have been recognised in staff and other crew
related costs related to the change negotiations ended in November 2022.

1.3.8 Employee benefits

1.3.8.1 Employee benefit expenses and share-based payments

Share-based payments

Finnair provides a number of share-based compensation plans for its employees, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for share-based payments. Regarding share-based incentive plans for

key personnel, the awards are paid only if performance criteria set by the Board of Directors is met. Share-based
savings plan for employees (FlyShare) requires the employees to remain in Finnair's service for the defined period, but
payment does not depend on any performance criteria.

The total expense for share-based payments is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which
all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. Share-based payments that are settled net of taxes are
considered in their entirety as equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The reward is valued based on
the market price of the Finnair share as of the grant date, and recognised as an employee benefit expense over the
vesting period with corresponding entry in the equity. Income tax paid to tax authorities on behalf of employee is
measured based on the market price of the Finnair share at the delivery date and recognised as a decrease in equity.
If the reward includes the portion settled in cash, it is accounted for as a cash-settled transaction. The liability resulting
from the cash-settled transactions is measured based on the market price of the Finnair share at the balance sheet
date and accrued as an employee benefit expense for service period with corresponding entry in the liabilities until
the settlement date.

Auditor’'s Report

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to a termination. Group is demonstrably committed when
it has a detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of current employees without possibility of withdrawal. In
the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.

Accounting principles related to pension benefits are described in the note 1.3.8.2 Pensions.

Staff and other crew related costs

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Wages and salaries 297.3 185.8

Defined contribution schemes 554 30.1

Defined benefit schemes 1.4 -6.6
Pension expenses total 66.8 234
Other social expenses 31.6 0.6
Salaries, pension and social costs 395.7 209.9
Operative staff related costs 27.6 8.3
Leased and outsourced crew 19.0 72
Ofther personnel related costs 73 39
Total 449.6 229.3

At Finnair, the total salary of personnel consists of fixed pay, allowances, short- and long-term incentives, fringe
benefits and other personnel benefits. The total amount of short-term incentives excluding social security costs
recognised for 2022 were 9.2 million euro (5.8).

In 2020, Finnair established a new long-term Rebuild incentive program for the personnel. As part of the
program, employee can earn a cash reward equaling to one month base salary, when the targets set by the
Board of Directors are met. A maximum of two months' base salary can be paid when targets are exceeded.
The possible reward is paid during third quarter 2023. The program is available to those employee groups
which have agreed to actions related to staff cost savings. In 2022, the cost recognised for the Rebuild incentive
established for personnel was 0.3 million euro (3.8) excluding social security costs. The performance criteria are
the same as those of the Rebuild incentive plan established for the Executive Board, which is described in the
section Share-based payments of this note.

Staff and other crew related costs include one-off personnel related restructuring costs of 2.5 million euro. In
2021, the one-off items included a 19.5 million euro positive effect mainly consisting of amendmends made to the
collective labour agreement relating to a curtailment of occupational disability pensions and withdrawn pilots’
early retirement announcements.

Transfer to Personnel Fund

Finnair has a Personnel Fund that is owned and controlled by the personnel. A share of Finnair's profits is
allocated to the fund. The share of profit allocated to the fund is determined based on the targets set by the
Board of Directors. The participants of the performance share plan (LTI) are not members of the Personnel
Fund. Personnel Fund is obliged to invest part of the bonus in Finnair Plc’s shares. In 2022 and 2021, no profit was
allocated to the fund because the set performance criteria were not met.

Liabilities related to employee benefits

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Holiday payments 66.8 47.0
Other employee related accrued expenses 444 274
Liabilities related to employee benefits m.2 744
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Other employee related accrued expenses mainly include witholding tax and accrued expenses related

to social security costs and remunerations. Other non-current liabilities include the Rebuild incentives of 0.0
million euro (7.8). In addition, restructuring provisions related to termination benefits (see note 1.3.6 Provisions)
amounted to 2.3 million euro (1.1).

Management remuneration
The President and CEO and Executive Board remuneration

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

Remuneration paid to Board of Directors

Compensation paid Fixed Meeting Fringe

for board service, EUR Total2022 remuneration compensation benefits Total 2021
Board of Directors 416,222 282,900 129,600 3,722 372,233
Alahuhta-Kasko Tiina 43500 30,300 13,200

Barrington Colm,

until 7 April 2022 12,975 8,175 4,800

Brewer Montie 54,300 32,700 21,600

Erlund Jukka 43729 32,700 10,800 229
Jakosuo-Jansson Hannele 46,167 32,700 13,200 267

Karvinen Jouko 80,627 63,000 14,400 3,227

Kjellboerg Henrik 51,900 30,300 21,600

Large Simon, from

7 April 2022 onwards 39,525 22,725 16,800

Strandberg Maija 43,500 30,300 13,200

President President

and CEO Executive and CEO Executive
Thousand euros Topi Manner Board Total2022 TopiManner Board Total 2021
Fixed pay 734 1,712 2,446 736 1,817 2,553
Fringe benefits 20 105 125 21 129 150
Share-based payments 287 789 1,076 469 941 1,409
Pensions (statutory)* 124 298 421 120 310 430
Pensions (voluntary,
defined contribution) 20 20 20 20
Total 1,165 2,923 4,088 1,346 3,217 4,563

Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing

Capital structure and financing costs

Parent company financial statements

* Statutory pensions include Finnair's share of the payment to Finnish statutory “Tyel” pension plan.

Management remuneration is presented on an accrual basis. Share-based payments include LTI plans and
employee share savings plans and are recognised over the vesting period until the end of the lock-up period,
according to IFRS 2. Therefore the costs accrued and recognised for the financial year include effects from
several share-based payment plans independent of when the shares are delivered. Management has not been
provided any other long-term incentives in addition to share-based payments.

During 2022 and 2021, the CEO and Executive Board were not paid holiday bonus.

In conjunction with the rights offering in 2020, the EU commission set restrictions to CEO and Executive
Board remuneration covering years 2020-2022. The restrictions cover variable compensation payouts and
any changes to fixed compensation during the years 2020-2022. As a result, the Board of Directors decided
to cancel the 2018-2020, 2019-2021 and 2020-2022 LTI plans as well as the 2020-2022 STl plan for the CEO and
Executive Board. A new share-based long-term Rebuild incentive program was established for the CEO and
Executive Board for the period 7/2020-6/2023.

The voluntary pension plans of one member of the Executive Board have been arranged through a Finnish
pension insurance company. The retirement age for this member of the Executive Board is 63 years. The planis
a defined contribution plan.

More information on share-based payment schemes can be found later in this note and in a separate
Remuneration report as well as on company website.

The remuneration of the Board of Directors is presented on an accrual basis. The compensation paid to the
members of the Board of Directors include annual remuneration and meeting compensation. The members of
the Board of Directors are entitled to a compensation for tfravel expenses in accordance with Finnair's general
travel rules. In addition, the members of the Board of Directors and their spouses have a limited right to use staff
tickets in accordance with Finnair's staff ticket rules. These tickets constitute taxable income in Finland and are
reported as fringe benefits in the table above.

Share-based payments

The note below provides description and information on effects of the Group’s share-based incentive schemes.
More information on share-based personnel bonus schemes can be found in Remuneration report.

Finnair share-based payment plans

2019 2020 2021

LTI2019-2021 A
LT12020-2022 A
LT12021-2023 A

2022 ‘ 2023 2024

LTI Rebuild
7/2020—-6/2023*

Fly Share 2019 . A
Fly Share 2020 | A

Fly Share 2021 | | | A

Earnings / savings period Lock-up period A Sharedelivery

* Total incentive rewards cannot exceed 120% of annual base salary in any year,
possible exceeding amount is deferred from 2023 to following years.

Performance share plan for key personnel (LTI)

Finnair's share-based incentive plan is a performance-based, annually commencing long-term incentive (LTI)
arrangement, and the commencement of each new planis subject to a separate decision made by Finnair's
Board of Directors. The purpose of these plans is to encourage the management to work to increase long-term
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shareholder value. The Finnish Government’s guidance regarding the remuneration of executive management
and key individuals have been taken into consideration when designing the plans.

In all ongoing LTI plans, the members of Finnair's Executive Board are expected to accumulate their share
ownership in Finnair until it corresponds to their annual gross base salary and thereafter retainit for as long as
they are members of the Executive Board.

The potential reward will be delivered in Finnair shares. The shares are delivered to the participants during
the year following the performance period, except for the Rebuild incentive where the performance period
ends in June 2023 and the reward is delivered in the same year.

The target levels and maximum levels set for the criteria are based on the long-term strategic objectives
set by the company’s Board of Directors. Criteria are monitored against the performance on a quarterly basis.
The performance criteria of the plan for 2019-2021 were met at 54% level while the target was at 100% and the
maximum earning level at 200%. In the comparison period, the performance criteria applied to the 2018-2020
plan was met at 22% level.

The expense recognised for 2022 amounted to 0.9 million euros (1.7). The amount expected to be transferred
to the tax authority to settle the employee'’s tax obligation is 3.0 million euros (5.3). The cost related to share-
based payments is recognised in staff and other crew related costs and unrestricted equity funds, except the
cash-settled portion of the Rebuild incentive plan in liabilities related to employee benefits.

Executive Board. In 2022, no new LTI program was launched due to continuous business environment changes
caused by the war in Ukraine. The total expense for the plans is recognised over the vesting period, which is
three years. The grant date is at the beginning of performance period and the compensation is measured in
shares.

The payout opportunity is defined as a fixed share amount in the beginning of each plan in relation to the
participants annual base salary. Therefore, changes in the share price during the performance period impacts
the value of the payout opportunity. If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the target level, the
incentive paid in Finnair shares to the President and CEO or other member of the Executive Board participating
in the plans will be 20% of the participant’'s annual base salary. If the performance criteria set for the plan are
met at the maximum level, the incentive paid in Finnair shares will be 60% of the participant’s annual base salary.
The maximum level for incentives for other key personnel is 20—-50% of the person’s annual base salary. As a
result of the rights issue in 2020, the share allocations for the ongoing 2018—2020, 2019-2021 and 2020—-2022
plans were adjusted 5.5-fold in order for the earning opportunities to retain their value.

The maximum combined value of all variable compensation (including both short- and long-term incentives)
paid to an individual participant in any given calendar year may not exceed 120% of the participant’'s annual
gross base salary. The amounts of shares paid are stated before tax. The number of shares delivered will be
deducted by an amount corresponding to the income tax and transfer tax payable for the incentive at the time
of payment.

1. Operating resgli . Rebuild incentive plan 7/2020-6/2023 The performance criteria applied to the plans are:
2. Fleetand other fixed assets and leasing In 2020, a new Rebuild incentive plan for CEO and Executive Board was launched. The program contains a + 2019-2021 plan: earnings per share (EPS, 50% weight), revenue growth (16.7% weight) and unit cost with
arrangements three-year performance period (7/2020-6/2023) and it is designed to contain only this one plan. The potential constant currencies and fuel price (CASK, 33.3% weight),
3. Capital structure and financing costs share rewards will be delivered to the participants in a pre-determined proportion of shares and cash after e 2020-2022 plan: earnings per share (EPS, 50% weight) and unit cost with constant currencies and fuel
4 Consolidation the end of the performance period and the rewards are at the participants’ free disposal after delivery. If the price (CASK, 50% weight) as well as
combined value of incentive rewards in 2023 exceeds 120% of executive’s annual salary, the exceeding part + 2021-2023 plan: earnings per share (EPS, 45% weight), unit cost with constant currencies and fuel price
5. Othernotes is deferred to coming years so that the combined incentive payout in any year does not exceed 120% of the (CASK, 45% weight) and fuel efficiency (10% weight).
6. Parent company financial statements executive's annual base salary. The total expense for the plan is recognised over the vesting period, which is
three years. The grant date is at the beginning of performance period and the compensation is measured in Rebuild
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend shares. o o . . . 2019-2021 2020-2022 2020-2023  2021-2023 Total
The payout opportunity |s.def|ned in the beginning of each plan inrelation to The pqrhupqn’r's or.mucu'l base Grant date 14Feb 2019 7Feb 2020 9 Oct 2020 26 Jan 2021
salary. If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the target level, the incentive paid in Finnair shares i "
Auditor's report to the President and CEO or other member of the Executive Board participating in the plans will be a total of Grant price, euros 11914 10478 0.3948 0.6250
180% of the participant’'s annual base salary. If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the maximum Number of persons af the
level, the incentive paid in Finnair shares will be a total of 360% of the participant's annual base salary. end of the reporting year 0 36 10 57
The amount corresponding to tax payable at the time of payment is first deducted from the gross reward EXIOGDSGS recognised for
defined as shares. The net reward is delivered in a combination of cash and shares in a proportion decided by the financial year, LTI's fotal
the Board of Directors. (million euros) 0.1 0.0 12 -04 09
The performance criteria are set for the whole 3-year period as well as for three 12-month mid-term periods: of which share-settled
e 7/2020—-6/2021: comparable EBITDA, gearing, lost-time injury frequency and CO, emissions (measured (net of taxes) O 0.0 11 -04 07
through fuel efficiency), of which cash-settled 0.2 0.2
* 7/2021-6/2022: comparable EBIT, revenue, employee retention and CO, emissions (measured through Liability related to LTI's totall 0.8 0.8
fuel efficiency) as well as Shares granted, million
o 7/2022—-6/2023: comparable EBITDA, net promoter score (NPS), lost-time injury frequency and employee shares 0.2** 1.1 18.0 6.5 25.8

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

retention.

The criteria for the whole 3-year period, is cash flow from operating activities which functions as a multiplier (0-2)
for the whole program. This means that the threshold level needs to be reached in order for any reward to be paid.

Other incentive plans

There are two LTI plans ongoing (2020—2022 and 2021-2023). The annually commencing performance

share plans retain the three-year performance period. The potential share rewards will be delivered to the
participants in one tfranche after the performance period and they are at the participants’ free disposal after
delivery. In conjunction with the rights offering in 2020, according to the restrictions set by EU commission, the
Board of Directors decided to cancel the 2018—2020, 2019-2021 and 2020—-2022 LTl plans for the CEO and

* Grant price until plan granted on 7 February 2020 has been adjusted by a bonus element included in the rights issue in 2020.
** As aresult of the rightsissue in 2020, the share allocations for the ongoing 2018—-2020, 2019-2021 and 2020-2022 plans
were adjusted 5.5-fold in order for the earning opportunities to retain their value. These plans were cancelled for the CEO and
Executive Board.

FlyShare employee share savings plan 2013 onwards

Finnair offers an annually commencing share savings plan for its employees. Commencing of each planis
subject to the decision of Finnair's Board of Directors. The first plan commenced in 2013, and for the time being
there are two plans ongoing. In 2022, Finnair's Board of Directors decided to terminate commencing the new
FlyShare programs as a part of savings program.

67



The Report of the
Board of Directors

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

J

Financial Statements

Review of the year 2022 Auditor’'s Report

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated cash flow statement

Consolidated statement
of changes in equity

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

1. Operatingresult

N

Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing
arrangements

Capital structure and financing costs
Consolidation
Other notes

A

Parent company financial statements
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

Auditor's report

= Accounting principles
M = Critical accounting estimates

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

Each plan consists of one year savings period followed by two year lock-up period. Through the plan, each
eligible Finnair employee is offered the opportunity to save part of his or her salary to be invested in Finnair
shares. The maximum monthly savings are 8% and the minimum 2% of each participant’s gross base salary per
month. Shares are purchased with the accumulated savings at the market price quarterly, after the release of
Finnair's interim reports.

The plan lasts for three years, and Finnair awards each participating employee with one share for each two
shares purchased and held at the end of three-year period. The awarded bonus and additional shares are
taxable income for the recipient. The number of shares delivered will be deducted by an amount corresponding
to the income tax and transfer tax payable for the shares at the time of payment. The cost related to additional
shares delivered is recognised as expense during vesting period.

The expense recognised for FlyShare employee share saving plans in 2022 amounted to 0.9 million euros (1.3).
The amount expected to be transferred to the tax authority to settle the employee’s tax obligation is 0.9 million
euros (1.0). The cost related to employee share saving plans is recognised in staff and other crew related costs
and unrestricted equity funds.

1.3.8.2 Pensions

Defined benefit and defined contribution plans

Pension plans are classified as defined benefit and defined contribution plans. Payments made into defined
contribution pension plans are recognised in the income statement in the period to which the payment applies.
Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement,
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. Current service cost is the
present value of the post employment benefit, which is earned by the employees during the year and it is recognised
as staff and other crew related costs. The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined pension plans
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan
assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligations is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
flows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. Actuarial
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited
to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. If fair value of plan assets is higher than
present value of funded obligations, the net amount is presented as pension assets in the Group's balance sheet.

H Pension obligations

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial
basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension
obligations. The note below includes a description of exposure to most significant risks and a sensitivity analysis on
impacts of changes in actuarial assumptions. H

Description of pension plans at Finnair

The statutory pension cover of the employees of the Group’s Finnish companies has been arranged in a Finnish
pension insurance company. The statutory pension cover is a defined contribution plan. The Group's foreign
sales offices and subsidiaries have various defined contribution plans that comply with local rules and practices.
CEO has no supplementary pension plan. The supplementary defined contribution pension plan of one member
of the Executive Board is arranged in a pension insurance company. The retirement age for this member is 63
years.

Other supplementary pension cover of the Group's domestic companies has been arranged mainly in the
Finnair Pension Fund, in which the pension schemes are defined benefit plans. These pension plans cover old
age supplementary pensions and disability pensions exceeding the pension cover under the Employment
Pensions Act. The survivors' pensions under the supplementary pension cover applies on a limited basis to
pensioners who have retired on 1 January 2005 at the latest, as well as to recipients of benefits previously in
accordance with Finnair PIc's survivor’'s pension rules who transferred to the pension fund on 31 December 2015.

The Pension Fund’s old age and occupational disability pension scheme has been closed to other employees
since 1 February 1992 and to pilots since 1 January 2010. After this, pilots have only been covered by the
occupational disability pension scheme if they have not switched to another work offered by the employer. The
pension fund as a whole has been closed on 31 May 2021.

Old age pensions of pilots recruited in 2015 or later are defined contribution schemes arranged in a life
insurance company. Supplementary pension cover has also vested pension right on a limited basis and
the retirement age of the pension fund's vested pension is tied to a change in the retirement age under the
Employment Pensions Act that came into force in 2017 or an event under disability pension cover under the
Employment Pensions Act. Beginning from 2021, the earnings or supplementary pensions payable on which
the pension fund’s defined benefit supplementary pension cover is based are not adjusted by the pension
index increment. The supplementary pension liability of the pension fund is fully covered in accordance with
Finnish legislation. In addition, approximately 500 Finnair pilots have the right to a separate defined contribution
supplementary pension arranged in a life insurance company after reaching the age of 55 years in addition to
the pension fund’s defined benefit old age pension cover, if the pilot continues to work as pilot over the age of 55
years and retires from his/her job.

Exposure to most significant risks

Volatility of plan assets: Some of the plan assets are invested in equities which causes volatility but are in the long
run expected to provide higher returns than corporate bonds. The discount rate of plan obligations is defined
based on the interest rates of corporate bonds.

Changes in bond yield: A decrease in corporate bond yields increases plan obligations due to the fact that
the pension obligation is discounted to net present value with a rate that is based on corporate bond rates. This
increase in plan obligations is partially mitigated by a corresponding increase in the value of corporate bonds in
plan assets.

Life expectancy: The most significant part of the provided pension benefits relate to old age pensions.
Therefore, an increase in the life expectancy rate results in anincrease of plan obligations.

Defined benefit pension plans

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Items recognised in the income statement
Current service costs 6.2 8.3
Past service cost 53 -1.8
Amendments 0.0
Settlements and curtailments -0.1 -13.1
Service cost total, recognised in staff costs 1.4 -6.6
Net interest expenses and foreign exchange differences -0.6 -0.2
Totalincludedin the income statement 10.8 -6.8

Amounts recognised through other comprehensive income

Experience adjustment on plan obligation 1.5 54
Changes in financial actuarial assumptions -86.4 -17.0
Changes in demographic actuarial assumptions 0.2
Net return on plan assets 349 -31.6
Amounts recognised through other comprehensive income total -49.9 -43.0
Number of persons involved, pension fund 4,258 4364
Number of persons involved, other defined benefit plans 53 52
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Proposal on the Dividend

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Pension Pension Pension Pension
assets obligations assets obligations
Present value of funded obligations -263.2 -1.1 -359.8 -1.4
Fair value of plan assets 383.3 0.5 440.7 0.7
Pension assets (+) / pension obligations (-) in the balance
sheet 120.0 -0.7 80.9 -0.7

Pension assets 120.0 million euro (80.9) includes 119.7 million euro (78.9) related to defined benefit plans insured
through the pension fund and 0.4 million euro (2.0) related to other defined benefit plans. Pension obligations
includes 0.7 million euro (0.7) related to other defined benefit plans. The change during 2022 mainly is due to

change in discounting rate and net return on plan assets.

Changesin pension obligations

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Fair value of pension obligations at 1 January 361.2 4055
Current service costs 57 77
Past service cost 53 -1.8
Settlements and curtailments -0.5 -13.2
Amendments -0.1
Interest expenses and foreign exchange differences 23 1.6
Expense recognised inincome statement 12.8 -5.9
Changes in actuarial assumptions -86.4 -16.8
Experience adjustment on plan obligation 1.5 54
Remeasurements recognised through OCI -84.9 -11.4
Benefits paid -24.8 -27.1
Net present value of pension obligations 264.4 361.2
Changesinplan assets
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 4414 4358
Administration expenses -0.5 -0.6
Settlements and curtailments -04 -0.2
Amendments -0.1
Interestincome and foreign exchange differences 29 17
Items recognised through profit and loss 2.0 0.9
Acturial gain (loss) on plan assets -349 31.6
Items recognised through OCI -34.9 31.6
Contributions paid 0.0 0.1
Benefits paid -24.8 -27.1
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 383.7 441.4

Auditor’'s Report

Plan assets are comprised as follows

J

% 2022 2021
Listed shares 12.2 17.8
Debt instruments 59.7 551
Property 242 23.0
Other 39 41
Total 100.0 100.0

Plan assets of the pension fund include Finnair Plc shares with a fair value of 0.6 million euros (0.9) and buildings
used by the Group with a fair value of 13.0 million euros (12.8).

Defined benefit plans: principal actuarial assumptions

% 2022 2021
Discount rate % 3.69% 0.74%
Annual rate of future salary increases % 0.60% 1.80%
Future pensionincreases % 0.00% 0.00%
Estimated remaining years of service 8 8

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis describes the effect of a change in actuarial assumptions on the net defined benefit
obligation. The analyses are based on the change in the assumption while holding all other assumptions
constant. The method used is the same as that which has been applied when measuring the defined benefit
obligation recognised in the balance sheet.

Sensitivity analysis on principal actuarial assumptions

Impact when Impact when
increasein decreasein
Changein assumption, assumption,
Actuarial assumption assumption EUR mill. % EUR mill. %
Discount rate % 0.25% -5.0 -1.9% 52 2.0%
Annual rate of future salary
increases % 0.25% 1.3 0.5% -1.2 -0.5%
Life expectancy at birth 1year 52 2.0%

According to Finnish legislation, the pension fund needs to be fully funded. Finnair does not expect to pay
contributions to the pension fund in 2023. The duration of defined benefit obligation is 8 years. The durationiis
calculated by using a discount rate of 3.69%.
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arrangements

K Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing arrangements includes notes particularly related to the aircraft fleet.
Notes related to the aircraft operated by the Group are combined in this section so that the general view of the
fleet is easier to understand. In addition to owned aircraft, the notes cover leased aircraft under different kinds
of aircraft lease arrangements. H

The assets owned and leased by Finnair consist mostly of aircraft operated by Finnair and Norra. In 2022,
the number of owned aircraft was 37 (41) and leased 43 (43). Finnair sold four owned A321 aircraft during 2022.
Due to the easing of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, as at the balance sheet date, 79 out of Finnair's 80
aircraft recognized in fixed assets were operative. The remaining one aircraft is expected to return to service
during first quarter of 2023.

Fleet
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W A321(15) A320 (10) A319(6) [ E190 Norraoperated (12) [ ATR Norra operated (12)

W A350(17) W A330(8)

Fleet in Finnair balance sheet

EUR mill. 2022 2021 Change
Advances paid for aircraft m.2 127.7 -16.5
Owned aircraft 783.6 818.6 -35.0
Right-of-use fleet 932.9 1,025.3 -92.4

Fleet total 1,827.6 1,971.6 -143.9

Fleet sublease receivables 10.0 -10.0

Fleet lease liabilities 1,164.4 1,204.6 -40.2

Depreciation for the period of owned aircraft -120.9 -155.7 34.8

Depreciation for the period of right-of-use fleet -156.0 -123.2 -32.8

Impairment for the period related to owned aircraft -32.7 -1.5 -31.2

Assets held for sale (fleet) 18.5 -18.5

Fleet and other fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss if applicable. Fleet includes aircraft and aircraft prepayments. The acquisition cost of aircraft

is allocated to the aircraft frame, cabin components, engines and maintenace components as separate assets.
Maintenance components include heavy maintenance, C-checks, APU (auxiliary power unit) restorations, landing
gear overhauls and thrust reversers of aircraft frames, as well as performance restoration and maintenance of

life limited parts of engines. Aircraft frames and engines are depreciated over the useful life of the aircraft. The
maintenance components are depreciated during the maintenance cycle. Cabin components are depreciated over
their expected useful life. Significant modifications of owned or leased aircraft are capitalised as separate items

and depreciated over their expected useful life, which in the case of leased aircraft cannot exceed the lease period.
Replaced components are derecognised from the balance sheet.

Advance payments for aircraft are recorded as fleet fixed assets. Interest costs related to advance payments are
capitalised as acquisition cost for the period at which Finnair is financing the manufacturing of the aircraft. Hedging
gains or losses related to the fair value changes of firm, USD nominated purchase commitments for aircraft are
recognised in advance payments. Advance payments, realised foreign exchange hedges and capitalised interests
are recognised as part of the aircraft acquisition cost once the aircraft is delivered and taken to commercial use.

Other fixed assets include rotable aircraft spare parts, other fixed assets and their prepayments. Other fixed assets
are depreciated during their expected useful life.

Intangible assets mainly include computer software and connection fees. Connection fees are not depreciated.
Gains and losses on disposal of tangible and intangible assets are included in other operating income and expenses.

Useful life and residual value
Depreciation of fleet and other fixed assets is based on the following expected economic lifetimes:
» New aircraft and engines as well as flight simulators (other equipment) on a straight-line basis as follows:
— Airbus A350 fleet, over 20 years to a residual value of 10%
— Airbus A320 and Embraer fleet, over 20 years to a residual value of 10%
— Airbus A330 fleet, over 18 years to a residual value of 10%
— Turboprop aircraft (ATR fleet), over 20 years to a residual value of 10%
» Heavy maintenance, C-checks, APU and landing gear restorations and thrust reversers of aircraft frame, as well
as performance maintenance and life limited parts of the engines, on a straight-line basis during the maintenance
period
» Cabin components, over 7—-20 years
* Rotable spare parts and components, over 15 years to a residual value of 0%
* Buildings, over 10—50 years from the time of acquisition to a residual value of 10%
» Other tangible assets, over 3—15 years
» Computer software, over 3—8 years
The residual values and estimated useful lives of the assets are assessed at each closing date and if they differ
significantly from previous estimates, the depreciation periods and residual values are changed accordingly. The
useful life of Finnair's current Airbus A320 fleet was prolonged in 2021 as part of the investment optimizations resulting
from the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, the existing A320 fleet's aircraft and engines are depreciated over a period
of 25-29 years to a residual value of 0%.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be
recovered principally through a sale transaction, a sale is considered highly probable and expected to take place
within the next twelve months. Assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of the carrying amount or fair
value less cost to sell. Assets classified as held for sale are no longer depreciated.

Impairment

The Group reviews its fleet and other fixed assets for indication of impairment on each balance sheet date.
Impairment loss is recognized if an asset’s recoverable amount is below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount
is determined as the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. The recoverable amount is
defined for a cash generating unit, and the need for impairment is evaluated at the cash generating unit level. The
value in use is based on the present value of the expected net future cash flows obtainable from the asset or cash-
generating unit. Individual assets are excluded from the cash generating unit if they no longer are held for service or
are intended to be sold, and are tested for impairment based on their fair value less costs to sell. Impairment testing,
including the critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty inherent in the calculations, is described in more
detailin note 2.3.
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in the notes 3.5 Management of financial risks and 3.8 Derivatives.

. Financial Statements . . Auditor’'s Report
Board of Directors Proposal on the Dividend P
Fleet 2022 Other fixed assets 2022
. . Aircraft
EUR rﬁ'!l' Aircraft Advances Total rotable  Buildings Other Intangible
Acquisition cost 1Jan 2022 1.749.4 127.7 187711 EUR mill. parts andland equipment assets Advances Total
Additions 6911 122 81.2 Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2022 34.2 745 119.5 47.8 0.8 2767
Disposals -39.5 -39.5 Additions 23 4.4 0.2 0.4 72
Currency hedging of aircraft acquisitions 204 204 Disposals 11 14 79 105
Reclassifications 49.2 ~49.2 0.0 Reclassifications 0.1 0.6 -0.8 0.0
Transfer to assets held for sale Transfers to/from assets held
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2022 1,828.1 m.2 1,939.3 for sale 0.0 0.1 0.0
Acquisition cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1Jan 2022 -930.8 -930.8 31Dec 2022 35.3 74.5 122.5 40.7 0.4 273.4
Disposals 395 395
Transfer to assets held for sale Accumulated depreciation
o and impairment 1Jan 2022 -19.2 -10.8 -419 -42.5 -114.4
Reclassifications 0.4 0.4 DI | 10 09 ¢ 98
Depreciation for the financial year -120.9 -120.9 SpOSCS : : : :
: . : Transfer to/from assets held
Impairment for the financial year -32.7 -32.7 for sale 03 03
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2022 -1,044.5 -1,044.5 Reclassifications
Depreciation for the
Book value 31 Dec 2022 783.6 1M.2 894.8 financial year -4.5 -1.8 -95 -3.1 -189
. ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) Accumulated depreciation
Additions fo fleet in 2022 relate mainly to cabin renewal investments of Finnair's widebody aircraft. An and impairment
impairment of 32.7 million euro related to four owned A330 aircraft was recognized during the financial year 31Dec 2022 -22.3 -12.7 -50.5 -37.7 0.0 -123.3
resulting from the impacts of the closure of Russian airspace. Impairment for the financial year is presented in
more detail in the note 2.3 Depreciation and impairment. Currency hedging of aircraft acquisitions is described Book value 31 Dec 2022 12.9 61.8 72.0 30 0.4 150.1

In addition to the aircraft rotable parts included in the other fixed assets, Finnair's inventories include non-

Fleet 2021 rotable aircraft parts amounting to 24.4 million euro (16.9).
EUR mill. Aircraft  Advances Total
Acquisition cost 1Jan 2021 2,358.7 nr7 2476.3
Additions 137 55.6 69.3
Disposals -425.2 -425.2
Currency hedging of aircraft acquisitions -22.6 -22.6
Reclassifications -1.3 -22.9 -24.2
Transfer to assets held for sale -196.5 -196.5
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2021 1,749.4 127.7 1,877.1
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2021 -1,036.1 -1,036.1
Disposals 84.5 845
Transfer to assets held for sale 178.0 178.0
Depreciation for the financial year -155.7 -155.7
Impairment for the financial year -15 -1.5
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2021 -930.8 -930.8
Book value 31 Dec 2021 818.6 127.7 946.3
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Aircraft
rotable  Buildings Other Intangible
EUR mill. parts andland equipment assets Advances Total
Acquisition cost 1Jan 2021 339 75.6 116.0 553 72 288.0
Additions 14 0.0 45 13 0.2 74
Disposals -09 -11 -49 -4.0 -10.8
Reclassifications 0.0 39 -4.8 -6.6 -1.6
Transfer to assets held for
sale -0.3 -0.1 -0.3
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2021 34.2 74.5 119.5 47.8 0.8 276.7
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment 1Jan 2021 -17.3 -9.8 -33.4 -42.3 -102.8
Disposals 0.6 0.6 0.2 40 54
Reclassifications 39 39
Depreciation for the
financial year -2.5 -1.6 -8.7 -8.1 -21.0
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment 31 Dec 2021 -19.2 -10.8 -41.9 -42.5 0.0 -114.4
Book value 31 Dec 2021 15.0 63.7 77.6 5.2 0.8 162.3
Capitalised borrowing costs
Aircraft Advances Total
EUR mill. 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Book value 1Jan 8.8 18.6 2.7 2.8 11.5 214
Additions 1.8 1.4 1.8 14
Disposals -10.6 0.0 -10.6
Reclassifications -1.5 0.0 -1.5
Depreciation -0.5 0.8 -0.5 0.8
Book value 31 Dec 8.3 8.8 45 2.7 12.8 "5

In 2022 borrowing costs of 1.8 million euro (1.4) were capitalised in tangible assets related to the Airbus A350
investment program. Finnair uses the effective interest rate to calculate the capitalised borrowing costs, that

represents the costs of the loans used to finance the investment. The average yearly interest rate in 2022

was 4.19% (3.66%). The general borrowings used to fund the acquisition of capital assets are included in the
calculation of the capitalisation rate.

Assets and liabilities held for sale

Finnair had no assets classified as held for sale at the end of the financial year 2022. In 2021, the assets held for
sale related to four A321 aircraft which were sold during 2022.

Pledged assets and other restrictions on fixed assets

Finnair does not have fixed assets pledged as a security for bank loans. Fleet assets include three A350 aircraft

financed with JOLCO-loans and one A350 aircraft where the legal itle is transferred to Finnair after loans are repaid.
More details on these arrangements are presented in the note 3.3. Financial liabilities.

Auditor’s Report

Investment commitments

Investment commitments as at the end of the year totalled 366.1 million euro (355.3) and it includes firm aircraft
orders, other aircraft related investments as well as committed maintenance investments. Out of the total
investment commitments, 62.1 million euro is expected to take place within the next 12 months and 304.0 million
euro during the following 1-5 years. The amount of the total commitments fluctuates between the order and the
delivery date of the aircraft mainly due to EUR/USD exchange rate changes and escalation clauses included in
airline purchase agreements. The exact amount of the commitments in relation to each aircraft is only known at
the time of the delivery.

2.2 Leasing arrangements

The Group as lessee

Finnair assesses whether a contract that relates to tangible assets is, or contains, alease in accordance with the IFRS
16. Lease agreements for tangible assets, where the contract conveys the right to use an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration, are classified as leases.

The lease term is the non-cancellable period for which a lessee has the right to use an underlying asset, together
with both periods covered by an option to extend the lease if Finnair is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if Finnair is reasonably certain not to exercise the option.

The lease recognition requirements are not applied to short-term leases, where at the commencement date, the
lease term is 12 months or less and does not contain a purchase option. Finnair considers the lease period to be the
period that is enforceable. Hence, for contracts where the contract term is non-fixed and Finnair has the right to
terminate the contract without the permission from the other party with no more than an insignificant penalty and
there are no other indications that the contract is enforceable, Finnair classifies these contracts as short-term. The
lease recognition requirements are also not applied to leases that are not material to Finnair.

For short-term leases and immaterial leases to which these exemptions are applied, the lease payments are
recognised as an expense on either a straight-line basis over the lease term, or on another systematic basis if that
basis is more representative of the pattern of Finnair's benefit.

At the commencement date of a lease, Finnair recognises both a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

The lease liability is the present value of future lease payments. At Finnair, lease payments for aircraft leases typically
contain variable payments that depend on interest rates and indices. The variable payments are included in the
measurement of the lease liability from the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, comprising
» the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any incentives received;

* any initial direct costs incurred by Finnair; and

* an estimate of costs to be incurred by Finnair in restoring the assets to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

In most cases, Finnair is obliged to return leased aircraft and their engines according to the redelivery condition set
in the lease agreement. If at the time of redelivery, the condition of the aircraft and its engines differs from the agreed
redelivery condition, Finnair needs to either maintain the aircraft so that it meets the agreed redelivery condition or
seftle the difference in cash to the lessor.

The maintenance costs can be divided into two main groups:

1) costs that are incurred independent of the usage of the aircraft / leasing period and
2) costs that are incurred dependent on the usage of the aircraft / leasing period

The final check and painting required at redelivery are considered unavoidable maintenance costs that realise
when the aircraft is redelivered to the lessor, irrespective of the time or flight hours. The counterpart of the provisioniis
recorded in the book value of the right-of-use asset at the commencement of the lease.

Respectively, costs depending on the usage of the aircraft are not considered as part of the right-of-use asset cost.

Finnair remeasures the lease liability when there is a lease modification that changes the scope of a lease or the
consideration for the lease, that was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease (including changes in
lease payments resulting from a change in indices and rates used in variable aircraft lease payments) or when the
the likehood of Finnair using a purchase-option is changed. The amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability
is generally recognised as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. However, if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the remaining
measurement is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, right-of-use assets are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciations and accumulated
impairment losses. The assets are depreciated with a straight-line method from the commencement date to the shorter
of end of useful life of the right-of-use asset and the end of lease term. However, if the lease transfers ownership of the
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asset to Finnair by the end of lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that Finnair will exercise a purchase
option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated from the commencement date to the end of useful life of the asset.

At Finnair aircraft lease contracts contain the interest rate implicit in the lease, even if the aircraft lease agreements
do not clearly define the interest rate implicit in the lease. Since the fair values of the aircraft are provided publicly
by third parties, Finnair is able to calculate the implicit interest rate for each qualifying aircraft operating lease. The
rate implicit in the lease is defined as the rate that causes the sum of the present value of the lease payments and the
present value of the unguaranteed residual value of the underlying asset at the end of the lease to equal the sum of
the fair value of the underlying asset and any initial direct costs of the lessor. The implicit interest rate is determined by
each aircraft lease contract separately.

For other lease contracts, animplicit interest rate cannot be usually determined. The incremental borrowing rate is
therefore used and it is determined by each class of assets separately, based on management estimate.

Aircraft lease contracts are usually denominated in foreign currency (US dollars) and the foreign currency lease
liabilities are revalued at each balance sheet date to the spot rate. The lease payments (lease payments made) are
accounted for as repayments of the lease liability and as interest expense.

The Group as lessor

Agreements, where the Group is the lessor, are accounted for as operating leases, when a substantial part of the risks
and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the lessee. The assets leased under operating lease are included

in the tangible assets and they are depreciated during their useful life. Depreciation is calculated using the same
principles as the tangible assets for own use. Under the provisions of certain aircraft lease agreements, the lessee

is required to pay periodic maintenance reserves which accumulate funds for aircraft maintenance. Advances
received for maintenance are recognised as liability, which is charged, when maintenance is done. The rents for
premises and aircraft are recognised in the income statement as other operating income over the lease term.

Agreements, where the Group is the lessor, are accounted for as finance leases, when a substantial part of the risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. Finnair recognises assets held under a finance lease inits balance
sheet and presents them as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment of the lease which is equal to the sum
of the present values of the lease income it will receive in the future and the unguaranteed residual value.

Finnair subleases aircraft and buildings as well as ground equipment from time to time, which are classified either as
finance leases or operating leases based on the individual contract terms. A lease is classified on its commencement
date and is reassessed only if the lease is amended. At the commencement date, for the subleases, a net investment
(lease receivable), equaling to the present value of lease payments and the present value of the unguaranteed
residual value, is recognised. The proportion of the right-of-use asset subleased is derecognised from the balance
sheet and the difference between the right-of-use asset and the net investment is recognised in the profit or loss, in
other operating income and expenses. Subsequently, the lease payments received are accounted for as repayments
of the lease receivable and as interestincome.

Sale and leaseback

In sale and leaseback transactions, where Finnair sells and then leases back aircraft, Finnair measures the right-of-
use asset arising from the leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of the asset that relates to the
right-of-use retained by the Group. Accordingly, Finnair recognises only the amount of any gain or loss that relates to
the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor.

Impairment

The Group reviews its leased assets for indication of impairment on each balance sheet date. Impairment loss is
recognized if the recoverable amount is below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is defined for a cash
generating unit, and the need for impairment is evaluated at the cash generating unit level. The recoverable amount
is determined as the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. The value in use is based on the
present value of the expected net future cash flows obtainable from the asset or cash-generating unit. Individual
assets are excluded from the cash generating unit if they no longer are held for service or are intended to be sold,
and are tested for impairment based on their fair value less costs to sell. Impairment testing, including the critical
accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty inherent in the calculations, is described in more detail in note 2.3.

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’s Report

H Leasing arrangements

Determining the interest rate and lease term used in discounting the lease payments, estimating the redelivery
obligations of aircraft leases and the classification of sublease agreements to operating and financial leases require
management discretion in interpretation and application of accounting standards.

The COVID-19 pandemic or the war in Ukraine and the following closure of Russian airspace did not have a significant
impact on the terms of the leasing arrangements of the Group, neither did it significantly increase the amount of
discretion related to abovementioned critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty. The pandemic or the
geopolitical situation did not, for example, have significant impact on the estimated lease terms as extension options
are usually not considered in the initial lease term determination. Additionally, the impact of contracts terminated early
during the period was not significant. The carrying value of the right-of-use assets are tested for impairment as part of
cash generating unit at the balance sheet date. More details is presented in the note 2.3. H

Right-of-use assets 2022

Buildings Other
EUR mill. Aircraft andland equipment Total
Book value 1Jan 2022 1,025.3 123.0 334 1181.7
Additions 0.0 0.5 9.0 9.5
Changesin contracts 63.5 3.8 -3.0 64.3
Depreciation for the financial year -156.0 -13.3 -8.0 -177.3
Book value 31Dec 2022 9329 14.0 31.4 1,078.2

The changes in contracts relate to changes either in the scope, or consideration, of leases.

Right-of-use assets 2021

Buildings Other
EUR mill. Aircraft andland equipment Total
Book value 1Jan 2021 7725 133.8 11.2 917.5
Additions 346.9 14 322 380.6
Changesin contracts 29.0 1.0 -4.7 253
Depreciation for the financial year -123.2 -13.2 -53 -141.6
Book value 31 Dec 2021 1,025.3 123.0 33.4 1,181.7
Lease liabilities
Aircraft Buildings and land Other equipment

EUR mill. 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
less than one year 183.0 157.2 12.2 12.6 14 7.0
1-5years 605.5 6027 411 431 22.3 199
more than 5 years 375.9 444 6 80.8 86.8 25 6.8
Total 1164.4 1,204.6 134.1 142.6 32.2 33.8

The Group leases aircraft, premises and other fixed assets, for which the lease liability is recorded on the
balance sheet. The lease agreements have different terms of renewal and include index-linked terms and
conditions. The Group was operating 43 leased aircraft at the end of the year with lease agreements of different

tenors.

The leased aircraft, that Finnair is subleasing to other operators and which are classified as finance leases

are shown in the table below.
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Off-balance sheet lease receivables, Group as lessor

Aircraft Buildings and land Aircraft Buildings and land
EUR mill. 2022 2021 2022 2021 EUR mill. 2022 2021 2022 2021
less than 12 months 7.6 03 04 less than 12 months 235 19.4 2.1 1.8
13—24 months 24 03 03 13—24 months 235 154 2.1 1.8
25—-36 months 0.3 0.3 25—-36 months 235 6.2 2.1 1.8
37—48 months 0.0 03 37—48 months 235 6.2 2.1 1.8
49—-60 months 0.0 0.0 49—-60 months 11.3 6.2 1.8 1.5
more than 60 months 0.1 0.1 more than 60 months 3.8 1.6 25 2.0
Total 10.0 1.1 1.4 Total 109.0 55.1 12.7 10.8

Finnair had no aircraft related finance lease receivables at the end of 2022 as the sublease contracts for
aircraft classified earlier as finance leases were reclassified as operating leases due to contract modifications.

Leasing arrangements in profit and loss

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets -177.3 -141.6
Interest expense on lease liabilities -80.1 -62.7
Interest income on sublease receivables 0.1 1.6
Exchange rate changes of lease liabilities -76.1 -75.5
Hedging result of lease liabilities 19.1 16.3
Short-term wet leases -28.4 -6.5
Short-term office rents -3.2 -3.2
Variable purchase traffic and cargo capacity rents -74.0 -65.0
Gains and losses on sale and leaseback transactions 144
Total -419.9 -322.2

Operating expenses include costs related to short-term and capacity based rental agreements, that are not
material for the Group or do not contain a lease according to IFRS 16, and are therefore not recognised in the
balance sheet. In the income statement, the short-term wet leases and variable purchase traffic and cargo
capacity rents are included in capacity rents and the short-term office rents are included in property, IT and
other expenses. Gains related to sale and leaseback transactions are recorded in other operating income in

profit and loss. Total cash outflow relating to leases was -376.7 million euro (-284.2).
Off-balance sheet lease commitments, Group as lessee
Premises rents Otherrents

EUR mill. 2022 2021 2022 2021
less than one year 25 23 1.5 1.5
1-5years 55 6.3 09 09
more than 5 years 6.7 6.9
Total 14.7 15.5 24 24

Off-balance sheet lease commitments are short-term lease agreements and other lease agreements for which
the underlying asset is of low value or contracts that do not contain a lease according to IFRS 16. Therefore,
these contracts are not recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the balance sheet. The most

significant item in the premises rents is the right-to-use a test cell, which is excluded from the lease liabilty on the
basis that it is not for the exclusive use of Finnair. Other rents include IT equipment leases, that are not material.

The Group has leased 15 owned aircraft as well as premises with irrevocable lease agreements. Additionally,
Finnair has subleased 9 aircraft classified as operating leases. These agreements have different terms of
renewal and other index-linked terms and conditions.

2.3 Depreciation and impairment

Depreciation

Depreciation of assets is determined based on their expected useful life or maintenance cycle and residual value.

The depreciation for all assets is calculated using straight-line method. The depreciation is started when the asset is
available for use. Depreciation is ceased when the asset is either classified as held for sale or derecognised. The useful
life and residual value for assets are described in more detail in the note 2.1.

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Amortisation of intangible assets 3.1 7.6
Depreciation of own fleet 120.9 155.7
Depreciation of right-of-use fleet 156.0 123.2
Depreciation of other tangible assets 15.8 129
Depreciation of other right-of-use assets 21.3 18.5
Amortisation and depreciation 317.1 317.8
Impairment of assets 327 20
Impairment 32.7 2.0
Total depreciation and impairment inincome statement 349.8 319.8

Depreciation and impairment include both planned depreciations on fixed assets as well as impairment. The
depreciation of own fleet decreased and the depreciation of right-of-use fleet increased in 2022 mainly as a
result of the four A350 sale and leaseback tfransactions executed in 2021.

An impairment of 32.7 million euro was recognized in 2022 related to four A330 aircraft because of the closure
of Russian airspace and the prolonged flight times to many Asian destinations.

74

J



Review of the year 2022

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

Consolidated balance sheet
Consolidated cash flow statement

Consolidated statement
of changes in equity

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

—_—

Operating result

N

Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing
arrangements

Capital structure and financing costs
Consolidation
Other notes

A

Parent company financial statements
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

Auditor's report

= Accounting principles
M = Critical accounting estimates

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

The Report of the
Board of Directors

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Financial Statements

Impairment testing

Impairment testing

The Group reviews its fleet, other fixed assets and other non-current assets for indication of impairment on each
balance sheet date. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit is determined as the higher of
value in use and the fair value less cost to sell. Impairment loss is recognized if an asset’s recoverable amount is below
its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is defined for the cash generating unit, and the impairment is evaluated
at the cash generating unit level.

H Impairment testing of the fleet and other fixed assets

Finnair applies the value in use model as its primary method for determining the recoverable amount of the assets.
Preparation of the calculations used for impairment testing requires the use of significant management judgement
and estimates, which is why the actual outcome may differ from the current management estimates and assumptions
made. The management estimates are based on budgets and forecasts, which already inherently contain some
degree of uncertainty, in addition fo which the COVID-19-pandemic and Russia’s war against Ukraine in Europe has
resulted in increased estimation uncertainty. It is especially difficult to predict the duration of the Russian airspace
closure. Also, the price of jet fuel increased significantly during the year, in addition to which the future fuel price
development, impact of inflation on passenger demand and costs as well as the changes in the economic and
competitive environment are subject to increased uncertainty.

In order to consider the increased uncertainty in its estimates and assumptions, the management has considered
three different forecast scenarios differing mainly in regard to impacts of a possible economic downturn as well as
the estimated duration of the Russian airspace closure. These scenarios, as well as the main identified uncertainties,
are discussed in more detail in the beginning of the notes, in the section Board’s assessment of Finnair as a going
concern. In order to consider the increased uncertainty of its operating environment in the impairment testing, Finnair
is applying the expected cash flow approach which incorporates expectations about all three forecast scenarios
instead of relying on just a single, most likely, cash flow estimate. Determination of the probabilities used for each of
the senarios are based on the management’s best estimate at the time and require the use of significant management
judgement.

Finnair has preparared a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions used in the impairment testing as well as
on changes of the EBITDA-margin. Based on the analysis, the value in use calculation is sensitive to changes in the
discount rate, terminal growth rate, fuel cost as well as to changes in the EBITDA-margin. Key assumptions used and
the related sensitivities are described in more detail below. H

During the fiscal year 2022, Finnair has reviewed quarterly whether indications for impairment exist. Finnair
considers the various adverse economic and business implications relating to the COVID-19 pandemic and the
closure of the Russian airspace following the war in Ukraine as indications of possible impairment and therefore,
impairment test has been carried out as at the balance sheet date. Such indicators include the unprecedented
global market disruptions caused by the pandemic and the war in Ukraine as well as their negative impacts on
the Group's operating environment, financial performance, and capacity utilization.

Impairment review is carried out at the level of a cash-generating unit (CGU’). Finnair is a network carrier
with highly integrated fleet operations and it considers all its fleet (including right-of-use fleet) and other closely
related assets as one CGU. Intangible assets with indefinite useful life have been identified to belong to the
aircraft CGU for impairment testing purposes. At year-end 2022, the amount of other infangible assets with
indefinite useful life in Finnair's balance sheet totaled to 1.4 million euro (1.4). Assets that are held for sale are
excluded from CGU and reviewed separately for impairment. The cash generating unit has been tested for
impairment using the value in use model based on which the recoverable amount of the CGU exceeds its
carrying value at the balance sheet date. The recoverable amount of the CGU as at 31.12.2022 was 2,059.2
million euros (2,748.6) based on expected cash flow approach as described below, and the carrying value of the
assets was 1,635.0 million euros (2,155.8).

The value in use measurement is based on a discounted cash flow model where the cash flow projections
are based on Finnair's strategy approved by the Board of Directors and a management forecast covering
a five-year period. The cash flow projections beyond the five-year period are based on the management’s
long-term growth assumptions. In order to consider the increased uncertainty caused by the Russia’s war in
Ukraine, Finnair is utilizing the expected cash flow approach which is using multiple, probability-weighted cash

Auditor’'s Report J

flow projections based on three different forecast scenarios prepared by the management. The scenarios

and probabilities allocated to each scenario have been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors.
When determining the probabilities, the management has considered, in particular, the heightened uncertainty
surrounding a possible economic downturn as well as the uncertainty related to the duration of the Russian
airspace closure. In the base scenario, which is considered to have a probability of 50%, the Russian airspace
would remain closed for the foreseeable future. In the more pessimistic scenario, which is considered to have

a probability of 30%, the Russian airspace is also estimated to remain closed until the foreseeable future and
additionally, a possible economic downturn to have a negative impact on passenger revenues. In the optimistic
scenario, which is considered to have a probability of 20%, Finnair estimates that the Russian airspace would
open by mid-2025. Finnair expects it will optimize its fleet and network in all three scenarios as well as enhance
its operations in accordance with the renewed strategy during the years 2022—-2024.

Key assumptions used inimpairment review

Dec 31,2022 Dec 31,2021
Discount rate (post-tax long-term weighted average cost of capital), % 85 7.7
Discount rate (pre-tax, derived from the long-term weighted average
cost of capital), % 99 8.8
Long-term growth rate, % 2.6 2.8
Fuel cost range per ton (USD) 952-1015 768—864

Key assumptions used in the impairment review are presented in the table above. The assumptions are

the same for all scenarios except for the long-term growth rate. The long-term growth rate in the optimistic
scenario is 2.8% and in the base scenario and the more pessimistic scenario 2.5%. The long-term growth rate

of the expected cash flow model is 2.6% which is presented in the table. The discount rate used is based on the
weighted average cost of capital (WACC), which reflects the market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to Finnair's business. Both pre-tax and post-tax discount rates are presented above.The
estimated business growth is based on the management’s best estimate at the time of the prepration of the
financial statements and depends the duration of the Russian airspace closure, as well as the development

of market demand and environment. The estimates are benchmarked against external information sources
when available, such as long-term average growth estimates for the industry. Fuel price is based on the hedge-
weighted fuel price based on the forward curve, estimated fuel consumption based on planned flights and the
historical data of fuel consumption for each aircraft type.

Sensitivities of the key assumptions and EBITDA-margin

The calculations used in impairment testing require significant use of management estimates and assumptions.
The Group has prepared a sensitivity analysis to reflect, how the results of the impairment test would react to
changes in key assumptions or EBITDA-margin. The sensitivity analysis considers changes in one assumption at
a time, whereby other assumptions are kept unchanged. Results of the sensitivity analysis reflect the sensitivity of
the recoverable amount based on the expected cash flow model. The table below shows the changes required
to decrease the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying value of the assets to zero.

Dec 31,2022 Dec 31,2021
EBITDA margin % -1.0 %-p -1.1%-p
Discount rate % +1.5%-p +1.4 %-p
Terminal growthrate % -2.1%-p -1.5%-p
Fuel cost, % change in cost level +3% +4 %
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3 Capital structure and financing costs

3.1 Financialincome and expenses

B The notes related to financial assets, liabilities and equity have been gathered into the capital structure and
financing costs-section in order to give a better overview of the Group's financial position. The note ‘Earnings
per share” has been added to the equity section. B

Interest income and expenses

Interestincome and expenses are recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. Interest
expenses related to the financing of significant investments are capitalised as part of the asset acquisition cost and
depreciated over the useful life of the asset.

More detailed information about financial assets can be found in note 3.2 and about interest bearing liabilities in note

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

J

Auditor’s Report

In 2022, foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in financial expenses consist of a net realised
exchange gain of 20.5 million euro and a net unrealised exchange loss of 59.3 million euro which were mostly
caused by strenghtening of US dollar relative to euro. During the year 2022, 1.8 million euros of interest expense
was capitalised in connection with the A350 investment program (1.4). More information about the capitalised
interest can be found in note 2.1 Fleet and other fixed assets.

Other financial expenses include for example guarantee fees as well as interest and penalties related to
taxes.

3.2 Financial assets

Financial assets
In the Group, financial assets have been classified into the following categories according to the IFRS 9 standard
“Financial Instruments”: amortised cost and fair value through profit and loss. The classification is made at the time of
the original acquisition based on the objective of the business model and the characteristics of contractual cash flows
of the investment, or by applying a fair value option. All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss include such assets as investments in bonds and money market
funds. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss have mainly been acquired to obtain a gain from short-
term changes in market prices. All those derivatives that do not fulfil the conditions for the application of hedge

33.
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Financialincome from discontinued hedges 11.6
Interestincome on leases 0.1 1.6
Gains on investment instruments held at FVPL 37 -04
Interest from assets held at amortised cost 2.7 0.0
Ofther interestincome 0.0 0.0
Other financial income 0.1 0.0
Dividend income 0.0 0.0
Financialincome total 6.5 12.8
Financial expenses for discontinued hedges -5.2
Interest on leases -80.1 -62.7
Other financial expenses -29.7 -24.2
Interest expenses for liabilities measured at amortised cost -28.1 -25.7
Financial expenses total -137.9 -117.8
Foreign exchange gains and losses -38.8 -22.5
Financial expenses, net -170.2 -127.5

In the effectiveness testing of the Group’s hedge accounting, both cash flow and fair value hedging were found
to be effective at year end 2022. Thus, as in the comparison year 2021, no inefficiency is included in the financial

accounting are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss and are valued at fair value in each
financial statement. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the
income statement in the period in which they arise. Financial assets recognised at fair value through profit and loss, as
well as those maturing within 12 months, are included in current assets.

In Finnair Group, unquoted shares are valued at their acquisition price in the absence of a reliable fair value.
Investments in debt securities are measured at amortised cost, but only when the objective of the business model is
to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows and the asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments
of principal and interest. Financial assets recognised at amortised cost are valued using the effective interest method.
Financial assets valued at amortised cost include trade receivables and security deposits for aircraft operating lease

agreements. Due to the nature of short-term receivables and other receivables, their book value is expected to be
equal to the fair value.

Derecognition of financial assets takes place when the Group has lost its contractual right to receive cash flows or
when it has substantially transferred the risks and rewards outside the Group.

Impairment of financial assets

Finnair Group recognises impairment provisions based on lifetime expected credit losses from trade receivables

in accordance with IFRS 9. Finnair has chosen to apply a simplified credit loss matrix for trade receivables as trade

receivables do not have a significant financing component. Accordingly, the credit loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. The expected credit loss model is forward-looking, and expected

default rates are based on historical realised credit losses. The lifetime expected credit loss allowance is calculated

using the gross carrying amount of outstanding trade receivables in each aging bucket and an expected default rate.

The changes in expected credit losses are recognised in other expenses in the consolidated income statement. More

information on the credit loss provision on trade receivables can be found in note 1.2.3. Receivables related to revenue.
The impairment model does not apply to financial investments, such as bonds and money market funds, included

in other financial assets as those are measured at fair value through profit and loss under IFRS 9, which already

takes into account expected credit losses. With respect to the assets measured at amortised cost, Finnair is actively

following such instruments and will recognise impairment through profit and loss if there is evidence of deterioration in

items for 2022. The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted Finnair's business negatively both in 2021 and 2022
Additionally, the war in Ukraine impacted the year 2022 negatively. As a result of the negative impacts, in the
comparison year figures the discontinuation of the application of hedge accounting to the majority of hedges
related to jet fuel price risk and foreign exchange risk is visible. The discontinued hedges are shown in profit
and loss instead of other compherensive income. The remaining discontinued hedges matured during the last

quarter of 2021. In 2022 Finnair has resumed normal hedging operations. Financial income and expenses include
an identical amount of profit and loss for fair value hedging instruments and for hedged items resulting from the

hedged risk.

credit quality.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash reserves and short-term bank deposits with maturity of less than three
months. Foreign exchange-denominated items have been converted to euro using the mid-market exchange rates on
the closing date.

76



Review of the year 2022

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

Consolidated balance sheet
Consolidated cash flow statement

Consolidated statement
of changes in equity

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

—_—

Operating result

N

Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing
arrangements

Capital structure and financing costs
Consolidation
Other notes

o oA W

Parent company financial statements
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

Auditor's report

= Accounting principles

Finnair — Financial Information 2022

The Report of the
Board of Directors

Financial Statements

3.2.1 Other current financial assets

Board of Directors’

Proposal on the Dividend Auditor’s Report

Non-current liabilities

J

EUR mill. 2022 2021 EUR mill. 2022 2021
Commercial paper, certificates and bonds 478 19.0 Loans from financial institutions, non-current 399.2 299.7
Money market funds 690.8 5124 JOLCO loans and other 2613 2894
Total 738.6 531.4 Bonds 3979 397.2
Lease liabilities 1128.0 1,204.1
Ratings of counterparties Interest-bearing liabilities total 2,186.4 2,190.3
Betterthan A Non-interest-bearing liabilities 6.3 6.3
A 1.0 Total 21927 2,196.6
BBB 12.0 5.0 L o . . . . S
BB 50 Emncur’s m’reres’r—bgormg I|gb|||es decreased sI!ghTIy during the fmonqgl year 2022. The most S|gn|f|cohf .
financing transactions during 2022 were the withdrawal of the 400 million euro capital loan from the Finnish
Unrated Y 5264 State and the refinancing of the 600 million euro pension premium loan during the last quarter of 2022. Non-
Total 738.6 531.4 interest-bearing liabilities mainly include leases and maintenance reserves related to the aircraft leased to other

As of 31 December 2022, investments in instruments issued by unrated counterparties mostly include investments

in money market funds (EUR 690.8 million euro).

The Group's financial asset investments and risk management policy are described in more detail in note 3.5
Management of financial risks. The IFRS classifications and fair values of the financial assets are presented in

Note 3.6 Classification of financial assets and liabilities.

3.2.2 Cash and cash equivalents

airlines.

aircraft leased to other airlines.

Current interest-bearing liabilities

The Group's JOLCO loans and other include the JOLCO loans (Japanese Operating Lease with Call
Option) for three A350 aircraft and export credit support for one A350 aircraft. Export credit support is a
debt arrangement to finance aircraft. The transactions are treated as loans and owned aircraft in Finnair’s
accounting. Non-interest-bearing liabilities mainly include leases and maintenance reserves related to the

EUR mill 2022 2021 EUR mill 2022 2021
Cash and bank deposits 7858 134.5 Loans from financial institutions, current 199.6 299.8
Total 7858 734.3 JOLCO loans and other 40.4 43.1
The items include cash and bank deposits realised on demand. Foreign currency cash and bank deposits have Bonds 98.9
been valued using the closing date mid-market exchange rates. The reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents Lease liabilities 202.7 176.9
is illustrated in the notes of the consolidated cash flow statement. Total 4427 618.6

3.3 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

JOLCO loans and other include the JOLCO loans (Japanese Operating Lease with Call Option) for three A350
aircraft and export credit support for one A350 aircraft. The tfransactions are treated as loans and owned

aircraft in Finnair's accounting.

Finnair Group'’s financial liabilities are classified into two different classes: amortised cost and fair value through profit

and loss. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value on the basis of the original consideration received.
Transaction costs have been included in the original book value of financial liabilities. Thereafter, all non-derivative
financial liabilities are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are included
in long- and short-term liabilities, and they can be interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing. Loans that are due for
payment within 12 months are presented in the short-term liabilities. Foreign currency loans are valued at the mid-
market exchange rate on the closing date, and translation differences are recognised in the financial items.

Accounts payable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the Bonds

effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities takes place when the Group has fulfilled the contractual obligations.

Fair value Book value
Interest-bearing liabilities, EUR in millions 2022 2021 2022 2021
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities
Lease liabilities 1204.1 1,204.1 1128.0 1,204.1
Loans from financial institutions 305.6 299.7 399.2 299.7

298.0 406.2 3979 397.2
JOLCO loans and other 164.4 289.4 261.3 2894
Total 1,896.0 21994 2,186.4 2,190.3
Current interest-bearing liabilities
Lease liabilities 202.7 176.9 202.7 176.9
Loans from financial institutions 207.3 299.8 199.6 299.8
Bonds 98.9 98.9
JOLCO loans and other 53.0 431 404 431
Total 4629 618.7 4427 618.6
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Fair values of interest-bearing liabilities (excluding lease liabilities) have been calculated by discounting the
expected cash flows using the market interest rate and company’s credit risk premium at the reporting date.
Fair value of bonds has been calculated by using the quoted price of reporting date (75.5).

Short- Long-
Short-term  Long-term termlease termlease
borrowings borrowings liabilities liabilities Total
Totalliabilities from financing
activities, 1 January 2022 4417 986.2 178.9 1,204.1 2,808.9
Repayments 0.0 -144.0 -1934 -337.4
Acquisitions 39 69.2 731
Decreases -5.7 -5.7
Foreign exchange adjustments 144 9.1 66.5 90.0
Reclassification between short-
term and long-term liabilities 201.3 201.3 12.8 -12.8 0.0
Other non-cash movements -0.4 0.6 0.2
Totalliabilities from financing
activities, 31 December 2022 240.0 1,058.4 202.7 1,128.0 2,629.1
Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term
borrowings borrowings lease liabilities lease liabilities Total
Totalliabilities from financing
activities, 1 January 2021 51.5 1,111.0 135.6 880.6 2,178.7
Repayments 0.2 -1549 -146.8 -301.6
Additions 0.0 400.0 2.5 437.0 839.5
Decreases -2.8 -2.8
Foreign exchange adjustments 212 10.4 64.5 96.1
Reclassification between short-
term and long-term liabilities 390.0 -390.0 28.4 -28.4 0.0
Other non-cash movements -1.1 0.0 0.0 -11
Totalliabilities from financing
activities, 31 December 2021 441.7 986.2 176.9 1,204.1 2,808.9
Maturity dates of interest-bearing financial
liabilities 31 Dec 2022 EUR mill. 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Later Total
JOLCO loans and other, fixed interest 26.0 13.0 39.0
JOLCO loans and other, variable interest 40.4 418 89.0 33.0 10.3 512 2658
Loans from financial institutions, variable interest 2000 2000 200.0 600.0
Bonds, fixed interest 400.0 400.0
Lease liabilities, fixed interest 144.4 148.0 150.0 104.6 86.3 3537 9870
Lease liabilities, variable interest 58.2 61.0 515 329 346 105.5 3437
Interest-bearing financial liabilities total 4431 450.8 916.5 183.6 131.2 510.4 2,635.5
Payments from currency derivatives 8094 809.4
Income from currency derivatives -792.1 -8.7 -800.8
Commodity derivatives 4.4 0.2 4.6
Trade payables and other liabilities 2347 2347
Interest payments 121.4 98.9 69.5 39.9 29.8 92.8 4523
Total 8209 5412 986.0 2235 1609 603.2 3,335.7

Auditor’'s Report

Maturity dates of interest-bearing financial

J

liabilities 31 Dec 2021 EUR mill. 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Later Total
JOLCO loans and other, fixed interest 14.0 0.0 421
JOLCO loans and other, variable interest 431 38.2 394 83.8 31.1 579 2935
Loans from financial institutions, variable interest 300.0 0.0 600.0
Bonds, fixed interest 0.0 498.9
Lease liabilities, fixed interest 133.8 135.9 137.5 138.4 954 416.7 10577
Lease liabilities, variable interest 43.0 446 46.5 40.6 26.8 121.6 3233
Interest-bearing financial liabilities total 618.9 518.7 2234 6909 167.3 596.2 2,815.5
Payments from currency derivatives 490.2 0.0 490.2
Income from currency derivatives -506.2 -19 -512.0
Commodity derivatives -3.8 -0.1 -39
Trade payables and other liabilities 181.5 181.5
Interest payments 104.8 91.0 70.8 571 335 107.8 465.1
Total 8854 6078 2904 7480 200.8 704.0 3,436.4

The interest rate re-fixing period is three months for variable interest loans and six months for variable interest
lease liabilities. The bonds maturing do not include the amortised cost of 2.1 million paid in 2021 and due on 2025.
JOLCO loans do not include the amortised cost of 3.1 million euros paid on 2016 and due in 2025 and loans from
financial institutions do not include 1.2 million euros paid as an arrangement fee from the pension premium loan
in 2022. Therefore, the total amount of interest-bearing financial liabilities differs from the book value by the
amount equal to the amortised costs. Also, Finnair has refinanced the 600 million euro pension premium loan
during last quarter of 2022. The loan has an amortization schedule of four 100 million euro and one 200 million
euro instalments. The first instalment is due during the second quarter of 2023 and the second one is due during

the second quarter of 2023.

The minimum lease payments, discount values and present values of lease liabilities are presented in note 2.2

Leasing arrangements.

The currency mix of interest-bearing liabilities is as follows:

EUR mill. 2022 2021
EUR 1170.7 1,291.6
usD 1,418.7 1,468.1
JPY 39.6 492
HKD 0.1 0.0
SGD 0.0 0.1
INR 0.0 0.0
2,629.1 2,808.9

The weighted average effective interest rate on interest-bearing liabilities was 4.0% (3.8%).

Interest rate re-fixing period of interest-bearing liabilities

2022 2021
Up to 6 months 23.6% 21.0%
6—12 months 3.9% 10.7%
1-5years 432% 38.5%
More than 5 years 29.3% 29.9%
Total 100.0% 100.0%
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State aid relating to Finnair's refinancing

State aid in pension premium loan and rights offering

The European Commission has concluded that the State of Finland’s guarantee of Finnair's pension premium
loan up to EUR 540 million, which was approved by the European Commission on 18 May 2020, and the State
of Finland's participation in the rights offering are so closely linked that they must be regarded as an overall
transaction that constitutes State aid within the meaning of Article 107(1) of the Treaty on the Functioning of the
European Union. Under the Commission’s decision, the Company has agreed to certain conditions following the
offering, which include, among other things, a ban on acquisitions, restricting the Company from acquiring a
stake of more than 10 per cent in competitors or other operators in the same line of business, including upstream
or downstream operations for a period of three years from the offering.

As a result of the restrictions based on the Commission’s decision, the remuneration of each member of
Finnair's management will not go beyond the fixed part of his/her remuneration on 31 December 2019. For persons
becoming members of the management on or after the rights issue, the applicable limit of the remuneration for
such new member will be benchmarked to the remuneration of comparable managerial positions and areas
of responsibility in Finnair applied on 31 December 2019. Finnair will not pay bonuses and other variable or
comparable remuneration elements during the three fiscal years 2020—-2022 to the members of the management.

Further, Finnair is committed to publishing information about the use of the aid received within 12 months from the date
of the offering and thereafter periodically every 12 months, for a period of three years. In particular, this should include
information on how the company’s use of the aid received supports its activities in line with EU objectives and national
obligations linked to the green and digital fransformation, including the EU objective of climate neutrality by 2050.

The EU Commission’s competition authority approved the extension of the 540-million-euro guarantee related to
the pension premium loan on 20 June 2022. The extended guarantee is in force until the second quarter of 2026.

State aid in hybrid loan and conversion to capitalloan

Finnair and the State of Finland signed an agreement on 17 March 2021 on a hybrid loan of maximum 400 million
euros to support Finnair. The decision was made by the Plenary Session of the Government on 18 February 2021.
The arrangement has the approval of the EU Commission’s competition authority in line with the European
Union'’s state aid rules. Of the credit limit, approximately 350 million euros can be used by Finnair based on the
state aid decision made by the Commission on 12 March 2021. Finnair is able to access the funds, if its cash or
equity position would drop below the limits defined in the facility’s terms and conditions.

The EU Commission’s competition authority approved the remaining, approximately 50-million-euro share
of the hybrid loan facility on 10 February 2022. Therefore, the whole 400-million-euro hybrid loan facility is at the
company's disposal according to the terms and conditions of the facility.

On 22 June 2022, Finnair withdrew 290 million euros of hybrid bond, which was converted into capital loan on
30 June 2022 based on the decision of the States Council. The EU Commission’s competition authority approved
the conversion of the hybrid loan facility into capital loan on 20 June 2022. More information about the capital
loan can be found in note 3.9.

On 2 September 2022 Finnair withdrew the remaining 110 million euros of the available capital loan. After the
withdrawal the total withdrawn amount is 400 million euro meaning that the capital loan is now fully withdrawn.

State aid in pension premium loan extension

The EU Commission’s competition authority approved the extension of the 540-million-euro guarantee related
to the pension premium loan on 20 June 2022. The pension premium loan maturity is extended until 2025 and the
repayment schedule is amended so that the company will amortise the loan by 100 million euros every 6 months.
However, the remaining two 100-million-euro tranches will be paid in full on 15 May 2025. In accordance with the
loan terms, the pension premium loan is required to have a guarantee. The guarantee is granted by the State of
Finland and a commercial bank.

3.4 Contingent liabilities

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Guarantees on behalf of group companies 525 510
Total 52.5 51.0

3.5 Management of financial risks

Principles of financial risk management

The nature of Finnair Group's business operations exposes the company to a variety of financial risks: foreign
exchange, interest rate, credit, liquidity and commodity price risks. The Group’s policy is to limit the uncertainty
caused by such risks on cash flow, financial performance, balance sheet items and equity.

The management of financial risks is based on the risk management policy prepared by the Financial Risk
Steering Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. The policy specifies the minimum and maximum
levels permitted for each type of risk. Financial risk management is directed and supervised by the Financial Risk
Steering Committee. Practical implementation of the risk management policy and risk management have been
centralized to the parent company’s treasury department.

For the management of foreign exchange, interest rate and jet fuel the company uses different derivative
instruments, such as forward contracts, swaps and options. At inception, derivatives are designated as hedges
of highly probable cash flows (cash flow hedges), hedges of firm orders (hedges of the fair value of firm
commitments) or as financial derivatives where the hedging relationship does not qualify for hedge accounting
(economic hedges). Finnair Group implements cash flow hedging through foreign exchange hedging of highly
probable forecasted sales and costs denominated in foreign currencies and jet fuel price risk, in accordance
with the hedge accounting principles of IFRS 9. Hedge accounting compliant fair value hedges of Finnair Group
consist of interest rate hedges of the issued bond and fair value hedges of firm aircraft purchase commitments.

Fuel pricerisk in flight operations

Fuel price risk means the cash flow and financial performance uncertainty arising from fuel price fluctuations.
Finnair hedges against jet fuel price fluctuations using jet fuel forward contracts and options. The Jet Fuel CIF

Cargoes NWE index is used as the underlying asset of jet fuel derivatives, since over 65 per cent of Finnair's fuel

purchase contracts are based on the benchmark price index for Northwest Europe jet fuel deliveries.
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Finnair applies the principle of time-diversification in its fuel hedging. According to the risk management
policy, the hedging horizon is one year. The risk management policy states that hedging ratio must be increased
during each quarter of the year, so that for the first three months of the hedging period the hedge ratiois
approximately between 60 per cent and 90 per cent, with target ratio being 75 per cent. Thereafter, lower
hedge ratio limits apply for each quarter. Due to hedging, the fuel cost per period is not as low as the spot-based
price when prices fall, but when spot prices rise, the fuel cost rises more slowly.

The hedges of jet fuel consumption are treated as cash flow hedges in accounting, in accordance with the
hedge accounting principles of IFRS 9. During 2022, Finnair has hedged the jet fuel price risk in its entirety, without
separating it info underlying risk components, such as crude oil price risk. However, Finnair has used proxy
hedging for certain layer components of its jet fuel consumption, as described below.

In the hedging of jet fuel price risk, Finnair Group designates layer components of its jet fuel consumption
as hedged items. The layer components are defined as jet fuel consumption linked to different jet fuel price
benchmarks. The first layer is defined as jet fuel purchases based on the Jet Fuel CIF Cargoes NWE index, with
consumption linked to other price benchmarks, notably Cargoes FOB Singapore, representing other layers.
Since the Jet Fuel CIF Cargoes NWE index is used as the underlying of all jet fuel derivatives, they are designated
as proxy hedges for consumption based on other price benchmarks. Therefore, ineffectiveness may arise if
the correlation between the NWE index and the price benchmark for the underlying consumption is not high
enough for the fair value changes in the hedged item and the hedging instrument to be exactly offsetting. Any
ineffectiveness resulting from overhedging or insufficient correlation is recognised in fair value changes in
derivatives and changes in exchange rates of fleet overhauls.

Update in financial risk management

During the year 2022 Finnair returned to normal hedging operations despite the increased uncertainty to
Finnair's operations caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine. Finnair increased the hedging
ratios in jet fuel and foreign exchange steadily during the year 2022 and revised the risk management policy
during the the last quarter of 2022. The risk management policy was updated so that hedging ratio must be
increased during each quarter of the year, so that for the first three months of the hedging period the hedge
ratio is approximately between 60 per cent and 90 per cent, with target ratio being 75 per cent. Thereafter,
lower hedge ratio limits apply for each quarter. The hedging period is 12 months.

Maturity

Timing of the notional Hedged price Notionalamount

Board of Directors’
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and hedged price $/tonne (fonnes) Underlyear 1to2years
31 December 2022

Jet fuel consumption priced with NWE index 1,0429 358,000 338,000 20,000
Jet fuel consumption priced with SING index

31December 2021

Jet fuel consumption priced with NWE index 625.0 68,000 66,000 2,000

Jet fuel consumption priced with SING index - - -

The average hedged price of the instruments hedging highly probabile jet fuel purchases is calculated by taking into account
only the hedging (bought) leg of collar option structures, and therefore represents the least favorable hedged rate. The most
favorable rate, calculated by including only the sold leg of collar option structures, is 879.04 US dollars per tonne for NWE
consumption. Options excluded from hedge accounting are excluded.

At the end of the financial year, Finnair had hedged 41 per cent of its forecasted fuel purchases for the first

six months of 2023 and 21 per cent of the purchases for the second half of the year. In the financial year 2022,
fuel used in flight operations accounted for approximately 35 per cent of Group's turnover. At the end of the
financial year, the forecast for 2023 is approximately 33 per cent of the Group’s turnover. On the closing date,
a 10 per centrise in the market price of jet fuel — excluding hedging activity — increases annual fuel costs by an
estimated 80 million euro. On the closing date — taking hedging into account —a 10 per cent rise in the market
price of jet fuel lowers the operating profit by around 64 million euro.

Auditor’'s Report

Foreign exchangerisk
Foreign exchange risk means the uncertainty in cash flows and financial performance arising from exchange
rate fluctuations.

Finnair Group's foreign exchange risk mainly arises from fuel purchases, aircraft lease liabilities, acquisition
and divestment of aircraft, aircraft maintenance, overflight royalties and foreign currency revenue. About 59
per cent of the Group’s revenue is denominated in euros. The most important foreign revenue currencies are
the Japanese yen (4 per cent, percentage of revenue), the Chinese yuan (2 per cent), the US dollar (8 per cent)
and the Swedish krona (4 per cent). Approximately 45 per cent Group's operating costs are denominated in
foreign currencies. The most important purchasing currency is the US dollar, which accounts for approximately
41 per cent of all operating costs. The most significant US dollar-denominated expense is fuel costs. The largest
investments — aircraft and their spare parts — are also mainly made in US dollars.

The risk management policy divides the foreign exchange position into three parts, namely exposure to
forecasted cash flows, balance sheet position and investment position.

The cash flow exposure mainly consists of sales denominated in a number of different currencies and US
dollar-denominated expenses. Forecasted jet fuel purchases, aircraft materials and overhaul expenses and
traffic charges form a group of similar items that are hedged with the same hedging instrument. The purpose
of currency risk hedging — for cash flow exposure — is to reduce the volatility of cash flows and the comparable
operating result due to fluctuating currency prices. This is done using a layered hedging strategy for the two
biggest sources of currency risk and utilising diversification benefits of the portfolio of various currencies. The
contracts are timed to mature when the cash flows from operating expenses are expected to be settled. The
hedging limits are set only for the main contributors to currency risk: the Japanese yen and the US dollar basket
consisting of the US dollar and the Hong Kong dollar. For both of these, the hedging horizon is one year, which is
divided into four three-month periods. hedging ratio must be increased during each quarter of the year, so that
for the first three months of the hedging period the hedge ratio is approximately between 60 per cent and 90
per cent, with target ratio being 75 per cent. Thereafter, lower hedge ratio limits apply for each quarter.

The investment position includes all foreign currency denominated aircraft investments for which a binding
purchase agreement has been signed as well as commitments for sale and leaseback transactions in the next
four years. According to its risk management policy, Finnair Group hedges 50—-100% of its aircraft investment
exposure. New hedges of investments in aircraft are made as an IFRS 9 fair value hedge of a firm commitment.

Balance sheet exposure consists of foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, as well as
other foreign currency denominated balance sheet items, such as provisions, trade receivables, trade payables
and assets held for sale. Finnair Group has a target hedging ratio of 80% for net positions foreign currency
denominated financial assets and financial liabilities exceeding 10 MEUR. The target ratio is reviewed quarterly.
Maximum hedge ratio for balance sheet position is 100% and minimum is 0%.

At the end of the financial year, Finnair had a hedge level for net operating cash flows of 36 per centin
the USD-basket and 32 per cent in JPY for the coming 12 months. On the closing date — excluding hedges — a
10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the euro has a negative impact on the 12-month result of
around 74 million euro and a 10 per cent weakening of the Japanese yen against the euro has a negative
impact on 12-month of around 8 million euro. On the closing date — taking hedging into account —a 10 per cent
strengthening of the US dollar weakens the result by around 48 million euro and a 10 per cent weakening of the
Japanese yen weakens the result by around 5 million euro. In the above numbers, the USD-basket risk includes
the Hong Kong dollar, which historical correlation with the US dollar is high. The hedge levels for balance sheet
position at the end of the financial year were 70 per cent for USD and 90 per cent for Japanese yen. On the
closing date — excluding hedges — a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the euro has a negative
impact on the result of around 142 million euro and a 10 per cent strengthening of the Japanese yen against
the euro has a negative impact of around 5 million euro. On the closing date — taking hedging into account
—a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar weakens the result by around 43 million euro and a 10 per cent
strengthening of the Japanese yen weakens the result by around 0.5 million euro.
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Foreign exchange balance sheet exposure

EUR mill. 31 December 2021 JPY USD
Net balance sheet items -53.0 -1,134.0
Net hedges of balance sheet items 499 500.5
Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 130.26 117
Foreign exchange exposure from balance sheet items after hedging -3.1 -633.5

Foreign exchange investment exposure

Maturity

Timing of the notional Notional amount Lessthan

EUR mill. 31 December 2022 (gross) lyear 1tfo2years 2to4dyears
UsD 9941 9059 88.1 0.0
JPY 65.1 65.1
Cross-currency interest rate swaps are included in the nominal amount calculation.

Foreign exchange P&L exposure

EUR mill. 31 December 2022 JPY USD-basket
Net forecasted operating cash flows, next 12m 83.4 -707.1
Net operating cash flow hedges, next 12m -26.2 258.5
Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 141.05 1.05
Foreign exchange exposure from operating cash flows after hedging, next 12M 57.1 -448.7

The average exchange rate of the instruments hedging highly probable forecasted sales and purchases
denominated in foreign currencies is calculated by taking into account only the hedging (bought) leg of collar
option structures, and therefore represents the least favorable hedged rate. The most favorable rate, calculated
by including only the sold leg of collar option structures, is 1.14 for USD contracts and 119.60 for JPY instruments.

Foreign exchange balance sheet exposure

EUR mill. 31 December 2022 JPY USD
Net balance sheet items -43.8 -988.5
Net hedges of balance sheet items 38.9 564.1
Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 141.36 1.10
Foreign exchange exposure from balance sheet items after hedging -4.9 -424.5

Foreign exchange investment exposure

EUR mill. 31 December 2022 USD
Net investment position -320.8
Net hedges of investment position 183.7
Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 1.01
Foreign exchange exposure from investment position after hedging -137.1

Foreign exchange P&L exposure

EUR mill. 31 December 2021 UsSD
Net investment position -273.9
Net hedges of investment position 1629
Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 1.20
Foreign exchange exposure from investment position after hedging -111.0
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the cash flow, financial performance and balance sheet uncertainty arising from interest
rate fluctuations.

In Finnair Group, the interest rate risk is measured using the interest rate re-fixing period. If necessary,
interest rate derivatives are used to adjust the interest rate re-fixing period. According to the risk management
policy, the mandate for the investment portfolio’s interest rate re-fixing period is 0—12 months and for interest-
bearing liabilities 36—72 months. On the closing date, the investment portfolio’s interest rate re-fixing period
was approximately 1 month and approximately 48 months for interest-bearing liabilities. On the closing date,
a one percentage point rise in interest rates increases the annual interest income of the investment portfolio
by approximately 13.8 million euros and the interest expenses of the loan portfolio by approximately 3.4 million
euros. The situation as of December 31 2021 is a reasonable representation of conditions throughout the year
given the current market environment.

Future lease agreements expose the group to interest rate risk, as the interest rate is one component of the
lease price. The interest rate is fixed when the lease payments start. If necessary, the group can hedge this
exposure with cash flow hedges.

Timing of the notional

and hedged price range Maturity

Notional amount Less than
31.12.2022 (gross) lyear 1to2years 2to4dyears
Interest rate derivatives 253.1 1649 88.1 0.0

EUR mill. 31 December 2021 JPY USD-basket
Net forecasted operating cash flows, next 12M 223.8 -705.6
Net operating cash flow hedges, next 12M -5.0 57.0
Weighted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 121.09 114
Foreign exchange exposure from operating cash flows after hedging, next 12M 218.8 -648.6

Cross-currency interest rate swaps are included in the nominal amount calculation. Finnair has not entered into
any interest rate derivatives on which it is paying a fixed rate.

Creditrisk

The Group is exposed to counterparty risk when investing its cash reserves and when using derivative
instruments. The credit risk is managed by only making contracts with financially sound domestic and foreign
banks, financial institutions and brokers, within the framework of the risk management policy for counterparty
risk limits. Liquid assets are also invested in money market funds, bonds and commercial papers issued by
conservatively selected companies, according to company-specific limits. This way, risk exposure to any single
counterparty is not significant. Changes in the fair value of Group loans arises from changes in FX and interest
rates, not from credit risk. The Group's credit risk exposure arises from other current financial assets presented
in note 3.2.1, cash and cash equivalents presented in note 3.2.2, trade receivables presented in note 1.2.3 and
derivatives presented in note 3.8.
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Liquidity risk

The goal of the Finnair Group is to maintain good liquidity. Liquidity is ensured by cash reserves, bank account
limits, liquid money market investments and committed credit facilities. Counterparties of groups’ long term
loans are solid financial institutions with good reputations.

The war in Ukraine or the COVID-19 pandemic has not had a direct impact on the basic principles of Finnair's
liquidity risk management. However, due to the continued uncertainty in 2022 Finnair has kept relatively high
liquidity levels. The liquidity was kept on high levels mainly through new financing as well as refinancing maturing
debt. The most significant financing transactions during the year 2022 were the withdrawal of the 400 million
euro capital loan during the second and third quarter of 2022 and the refinancing of the 600 million euro
pension premium loan during the last quarter of the 2022.

The Group's cash funds were 1,524.4 million euro at the end of financial year 2022. Finnair Plc has a domestic
commercial paper program of 200 million euro, which was not in use as of the closing date.

Capitalmanagement

The aim of Finnair's capital management is to secure access to the capital markets at all times despite the
volatile business environment, as well as to support future business development. Through maintaining an
optimal capital structure the Group also aims to minimize the cost of capital and maximize the return on capital
employed. The capital structure is influenced viag, for example, dividend distribution and share issues. The Group
can vary and adjust the level of dividends paid to shareholders, the amount of capital returned to them or the
number of new shares issued. The Group can also decide on sales of asset items in order to reduce debt. The
aim of Finnair's dividend policy is to pay on average at least one third of the earnings per share as dividends
during an economic cycle.

The COVID-19 pandemic as well as the war in Ukraine stillimpact Finnair's business and operating enviroment
and therefore the balance sheet and capital structure. During the year 2022 Finnair strengthened the capital
structure by withdrawing the 400 million euro capital loan, which according to the terms and conditions of the
facility is considered to be equity. The development of the Group's capital structure is continuously monitored
using the adjusted gearing ratio. When calculating adjusted gearing, adjusted interest-bearing net debt is
divided by the amount of shareholders’ equity. The Group’s adjusted gearing at the end of 2022 was 266.4 per
cent (321.8).

Sensitivity analysis of the fair value reserve

If the price of Jet fuel CIF NWE had been 10 per cent higher, the balance of the reserve would have been 16.1
million euro (2.6) higher. Correspondingly, a 10 per cent weaker Jet fuel CIF NWE price would have reduced the
reserve by 17.6 million euro (2.6). In terms of the US dollar, a 10 per cent weaker level would have lowered the
balance of the fair value reserve by 25.4 million euro (3.3) and a 10 per cent stronger dollar would have had a
positive impact of 25.4 million euro (3.3). In terms of Japanese yen, a 10 per cent stronger yen would have had a
negative impact of 2.6 million euro (0.5), and a 10 per cent weaker level would have increased the balance of the
fair value reserve by 2.6 million euro (0.5). The effect of change in interests to the fair value reserve in own equity
is not material. The enclosed sensitivity figures do not take into account any change in deferred tax liability (tax
assets).

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

3.6 Classification of financial assets and liabilities

Hedge Fair value
accounting through profit Amortised

EUR mill. items and loss cost Book value

31Dec 2021

Financial assets

Receivables 37 37

Other financial assets 738.6 738.6

Trade receivables and other receivables 256.9 256.9

Derivatives 8.6 14.9 235

Cash and cash equivalents 785.8 785.8

Book value total 8.6 753.5 1,046.3 1,808.5

Fair value total 8.6 753.5 1,406.3 1,808.5

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 1,298.5 1,298.5

Lease liabilities 1,330.7 1,330.7

Derivatives 33.1 35 36.7

Trade payables and other liabilities 2347 2347

Book value total 331 3.5 2,863.8 2,900.5

Fair value total 33.1 3.5 2,358.9 2,395.6

Hedge Fair value
accounting through profit Amortised

EUR mill. items and loss cost Book value

31Dec 2021

Financial assets

Receivables 33 33

Other financial assets 5314 5314

Trade receivables and other receivables 166.7 166.7

Derivatives 13.7 12.4 26.1

Cash and cash equivalents 7343 7343

Book value total 13.7 543.8 904.3 1,461.8

Fair value total 13.7 543.8 904.3 1,461.8

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 1,427.9 14279

Lease liabilities 1,381.0 1,381.0

Derivatives 0.3 0.1 04

Trade payables and other liabilities 2347 2347

Book value total 0.3 0.1 3,043.6 3,044.0

Fair value total 0.3 0.1 3,052.7 3,053.1
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In this note interest rate derivatives (currency and interest-rate swaps) are included in derivatives. ltem

Receivables mainly includes USD-denominated security deposits for leased aircraft. Trade payables and other

liabilities include trade payables as well as other interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing liabilities.
Derivatives are valued at fair value, with further details in the fair value hierarchy. Financial assets valued at EUR mill. 2022 2021

Consolidated income statement

3.7 Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

fair value are money market funds (fair value hierarchy level 1) and bonds, or commercial papers (fair value Derivative assets gross amounts 235 26.1
) hIeI’CII’Chy level 2) Receivables are mC”nly current and the book value is equiVCﬂenT to the fair VC||ue, because Amounts of financial assets presenfed inthe balance sheet 23.5 26.1
Consolidated balance sheet the discount effect is not s?gnificon’r. Pension premium loan and is;ued .bopd r.r?gke.’rhe most sighificon’r part of Enforceable master netting agreement 212 04
the loans valued at amortised cost. Breakdown of fair values of financial liabilities is presented in note 3.3. The .
: o . . Lt . . . . Derivative assets net amount 2.3 25.7
Consolidated cash flow statement valuation principles of financial assets and liabilities are outlined in the accounting principles.
. Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value
Consolidated statement EUR mill. 2022 2021

of changes in equity

Fair values at the end of the reporﬁng period Derivative liabilities gross amounts -36.7 -0.4
. Amounts of financial liabilities presented in the balance sheet -36.7 -04
. EUR mill. 31Dec 2022 Level1 Level 2
:!oies !olfhfe ;:onsol;da’red Assots Enforceable master netting agreement 212 0.4
inancial statements Derivative liabilites net amount -15.5 0.0

Financial assets at fair value

1. Operating result Securities held for trading 738.6 690.8 47.8 For the above financial assets and liabilities, subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing arrangements, each agreement between the Group and the counterparty allows net settlement of the relevant
arrangements Derivatives financial assets and liabilities when both parties choose to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such mutual
. . . : : decision, financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party of the master netting
3. Capital structure and financing costs gurrency gno'l m’r::-res’r rate swaps and opfions 132 132 agreement, or similar agreement, will have the option to settle on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.
4. Consolidation urrenFy - erivatives : : : Depending on the terms of each agreement, an event of default includes failure by a party to make a payment when
£ Othernotes -of WhICh. in cos.h flc?w hedge accounting 0.1 0.1 due, failure by a party to perform any obligation required by the agreement (other than payment), if such failure is
' _ _ Commodity derivatives 95 9.5 not remedied within periods of 30 to 60 days after notice of such failure is given to the party, or bankruptcy.
6. Parentcompany financial statements - of which in cash flow hedge accounting 8.6 8.6
Total 7621 690.8 7.3 . .
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend 3.8 Derivatives
Liabilities
Auditor's report Financial liabilities at fair value Derivative contracts and hedge accounting
R According to its risk management policy, Finnair Group uses foreign currency, interest rate and commodity derivatives to
Derivatives reduce the exchange rate, interest rate and commodity risks which arise from the Group's balance sheet items, foreign
Currency and interest rate swaps and options 2.8 2.8 currency denominated purchase agreements, anticipated foreign currency denominated purchases and sales as well as
Currency derivatives 19.8 19.8 future jet fuel purchases. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into derivative financial contracts for speculative purposes.
— X X The derivatives are initially recognised as well as subsequently valued at fair value in each financial statement and
- of whichin fair value hedge accounting 1.6 1.6 interim report. The fair values of the derivatives are based on the value at which the instrument could be exchanged
- of which in cash flow hedge accounting 74 74 between knowledgeable, willing and independent parties, with no compulsion to sell or buy in the sales situation. The fair
Commodity derivatives 14.1 14.1 values of derivatives are determined as follows:
— ) The fair values of all derivatives are calculated using the exchange rates, interest rates, volatilities and commodity
- of whichin cash flow hedge accounting 14.1 14.1 price quotations on the closing date. The fair values of currency forward contracts are calculated as the present value
Total 36.7 36.7 of future cash flows. The fair values of currency options are calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The

fair values of interest rate swap contracts are calculated as the present value of future cash flows. The fair values of cross-
currency interest rate swap contracts are calculated as the present value of future cash flows. The fair values of interest
rate options are calculated using generally accepted option valuation models. The fair values of commodity forward
contracts are calculated as the present value of future cash flows. The fair values of commodity options are calculated
using generally accepted option valuation models.

The Group uses credit valuation adjustment for cross-currency interest rate swaps as the maturities of these derivatives
are long. The credit valuation adjustment is not done for the rest of the derivatives as the maturities for these are short and
the impact would not be material. Credit risk management is described in more detail in note 3.5.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are presented in the financial statements according to the originall
classification of the derivative. Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised in accordance
with the nature of the risk being hedged. At inception, derivative contracts are designated as hedges of future cash flows,
hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities and binding purchase contracts (cash flow hedges or fair value
hedges) or as derivatives not meeting the hedge accounting criteria or to which hedge accounting is not applied (economic
hedges). Hedging of the fair value of net investments of foreign units or embedded derivatives have not been used.

At the inception of hedge accounting, Finnair Group documents the economic relationship and the hedge ratio between
the hedged item and the hedging instrument, as well as the Group'’s risk management objectives and the strategy for

During the financial year, no significant tfransfers took place between fair value hierarchy Levels 1and 2.

The fair values of hierarchy Level 1 are fully based on quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets of the
same assets and liabilities.

The fair values of Level 2 instruments are, to a significant extent, based on input data other than the quoted
prices included in Level 1, but still mainly based on directly observable data (price) or indirectly observable data
(derived from price) for the particular asset or liability.

On the other hand, the fair values of Level 3 instruments are based on asset or liability input data that is not
based on observable market information (unobservable inputs). The fair values are based on confirmations
supplied by counterparties, based on generally accepted valuation models.

= Accounting principles
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the inception of hedging. At the inception of hedging, and at least at the time of each financial statement, the Group
documents and assesses the effectiveness of hedge relationships by examining the past and prospective capacity of
the hedging instrument to offset changes in the fair value of the hedged item or changes in cash flows. The values of
derivativesin a hedging relationship are presented in the balance sheet item Short—term financial asset and liabilities.

Finnair Group implements the IFRS hedge accounting principles in the hedging of future cash flows (cash flow hedging).
The principles are applied to the price and foreign currency risk of jet fuel, the foreign currency risk of lease payments
and the foreign currency risk of highly probable future sales and costs denominated in foreign currencies. The IFRS fair
value hedge accounting principles are applied to the hedging of foreign exchange and interest rate risk of aircraft.

The change in the fair value of the effective portion of derivative instruments that have been designated and qualify
as cash flow hedges are recognised in comprehensive income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve, to
the extent that the requirements for the application of hedge accounting have been fulfilled and the hedge is effective.
The gains and losses, recognised in the fair value reserve, are transferred to the income statement in the period in which
the hedged item is recognised in the income statement. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised, or the criteria for cash flow hedge accounting are no longer fulfilled, but the hedged forecast fransaction
is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in the hedge reserve and is recognised in
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the underlying hedged transaction is no longer
expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in the hedge reserve with respect to the
hedging instrument is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

The effectiveness of hedging is tested on a quarterly basis. The effective portion of the hedges is recognised in the fair
value reserve of other comprehensive income, from which it is transferred to the income statement when the hedged
item is realised or, in ferms of investments, as an acquisition cost adjustment.

Fair value hedging isimplemented on firm orders of new aircraft, and in order to hedge the fixed interest rate bond. The binding
purchase agreements for new aircraft are treated as firm commitments under IFRS, and therefore, the fair value changes of the
hedged part arising from foreign currency movements are recognised in the balance sheet as an asset item, and corresponding
gains or losses recognised through profit and loss. Similarly, the fair value of instruments hedging these purchases is presented in
the balance sheet as a liability or receivable, and the change in fair value is recognised in profit and loss.

The gain or loss related to the effective portion of the interest rate swap, which hedges the fixed interest rate bond, is
recognised as financial income or expenses in the income statement. The gain or loss related to the ineffective portionis
recognised within other operating income and expenses in the income statement. The change in the fair value attributable to
the interest rate risk of the hedged fixed interest rate loans is recognised in the financial expenses in the income statement.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged
item, for which the effective interest method is used, is amortized to profit or loss over the period to maturity.

Finnair Group uses cross-currency interest rate swaps in the hedging of the interest rate and foreign exchange risks
of foreign currency denominated loans. Cross-currency interest rate swaps are excluded from hedge accounting,
and therefore the fair value changes are recognised in derivative assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, as well as
in the financial income and expenses in the income statement. The fair value changes of the loans are simultaneously
recognised in the financial income and expenses. Realised foreign exchange rate differences, as well as interestincome
and expenses, are recognised in the financial income and expenses against the exchange rate differences and interest
income and expenses of the loan

Finnair Group uses jet fuel swaps (forward contracts) and options in the hedging of jet fuel price risk. Unrealised gains
and losses on derivatives hedging jet fuel, which are designated as cash flow hedges and fulfil the requirements of IFRS
hedge accounting, are recognised in the hedging reserve within other comprehensive income. Accrued derivative
gains and losses, recognised in shareholders’ equity, are recognised as income or expense in the income statement
in the same financial period as the hedged item is recognised in the income statement. If a forecasted cash flow is no
longer expected to occur, and as a result the IFRS hedge accounting criteria are not fulfilled, the fair value changes
and the accrued gains and losses reported in shareholders’ equity are transferred to the items affecting comparability
in the income statement. Changes in the fair value of jet fuel swaps and options excluded from hedge accounting are
recognised in fair value changes in derivatives in the income statement, while the realised result is presented in fuel costs.

For forward and option contracts, an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument
as the hedging instrument and the hedged item are expected to move in opposite directions because of the same
underlying exposure. This is frue for all hedge relationships except for the SING consumption hedged with NWE hedges
(as described in section 3.5). In that case, the underlying is different, but the underlying hedged item (SING) and the hedge
(NWE) have a historical correlation of 0.99. Therefore, it can be classified as a relationship where the underlying and the
hedge are economically closely related. Ineffectiveness on fuel derivatives can also arise from timing differences on the
notional amount between the hedged instrument and hedged item, significant changes in credit risk of parties to the
hedging relationship and changes in the total amount of the hedged item, for instance if the underlying fuel consumption
forecast is not accurate enough, that can result in overhedging. However, as Finnair usually hedges less than 100% of its
exposure, the risk of overhedging is insignificant. Finnair has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for hedging relationships.

Finnair uses forward contracts and options to hedge its exposure to foreign currency denominated cash flows. The
hedges of cash flows denominated in foreign currencies are treated as cash flow hedges in accounting, in accordance
with the hedge accounting principles of IFRS 9. Unrealised gains and losses on hedges of forecasted cash flows
qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised in the hedging reserve in OCI, while the change in the fair value of such
hedges not qualifying for hedge accounting is recognised in Fair value changes in derivatives and changes in exchange

rates of fleet overhauls in the income statement. The change in fair value recognised in the hedging reserve in equity is
transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction is realised. Forward points are included in the hedging
instrument and in the hedge relationship. Potential sources of ineffectiveness include changes in the timing of the hedged
item, significant changes in the credit risk of parties to the hedging relationship and changes in the total amount of the
hedged item, for instance if the underlying cash flow forecast is not accurate enough, that can result in overhedging.
However, as Finnair usually hedges less than 100% of its exposure, the risk of overhedging is insignificant. Realised profit
or loss on derivatives hedging JPY-denominated operating cash flows is presented in revenue, realised profit or loss on
derivatives hedging a group of similar USD costs is proportionally recognised in corresponding expense lines, while profit
or loss on derivatives hedging cash flows denominated in other currencies is presented in Other expenses.

The hedge ratio is defined as the relationship between the quantity of the hedging instrument and the quantity of
the hedged item in terms of their relative weighting. With currency hedging, the hedge ratiois typically 1:1. For forward
and option contracts, an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as there
is an expectation that the value of the hedging instrument and the value of the hedged item would move in opposite
directions because of the common underlying exposure.

Changes in the fair value of interest rate derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised in financial
income and expenses in the income statement. Changes in the fair value as well as realised gain or loss on forward
contracts used to hedge foreign currency denominated balance sheet items of Finnair Group are recognised in financial
expenses. Changes in the fair value and the realised result of hedges of assets held for sale are recognised in ltems
affecting comparability.

Cost of hedging

At Finnair, the time value of an option is excluded from the designation of a financial instrument and accounted for as

a cost of hedging. Up on initial recognition, Finnair defers any paid premium in the cost of hedging reserve within other
comprehensive income. The fair value changes of the time value are recognised in the cost of hedging reserve within
other comprehensive income. The premium will be transferred to the consolidated income statement in the same period
that the underlying transaction affects the consolidated income statement for transaction-related hedges. As of 31
December 2022, Finnair has deferred premiums only on tfransaction-related hedges.

Impact of COVID-19 to hedge accounting and derivatives

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic impacts on Finnair's underlying business during 2020 and 2021, the hedging operations
regarding foreign exchange currencies and jet fuel price risk were impacted. Much lower demand as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic during the year 2020 meant that the amount of underlying risk was significantly reduced from
forecasted amounts forcing Finnair to discontinue hedge accounting on the majority of its hedges in foreign exchange
and jet fuel that were under hedge accounting. The last discontinued hedging relationships matured during the last
quarter of 2021 and the realized gains or losses are shown in financial income and expenses. In the last quarter of 2021
Finnair restarted its hedging program in foreign exchange as well as jet fuel according to the revised risk management
policy. The risk management policy was further revised in December 2022. More information about the revised risk
management policy can be found in note 3.5.

Impact of war in Ukraine to hedging operations

Finnair's operating environment has become significantly more difficult since the publication of the 2021 financial
statements, due to the escalation of the geopolitical situation in Eastern Europe resulting from Russia’s attack against
Ukraine. The resulting sanctions, and countersanctions, led to the closure of Russian airspace which has had a significant
impact on the routings and operating costs of Finnair's flights to Asia. Also, the price of jet fuel increased significantly
during the financial year and increased the uncertainty. At the same time, the COVID-19 pandemic continues to still have
an impact on Finnair’s business, especially in the Asian markets, which is also contributing to the uncertainty relating

to the near- and long-term development of its operating environment. The war in Ukraine did not directly impact the
hedging operations of Finnair and after publishing the revised strategy the risk management policy was also updated in
December 2022. More detailed information about the update can be found from the note 3.5.

H Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty

Finnair accounts for its cash flow hedges of forecasted foreign currency denominated purchases and sales and future
jet fuel purchases in accordance with the IFRS 9. Under the hedge accounting principles, a forecast transaction can be
designated as a hedged item only if that fransaction is considered as highly probable. The evaluation of probability is
based on the management forecasts about the future level of Finnair's operations and cash flows. Such forecasts require
the use of management judgement and assumptions, which inherently contain some degree of uncertainty that is further
increased due to the COVID-19-pandemic. Should the expected circumstances or outcome change in the future, the
management would need to reassess whether a hedged forecast fransaction is still highly likely to occur. This could be
the case if, for example, the expected recovery and thus the expected jet fuel consumption levels would not realize as
expected. Should the forecast transaction no longer be highly probable, it would no longer qualify as an eligible hedged
item and hedge accounting would need to be discontinued. Should it no longer be expected to occur at all, the balance
of the cash flow hedge reserve included in other comprehensive income would need to be reclassified to profit or loss. H
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Hedged itemsin hedge relationships

J

The Report of the Financial Statements Board of Directors’
Board of Directors Proposal on the Dividend
2022 2021
Positive Negative Positive Negative

Nominal fair fair Fairnet Nominal fair fair Fairnet
EUR mill. value values values  value value values values  value
Currency derivatives
Jet fuel currency hedging
Operational cash flow hedging
(forward contracts) 284.7 0.1 -74 -73 574 0.8 -0.1 0.7
Operational cash flow hedging,
bought options 45 0.0 0.0
Operational cash flow hedging,
sold opftions 43 0.0 0.0
Fair value hedging of aircraft
acquisitions 183.7 -11.6 -11.6 1629 8.8 8.8
Hedging of lease payments
Hedge accounting items total 468.4 0.1 -19.0 -18.9 229.2 9.6 -0.1 9.5
Balance sheet hedging
(forward contracts) 3377 04 -0.7 -0.3 270.1 0.1 -0.1 0.0
ltems outside hedge
accounting total 337.7 0.4 -0.7 -0.3 2701 0.1 -0.1 0.0
Currency derivatives total 806.1 0.5 -19.8 -19.3 499.3 9.7 -0.2 9.5
Commodity derivatives
Jet fuel forward contracts, tonnes 209,000 34 -6.0 -25 68,000 41 -0.2 39
Bought options, jet fuel, fonnes 149,000 49 -0.2 48
Sold options, jet fuel, tonnes 149,000 0.2 -79 -7.8
Hedge accounting items total 8.6 -14.1 -5.6 4.1 -0.2 3.9
Bought options, jet fuel, fonnes 149,000 0.9 0.9
Items outside hedge
accounting total 0.9 0.9
Commodity derivatives total 9.5 -14.1 -4.6 4.1 -0.2 3.9
Cross currency interest rate swaps 2531 13.5 -2.8 10.7 280.3 12.3 12.3
Items outside hedge
accounting total 253.1 13.5 -2.8 10.7 280.3 12.3 12.3
Interest rate derivatives total 253.1 13.5 -2.8 10.7 280.3 12.3 12.3
Derivatives total * 23.5 -36.7 -13.2 26.1 -0.4 25.7

* Positive (negative) fair value of hedging instruments as of 31.12.2022 is presented in the statement of financial position in the item
derivative financial instruments within current assets (derivative financial instruments within current liabilities). Uncertainty and

discontinued hedging relationships due to the COVID-19 pandemic are visible in the comparison figures. However, during the year

2022 Finnair has resumed normal hedging operations..

Changesin
Accumulated Changesin fair value of
amount of fair value Lineitem fairvalueof thehedging
hedge adjustments inthe the hedged instrument
includedinthe statement itemused for used for
Carryingamountof carryingamountof  offinancial calculating  calculating
the hedged item the hedged item positionin  hedgeinef- hedgeinef-
whichthe fectiveness, fectiveness,
hedgeditem previous12 previousi12
31December 2022 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities isincluded months months
Cash flow hedges
Jet fuel price risk
- Forecasted jet fuel
purchases -191.3 217
Foreign exchange risk
- Forecasted sales
and purchases -59.3 25
Fair value hedges
Foreign exchange risk
Non-current
- Aircraft acquisitions 11.6 11.6 assets -17.0 79
Ratings of derivative counterparties
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Better than A 0.7 9.1
A -11.9 16.6
BBB 0.0
Total -13.2 25.7
Derivatives realised through profit and loss
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Jet fuel hedging Fuel costs 213 7.6
Operational cash flow hedging Fuel costs 8.4 -4.2
Operational cash flow hedging Aircraft materials and overhaul 04 -0.2
Operational cash flow hedging Traffic charges 05 -1.0
Operational cash flow hedging Revenue 03 24
Expenses of hedge accounting items total 31.0 45
Discontinued Jet fuel hedging Financial expenses -26.5
Balance sheet hedging Financial expenses 16.6 155
Discontinued foreign currency hedging Financial expenses 34
Cross-currency interest rate swaps Financial expenses 55 2.3
Expenses of items outside
hedge accounting total 18.9 -5.3
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3.9 Equity-related information

Shareholders’ equity
The nominal value of shares had been recognised in the share capital before an amendment to the Articles of
Association registered on 22 March 2007. Share issue profit and gains on sale of own shares had been recognised in
other restricted funds before the change in the Limited Liability Company Act in 2006.

The subscription proceeds from the 2007 share issue less transaction costs after taxes as well as share-based
payments according to IFRS 2 have been recognised in the unrestricted equity funds.

The rights issue proceeds from 2020 less the fransaction costs has been recognized in the unrestricted equity funds

Hedging reserve and other OCl items include changes in the fair value of derivative instruments used in cash-flow
hedging, in addition to actuarial gains and losses related to defined benefit pension plans, cost of hedging and
translation differences.

The acquisition cost of repurchased owned shares less transaction costs after taxes is charged to equity until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. The consideration received for sale or issue of own shares is included in equity.

The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is not deducted from distributable equity until approved at the
Annual General Meeting.

The hybrid bond is recognised in equity. It is unsecured and subordinated to all senior debt. The hybrid bond does
not confer shareholders' rights, nor does it dilute the holdings of shareholders. Finnair is not required to redeem the

hybrid bond at any time and they are not redeemable on demand of the holders of the hybrid bond. Interest expenses
are debited from retained earnings on cash basis net of tax. In the calculation of earnings per share, interest expenses

for the hybrid bond are included in the earnings for the financial year.
The capital loanis recognised in equity. In the calculation of earnings per share, interest expenses and other fees for
the capital loan are included in the earnings for the financial year.

Macroeconomic factors continue to be a key driver of air transportation demand, as there has historically been
a strong correlation between air travel and the development of macroeconomic factors such as GDP. Due to
this correlation, aviation is an industry which is highly sensitive to global economic cycles and reacts quickly to
external disruptions, seasonal variations and economic trends, as the global COVID-19 pandemic and the war in
Ukraine have demonstrated.

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

Group'’s hedgingreserve and other OClitems

J

Lineitem
Unrealised Discontinued affectedin
Amounts  gainsand hedges profit or loss
reclassified losses reclassified Changein because of
to profitor recognised tofinancial accounting the reclassi-
EUR mill. 2022 loss in OCI expenses principles 2021 fication
Jet fuel price
hedging -59 -21.3 1.6 39 Fuel costs
Jet fuel currency
hedging Fuel costs
Lease
Hedging of lease payments
payments for aircraft
Revenue
Operating cash flow and cost
hedging -1.3 -9.7 1.6 0.7 lines*
Hedging of interest Lease
related to future payments
lease payments -3.6 0.7 -43  for aircraft
The actuarial
gains and losses of
defined benefit plan 704 499 205
Translation
differences
Cost of hedging
reserve 3.3 33 0.0
Tax effect -14.1 -99 -4.2
Total 42.8 -30.3 56.5 0.0 0.0 16.6

*Forward and option contracts hedging forecasted sales and purchases denominated in foreign currencies are hedges of
a group of similar hedged items, and the amounts reclassified from OCl to P&L are proportionally allocated to different cost

lines based on the realised cost amounts. Amounts reclassified to revenue and different cost lines are specified in the table
“Derivatives realised through profit or loss” in note 3.8.

Maturity dates of fair values recognised in the hedgingreserve

Number of shares 2022 2021
Number of outstanding shares in the beginning of the financial year 1,405,980,132 1,407,230,605
Purchase of own shares -1,800,000
Shares granted from the share-bonus scheme 2018—2020 36,903
Shares granted from the share-bonus scheme 2019-2021 119,737

Shares granted from FlyShare employee share savings plans 902,093 512,624
Number of outstanding shares at the end of the financial year 1,407,001,962 1,407,980,132
Own shares held by the parent company 399,303 1,421,133

Total number of shares at the end of the financial year

1,407,401,265 1,407,401,265

Finnair Plc's share capital, paid in its entirety and registered in the trade register, was at 75,442,904.30 euros at
the end of 2021 and 2022. The shares have no nominal value. During the year 2022, Finnair transferred a total
of 902,093 shares to FlyShare participants and a total of 119,737 shares to participants in Finnair's share-based
incentive scheme 2019-2021.

EUR mill. 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Later Total
Jet fuel price hedging -55 -0.4 -5.9
Operating cash flow hedging -71.3 -71.3
Hedging of interest related to future

lease payments -0.7 -0.7 -0.7 -0.7 -0.7 -3.6
The actuarial gains and losses of

defined benefit plan 704 704
Cost of hedging reserve 33 33
Tax effect -14.7 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 -14.1
Total 455 -0.9 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 0.0 428
Hybrid bond

Shareholders’ equity (after equity belonging to the owners) includes a 200 million euro hybrid bond that was
issued during the third quarter of 2020. The hybrid bond couponis fixed at 10.25 per cent per year for the first

three years, and thereafter fixed, at 15.25 per cent per year. Finnair can postpone interest payment if it does not
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distribute dividends or any other equity to its shareholders. The bond has no maturity date, but the company has

the right to redeem it in three years and on every interest payment date thereafter. The overall hybrid bond net
position recognised in equity is 198 million euro, due to issuing expenses. The hybrid bond is unsecured and in a
weaker preference position than promissory notes. A holder of hybrid bond notes has no shareholder rights.

Capitalloan

During the second and third quarter of 2022 Finnair has withdrawn a 400 million euro capital loan. The capital
loan does not have a determined maturity date, and it can be repaid in accordance with the Limited Liability
Companies Act and terms and conditions specified in the capital loan agreement. Finnair can pay accrued
interest and other payments from the loan if the conditions and the rules of the Limited Liability Companies Act

are met. The interest accrued on the capital loan has not been recorded as an expense. The overall capital loan

net position recognised in equity is 400 million euro.

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share figure is calculated by dividing the result for the financial year attributable to the
parent company’s shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial

year. The result for the financial year is adjusted for the after-tax amounts of hybrid bond interests and capital
loan interests and other fees regardless of payment date, as well as transaction costs of the new hybrid bond

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

4 Consolidation

B Notes under the Consolidation section include a description of the general consolidation principles and
methods of consolidation. The aim of the section is o provide an overall picture of the group'’s structure and
principles applied in preparing consolidated financial statements and classifying ownership interests. In
addition, notes include information about subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures held, acquired
or sold by the group. H

4.1 General consolidation principles

Consolidation

Consolidation, the consolidation method and classification of ownership interests depend on whether Group
has power to control or jointly control the entity or if it has significant influence or other interests in the entity.
When Group has the power to control the entity, it is consolidated as a subsidiary in the group according to
principles described in the note 4.2 Subsidiaries. When Group has joint control or significant influence over an
entity but does not have the power to control, an entity is accounted for by using the equity method according

issued and premium paid, when a hybrid bond is redeemed. When calculating the earnings per share adjusted to principles set in note 4.4 Investments in associates and joint ventures. If Group does not have power to control
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for dilution, the weighted average of the number of shares takes into account the diluting effect resulting from

the conversion into shares all potentially diluting shares. Finnair has not granted any options.

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Result for the financial year, EUR mill. -476.2 -464.3
Hybrid bond interest, EUR mill. -20.5 -20.5
Capitalloan cost, EUR mil. -15.9

Tax effect 73 4]
Adjusted result for the financial year -505.3 -480.7
Weighted average number of shares, mill. Pcs 1,406.8 1,406.1
Basic earnings per share, EUR -0.36 -0.34
Diluted earnings per share, EUR -0.36 -0.34
Effect of own shares, EUR 0.00 0.00
Dividend

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend is paid for 2022. In accordance

with the proposal of the Board of Directors, the Annual General Meeting on 7 April 2022 resolved that no

dividend be paid based on the balance sheet adopted for the year 2021.

Finnair Plc's distributable equity

EUR mill. 2022
Hedging reserve 2l
Unrestricted equity funds 7729
Retained earnings -698.7
Received grants -6.0
Result for the financial year -350.2
Distributable equity total -291.9

nor significant influence in the entity, its ownership interests are classified as financial assets available for sale
and accounted for according to principles described in the note 3.2 Financial assets.

4.2 Subsidiaries

Consolidation principles of subsidiaries
Finnair PIc's consolidated financial statements include the parent company Finnair Plc and all of its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are defined as companies in which Finnair has control. Control exists when Finnair has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Usually Finnair has power over the entity when it owns more than 50% of the votes or where Finnair otherwise has
the power to govern the financial and operating policies. The acquired subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the day the Group has control, and disposed subsidiaries until the control ceases.

Acquired and established companies are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly,
the acquired company’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at fair value on the date
of acquisition. The excess between purchase price and fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets is
recognised as goodwill.

Allinter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless there is evidence of impairment related to the transferred
asset. The accounting principles of subsidiaries have been changed to correspond Group's accounting policies.

Non-controlling interest and transactions with non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interests are presented within the equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, separated from equity
attributable to owners of the parent. For each acquisition the non-controlling interest can be recognised either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquirer's net assets. The carrying amount of non-
controlling interests is the amount of the interests at initial recognition added with the non-controlling interests’ share of
subsequent changes in equity.
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. ) . ty t tions.
Consolidated statement Name of the company ownership % Name of the company ownership % partyfransactions
of comprehensive income - : ; ; . . . s
P Finnair Cargo Oy, Finland 100.0 Amadeus Finland Oy, Finland 950 Information on the Group’s associates and joint ventures 31 Dec 2022
Oy Aurinkomatkat - Suntours Ltd Ab, . - L . L
Consolidated balance sheet Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy, Finland 100.0 Finland 100.0 EUR mill Domicile Assets Liabilities Revenue Profit/Loss  Holding %
Finnair Technical Services Oy Nordic Regional Airlines AB Sweden 133.9 134.2 77.1 05 40.00
Consolidated cash flow statement F?nlon.d | | | 100.0 Aurinko Ou, E:c.’ronio. 100.0
Finnair Engine Services Oy, Finland 100.0 Matkayhtyma Oy, Finland 100.0 Information on the Group's associates and joint ventures 31 Dec 2021
. Finnair Kitchen Oy, Finland 100.0 FTS Financial Services Oy, Finland 100.0
Consolidated statement . Y Y EUR mill. Domicile Assets Liabilities Revenue Profit/Loss Holding %
of changes in equity Kiinteistd Oy Lentokonehuolto, ) : —
Finland 100.0 Finnair Business Services Ou, Estonia 100.0 Nordic Regional Airlines AB Sweden 28.0 97.3 703 2.1 40.00
Northport Oy, Finland 100.0
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Balticport Ou was liquidated on 18 May 2022.

4.3 Acquisitions and divestments

There were no business acquisitions or divestments in 2022. In 2021, Finnair sold its 49.5% share of Suomen
liImailuopisto Oy to the city of Pori and to the Government of Finland.

4.4 Investments in associates and joint ventures

Associates are companies in which the Group generally holds 20—50 per cent of the voting rights or in which the
Group has significant influence but in which it does not exercise control. Companies where the Group has joint control
with another entity and significant decisions require both parties approval are considered as joint ventures. The
Group's interests in associated companies and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method.
The group has no joint arrangements classified as joint operations in which the group would have rights to shares in
the assets or liabilities of the joint ventures and which it would combine with its balance sheet.

The investment in associates and joint ventures include goodwill recognized at the time of acquisition. The Group
recognises its share of the post-acquisition results in associates and joint ventures in the income statement. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

Results from the transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates and joint ventures. The Group determines at each reporting
date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associates is impaired. In case of such
indications, Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value. The impairment is recognised in share of results in associates and joint ventures.

Accounting policies of associates or joint ventures have been changed to correspond with the accounting policies
adopted by the Group. If financial statements for the period are not available, the share of the profit of certain
associated or joint venture companies is included in the consolidated accounts based on the preliminary financial
statements or latest available information.

The Group's share of the result, asset items and liabilities of associates and joint ventures is presented below.

EUR mill. 2022 2021
At the beginning of the financial year 0.0 25
Disposals -24
At the end of the financial year 0.0 0.0

The result of associated companies and joint ventures for 2022 was 0.5 (2.1) million euros, of which Finnair's share
was 0.0 (0.0) million euros.

Nordic Regional Airlines AB

Nordic Regional Airlines AB (Norra) operates mainly purchased traffic for Finnair. The owners (Finnair 40% and
Danish Air Transport 60%) have joint control over the entity. In the balance sheet of Finnair, Norra has been
classified as ajoint venture.

4.5 Related party transactions

Related parties of the Finnair group includes its subsidiaries, management (the Board of Directors, the President
and CEO and the Executive Board), their close family members and companies controlled by them or their
close family members, associated companies and joint ventures, Finnair pension fund and Finnair Group
sickness fund. Subsidiaries are listed in the note 4.2 and associates and joint ventures in note 4.4. Related party
transactions include such operations that are not eliminated in the group’s consolidated financial statement.
The State of Finland which has control over Finnair owns 55.9% (55.9%) of Finnair's shares. All the transactions
with other government owned companies and other related parties are on arm'’s length basis, and are on similar
terms than transactions carried out with independent parties.
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Financial Statements

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Sales of goods and services

Associates andjoint ventures 257 18.2
Pension fund 03 0.1
Sickness fund 0.0 0.2
Employee benefits

Pension fund 1.2 -14
Sickness fund 0.6 0.6
CEO and Executive Board 41 46
The Board of Directors 04 04
Purchases of goods and services

Associates andjoint ventures 78.2 73.0
Pension fund 20 20
Financialincome and expenses

Associates and joint ventures 1.6
Pension fund 0.6 0.1
Receivables

Associates andjoint ventures 6.4 17.0
Pension fund 119.9 789
Liabilities

Associates and joint ventures 43 6.1

Employee benefits and non-current receivables from pension fund are related to defined benefit pension
plans in Finnair pension fund. These are described more detailed in the note 1.3.8.2. Management remuneration
is presented in note 1.3.8. Management has not been granted any loans and there have not been any other
transactions with management.

More information on associated companies and joint ventures can be found in the note 4.4.

Finnair pension fund

The Finnair pension fund in Finland is a stand-alone legal entity which mainly provides additional pension
coverage to Finnair's personnel in the form of defined benefit plan, and manages related pension assets. The
assets include Finnair's shares representing 0.1% (0.1%) of the company’s outstanding shares. Real estate and
premises owned by the pension fund have been mainly leased to Finnair. In 2022 and 2021 Finnair did not pay
any contributions to the fund. Pension asset was 119.7 million euros (78.9) at the end of the financial year.

Auditor’'s Report

5 Other notes

K Other notes include all such notes that do not specifically relate to any previous subject matters. H

5.1Income taxes

The tax expense for the period includes current and deferred tax and adjustments to previous years' taxation. Tax
is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or other equity items.

Deferred taxes are calculated for temporary differences between accounting and taxation using the valid tax
rates for future years at the closing date. Deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that realisation of the related
tax benefit through future profits is probable. Temporary differences arise mainly from sales of tangible assets and
depreciation, right-of-use assets, lease liabilities and tax losses. Deferred tax is recognised for foreign subsidiaries’
undistributed earnings only when related tax effects are probable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted when they are levied by the same taxing authority and Finnair has a
legally enforceable right to set off the balances.

H Deferred taxes

Recognition of deferred tax asset is based on management estimates and require the use of management
judgement in order to assess whether there will be sufficient taxable profits flowing to the company in the future. The
expectations used in the calculation are based on the latest management forecasts at the reporting date and use
assumptions that are consistent with those used elsewhere in the financial statements. The forecast scenarios have
been updated to reflect the renewed strategy announced by Finnair in September. It aims to restore profitability
and targets to reach the pre-pandemic comparable operating result level of 5% from mid-2024 onwards. Due to the
current uncertainty embedded in the economic environment and the difficulty in forecasting the impact of the war
in Ukraine, the management has considered alternative forecast scenarios that differ mainly in regard to impacts of
a possible economic downturn as well as the estimated duration of the Russian airspace closure. The scenarios have
been discussed in more detail early in the beginning of the notes section under Board's assessment of Finnair as a
going concern. In financial year 2022, deferred tax asset was written down from the taxable losses of 2020-2021, and
deferred tax asset from the 2022 loss was not recognized. Finnair expects to be able to use the tax losses remaining on
balance sheet in advance of 10 years expiry date under all of the forecast scenarios. H

Income taxes

EUR mill. 2022 2021

Taxes for the financial year

Current tax

Adjustments recognised for current tax of prior periods

Deferred taxes -105.4 Nn7.6

Total -105.4 117.6
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The reconciliation of income taxes to theoretical tax cost calculated at Finnish tax rate

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Result before taxes -370.7 -581.9
Taxes calculated using the Finnish tax rate 20% 74.1 116.4
Different tax rates of foreign subsidiaries 0.1 0.0
Tax-exemptincome 04 1.3
Non-deductible expenses -39 -0.2
Non-capitalized tax loss carryforwards -33.9

Non-capitalized temporary differences -25.2

Write-down of deferred tax on taxable losses 2020-2021 -117.0

Adjustments recognised for taxes of prior periods 0.0 0.1
Income taxes total -105.4 117.6

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The Group has evaluated the nature and classification of deferred tax assets. Based on the evaluation,
deferred tax assets and liabilities levied by the same taxing authority met the requirements for offset eligibility in
accordance with IAS 12 standard. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown net on the balance sheet.

Changesin deferred taxes during 2022:

Recognised Recognisedin
intheincome shareholders’

Auditor’'s Report

2020-2021 were written down due to the significant uncertainty caused by the closure of the Russian airspace.
The Group has recognized a deferred tax asset of 80.6 million euros (191.9).

The forecast scenarios and their expected probabilities have been updated to reflect the renewed strategy
announced by Finnair in September. It aims to restore profitability and targets to reach the pre-pandemic
comparable operating result level of 5% from mid-2024 onwards. Based on these forecast scenarios and their
expected probabilities, the company’s Board of Directors expects that after the write-down of 117 million euros
of the deferred tax asset recognized in the second quarter, the remaining deferred tax asset of 99 million
euros, corresponding to taxable losses of approximately 497 million euros from financial years 2020 and 2021,
which will expire in 2030 and 2031, can be utilized after the implementation of the new strategy. The write-down
corresponds to tax losses of approximately 585 million euros from financial years 2020 and 2021, which will
expire in 2030 and 2031.

Deferred tax assets of financial year 2022 were not recognized for the estimated tax losses of approximately
169 million euros, which will expire in 2032, and temporary differences of 140 million euros, which have no expiry
date. Temporary differences include the lease contract related losses of 64 million euros mainly derived from
exchange rate differences, the interest expenses under the limitation of the right to deduct interest amounting
to 57 million euros and the valuation of derivatives at fair value 13 million euros. The deferred tax asset is
recognized up to the amount where it is probable that future taxable income will be generated against which
the temporary difference can be utilized, also taking into account the tax planning methods available to Finnair
relating to accumulated tax depreciations. The Board's assessment of the future taxable profit is based on the
latest forecasts scenarios which are described in more detail in note Board’s assessment of Finnair as a going
concern and note 2.3 Depreciation and impairment.

Distributing retained earnings of foreign sulbsidiaries as dividends would cause a tax effect of 0.3 million euros (0.3).

Changesin deferred taxes during 2021:

Recognised Recognisedin
intheincome shareholders’

J
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EUR mill. 2021 statement equity 2022
Deferred tax assets
Confirmed losses 216.6 -122.8 937
Leases 42.8 0.0 428
Valuation of derivatives at fair value 0.9 -0.9 0.0
Other temporary differences 16.9 -34 4] 17.6
Total 2771 -126.2 3.2 154.1
Netted from deferred tax liabilities -85.2 20.8 -9.1 -73.5
Deferred tax assets in balance sheet 191.9 -105.4 -5.8 80.6
Recognised Recognisedin

intheincome shareholders'’
EUR mill. 2021 statement equity 2022
Deferred tax liabilities
Defined benefit pension plans -16.1 2.2 -10.0 -24.0
Property, plant and equipment -68.2 18.6 -49.5
Valuation of derivatives at fair value -0.9 09 0.0
Total -85.2 20.8 -9.1 -73.5
Netted from deferred tax assets 85.2 -20.8 9.1 735
Deferred tax liabilities in balance sheet 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Finnair's taxable result continued to be highly negative in year 2022 as a result of the impact of the war in

Ukraine and the COVID-19 pandemic on its operations and financial performance. Finnair has not recognized
deferred tax assets arising from the losses of financial year 2022 and temporary differences, and tax losses of

EUR mill. 2020 statement equity 2021
Deferred tax assets
Confirmed losses 1415 75.1 216.6
Leases 171 257 42.8
Valuation of derivatives at fair value 6.0 -5.1 0.9
Other temporary differences 10.3 24 4] 16.9
Total 174.8 103.3 -1.0 2771
Netted from deferred tax liabilities -90.0 14.3 95 -85.2
Deferred tax assetsin balance sheet 84.8 117.6 -10.5 191.9
Recognised Recognisedin

intheincome shareholders'
EUR mill. 2020 statement equity 2021
Deferred tax liabilities
Defined benefit pension plans -6.2 -14 -8.6 -16.1
Property, plant and equipment -83.9 15.7 -68.2
Valuation of derivatives at fair value -0.9 -0.9
Total -90.0 14.3 -9.5 -85.2
Netted from deferred tax assets 90.0 -14.3 95 85.2
Deferred tax liabilities in balance sheet 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
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5.2 Disputes and litigation

Finnair reports only cases of which the interest is material and that are not insured. As of 31 December 2022 there
were no such disputes pending.

6 Parent company financial statements

Finnair Plcincome statement

5.3 Events after the closing date EUR mill. Note 2022 2021
Revenue 6.2 2,241.4 814.5
Consolidated cash flow statement Finnair signed agreements to terminate two of its A320-aircraft lease contracts and one A321-aircraft lease Other operatingincome 6.3 159.6 66.6
contract and to acquire the aircraft to its own possession. The purchase of the aircraft is expected to have a Operatingincome 2.401.0 881.1
Consolidated statement positive impact on Finnair's profitability over the next few years. One of the transactions took place in February
of changes in equity 2023 ongl ’rhe other two ’rronsachop; are expected to ’rokelploce during Mgrch 20?3. The transactions will have Materials and services 6.4 14239 5470
a negative impact of around 50 million euro on the Group’s cash flow during the first quarter of 2023. The
Notes to the consolidated purchase of the leased aircraft is not expected to have a material impact on the Group's profit or balance sheet Staff expenses 6.5 308.6 163.1
. . due to simultaneous release of the related maintenance liabilities, in connection with the lease termination. Depreciation and reductionin value 6.6 13.1 15.8
financial statements :
Other operating expenses 6.7 972.6 761.7
' After the financial year-end, Finnair and British Airways agreed to continue their cooperation where Finnair will Operating expenses 2718.2 1,487.5
1. Operating result lease four A320 aircraft with crew to be operated in British Airways’ European routes starting from 24 March
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing 2023. Operating profit/loss 3172 ~606.5
arrangements
Capital structure and financing costs Financialincome and expenses 6.8 -44.0 -249
Consolidation
Other notes Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes -361.1 -631.4
. Parent company financial statements
Appropriations 6.9 127.9 2459
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend
Income taxes 6.10 -117.0 785
Auditor's report
Profit/loss for the financial year -350.2 -307.0
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Consolidated statement

. EUR mill. Note 2022 2021 EUR mill. 2022 2021
of comprehensive income
ASSETS Cash flow from operating activities
) Non-current assets Result before appropriations -361.1 -631.4
Consolidated balance sheet Infangible assets 6.11 20.8 27.1 Depreciation 13.1 15.8
. Tangible assets 6.12 841 88.7 Other non-cash fransactions 49.6 19.5
Consolidated cash flow statement Investments Financial income and expenses 440 30.8
Holdings in group undertakings 649.4 653.6 Changes in working capital 1615 1831
Consolido’rgd s’ro’rgmen’r Participating interests 0.0 0.0 Interest and other financial expenses paid 762 821
of changes in equity Other shares and similar rights of ownership 04 04 . . : .
Loan and other receivables 614 o5 18 Received interest and ojrher f|nf1r.1<*:|ol income 13.8 171
Notes to the consolidated Totalinvestments 613 652.3 655.8 Cash flow from operating activities 1534 -aar4
financial statements Deferred tax assets 6.15 104.0 220.0 . . o
Total non-current assets 861.1 991.7 Cash flow from investing activities
. Investments in intangible and tangible assets -2.1 -6.0
1.  Operating result :
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing Current assets Proceed§ from sales of mnglbl.e assets 00 3
arrangements Current receivables 6.16 6227 627.6 Changeinloan and other receivables 3.1 129
3. Capital structure and financing costs Marketable securities 617 7386 2314 nvestments in subsidiaries : o 129
o Cash and bank equivalents 6.18 7847 734.1 Proceeds from sales of associates and joint ventures 83
4. Consolidation Total current assets 2,146.1 1,893.1 Received dividends 0.0 0.0
5. Othernofes Cash flow from investing activities 1.0 5.2
6. Parent company financial statements TOTAL ASSETS 3,007.2 2,884.8
Cash flow from financing activities
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Purchase of own shares K
Equity Proceeds from loans 400.0
Auditor's report Share capital 754 754 Loan repayments and changes -232.1 296.6
Share premium account 24.7 24.7 Proceeds from capital loan 400.0
Other reserves Received and given group contributions 2443 189.6
Unrestricted equity funds 772.9 7724 Cash flow from financing activities 412.2 885.1
Legalreserve 147.7 147.7
Hedgingreserve 29 37 Change in cash flows 257.9 443.0
Retained earnings -698.7 -391.7
Capitalloan 400.0
Profit/loss for the financial year -350.2 -307.0 Change in liquid funds
Total equity 6.19 361.9 3252 Liquid funds, at beginning 1,265.5 822.5
Changein cash flows 2579 4430
Accumulated appropriations 6.20 18.2 19.5 Liquid funds, atend 1,523.4 1,265.5
Provisions 6.21 235.8 182.4
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities 6.22 1,004.3 9144
Current liabilities 6.23 1,387.0 1,443.3
Total liabilities 2,391.2 2,357.7
Equity and liabilities total 3,007.2 2,884.8
Finnair — Financial Information 2022 92
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Notes to Finnair Plc financial statements

6.1 Accounting principles
General
Finnair Plc is the parent company in Finnair Group, domiciled in Helsinki, Finland. Financial statements are

prepared in accordance with accounting principles required by Finnish law.

Foreign currency items

Business transactions in foreign currencies have been valued using the exchange rate at the date of transaction.

Receivables and liabilities on the balance sheet date are valued using the exchange rate on the balance
sheet date. Advances paid and received are valued in the balance sheet using the exchange rate at the date
of payment. Exchange rate differences on trade receivables and payables are treated as the adjustments

to turnover and other operating expenses. Exchange rate differences on other receivables and liabilities are
entered under financial income and expenses.

Derivative contracts

According to its risk management policy, Finnair uses foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity
derivatives to reduce the exchange rate, interest rate and commodity risks which arise from the Finnair's
balance sheet items, currency denominated purchase agreements, anticipated currency denominated
purchases and sales as well as future jet fuel purchases. The balance sheet exposure is hedged only at group
level, except for Finnair Aircraft Finance that has hedged its own exposures. The combined entity-level
exposure for all Group companies differs from the Group-level exposure by the amount of infercompany items.
Therefore, the balance sheet position and contracts hedging it are presented only in note 3.5. of the Group
financial statements. Similarly, the foreign currency cash flow exposure is only hedged at the Group level to
take advantage of the netting effect, and is presented in note 3.5 of the Group financial statements. Derivative
contracts are valued using the rates on the balance sheet date according to Accounting Act 5:2 a §.

The derivatives are initially recognized at original acquisition cost (fair value) in the balance sheet and
subsequently valued at fair value in each financial statement and interim report. The fair values of the
derivatives are based on the value at which the instrument could be exchanged between knowledgeable,
willing and independent parties, with no compulsion to sell or buy in the sales situation.

The fair values of all derivatives are calculated using the exchange rates, interest rates, volatilities and
commodity price quotations on the closing date. The fair values of currency forward contracts are calculated
as the present value of future cash flows. The fair values of currency options are calculated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. The fair values of interest rate and currency swap contracts are calculated as
the present value of future cash flows. The fair values of interest rate options are calculated using generally
accepted option valuation models. The fair values of commodity forward contracts are calculated as the
present value of future cash flows. The fair values of commodity options are calculated using generally
accepted option valuation models.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are presented in the financial statements according
to the original classification of the derivative. Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying for hedge accounting
are recognized in accordance with the underlying asset being hedged. At inception, derivative contracts
are designated as future cash flows hedges, hedges of binding purchase contracts (cash flow hedges or fair
value hedges) or as derivatives not meeting the hedge accounting criteria or to which hedge accounting is
not applied (economic hedges). Hedging of the fair value of net investments of foreign units or embedded
derivatives have not been used.

At the inception of hedge accounting, Finnair documents the economic relationship and the hedge ratio
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, as well as the company's risk management objectives
and the strategy for the inception of hedging. At the inception of hedging, and at least at the time of each
financial statement, Finnair documents and assesses the effectiveness of hedge relationships by examining the
past and prospective capacity of the hedging instrument to offset changes in the fair value of the hedged item

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

or changes in cash flows. The values of derivatives in a hedging relationship are presented in the balance sheet
items current assets and current liabilities.

Finnair applies the IFRS hedge accounting principles in the hedging of future cash flows (cash flow hedging).
The principles are applied to the foreign currency risk of foreign currency denominated purchases and sales,
the price risk of jet fuel purchases and the price risk of electricity.

The change in the fair value of the effective portion of derivative instruments that fulfil the terms of cash flow
hedging are directly recognised in the fair value reserve of other comprehensive income, to the extent that the
requirements for the application of hedge accounting have been fulfilled. The gains and losses, recognised in
fair value reserve, are tfransferred to the income statement in the period in which the hedged item is recognised
in the income statement. When an instrument acquired for the hedging of cash flow matures or is sold, or when
the criteria for hedge accounting are no longer fulfilled, the gain or loss accrued from hedging instruments
remains in equity until the forecast transaction takes place. However, if the forecasted hedged transactionis no
longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accrued in equity is immediately recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets have been classified into the following categories: amortised cost and fair value through
profit and loss. The classification is made at the time of the original acquisition based on the objective of the
business model and the contractual cash flows of the investment. All purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the tfrade date. Liabilities are recognised at acquisition cost. Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss as well as assets and liabilities maturing within 12 months are included in current assets
and liabilities. Investments in debt securities are measured at amortised cost, but only when the objective of
the business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows and the asset’s contractual cash
flows represent only payments of principal and interest. Financial assets recognised at amortised cost are
valued using the effective interest method. Financial assets valued at amortised cost include trade receivables,
deferred charges and security deposits for aircraft lease agreements. Due to the nature of short-term
receivables and other receivables, their book value is expected to be equal to the fair value. Derecognition
of financial assets takes place when Finnair has lost its contractual right to receive cash flows or when it has
substantially fransferred the risks and rewards outside the company.

Finnair recognises credit loss provisions based on lifetime expected credit losses from trade receivables
in accordance with IFRS 9. Finnair has chosen to apply a simplified credit loss matrix for trade receivables as
trade receivables do not have a significant financing component. The expected credit loss model is forward-
looking, and expected default rates are based on historical realised credit losses. The lifetime expected credit
loss allowance is calculated using the gross carrying amount of outstanding trade receivables in each aging
bucket and an expected default rate. The changes in expected credit losses are recognised in other expenses
in the consolidated income statement. The impairment model does not apply to financial investments, such as
bonds and money market funds, included in other financial assets as those are measured at fair value through
profit and loss under IFRS 9, which already takes into account expected credit losses. With respect to the assets
measured at amortised cost, Finnair is actively following such instruments and will recognise impairment
through profit and loss if there is evidence of deterioration in credit quality.

Fixed assets and depreciation
* Buildings, 10-50 years from the time of acquisition to a residual value of 10%.
» Othertangible assets, over 3—15 years

Research and development costs
Except for major software development costs, research and development costs are expensed as they occur.
Research and development of aircraft, systems and operations is conducted primarily by the manufacturers.

Leasing

Lease payments for aircraft are significant. Annual lease payments are treated as rental expenses. Lease
payments due in future years under aircraft lease contracts are presented as off-balance sheet items.
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Consolidated income statement Appropriations 6.4 Materials and services
The difference between total and planned depreciation is shown as accumulated appropriations in the
Consolidated statement balance sheet and the change during the financial year in the income statement. Appropriations contain also EUR mill 2022 2021
of comprehensive income given and received group contributions. mifl.
Materials and supplies
c idated bal heet Income taxes Ground handling and catering expenses 220.8 17.3
onsolidared balance shee Income taxes in the income statement include taxes calculated for the financial year based on Finnish tax Fuel costs 836.0 211.4
provisions, adjustments to taxes in previous financial years and the change in deferred taxes. Aircraft materials and overhaul 266.3 179.8
Consolidated cash flow statement T exoenses 142 108
Pension schemes bt : :
: ‘ : . . Otheritems 86.7 27.7
. The mandatory pension cover of the company’s domestic employees has primarily been arranged through
Consolidated statement S RS o : o : |
a Finnish pension insurance company and other additional pension cover through the Finnair pension fund or Tota 1,423.9 5417.0

of changes in equit
S aury a Finnish pension insurance company. Since 1992, the pension fund has no longer accepted employees other

than pilots for additional pension coverage. The Finnair pension fund'’s pension obligation is fully covered with

Noies !° the consolidated respect to additional coverage. Pension fund liabilities are presented in the notes to the financial statements. 6.5 Staff costs
financial statements

| Provisions . | | | EUR mill, 2022 2021
1.  Operating result Provisions in the balance sheet and entered as expenses in the income statement comprise those items which W Jealor 363 1398
; : ; e ; ages and salaries : :
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing the company is comml’r’red to covering through agreements or otherwise in the foreseeable future and which A P s
arrangements have no corresponding revenue and whose monetary value can be reasonably assessed. ension expenses . .
. _ _ The company is obliged to return leased aircraft at the required redelivery condition. To fulfil these Other social expenses 26.4 0.5
3. Capital structure and financing costs maintenance obligations the company has recognised provisions based on flight hours flown during the Total 308.6 163.1
4. Consolidation maintenance period.
5. Ofthernotes Salary and bonus expenses of Chief Executive Officer and Members of the Board
6. Parent company financial statements 6.2 Revenue by business area of Directors
Chief Executive Officer and his deputy 12 1.3
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend EUR mill. 2022 2021 Board of Directors 0.4 0.4
L Revenue by division Personnel on average 3,979 4248
Auditor's report 2,241.4 8145
Passenger revenue 1,786.0 440.1
Ancillary services e 397 6.6 Planned depreciation and amortisation
Cargorevenue 3524 334.8
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Distribution of turnover by market areas based on flight routes, % of turnover On other long-term expenditure 85 15
Finland o% 5% Onbuildings 12 10
Europe : 46? 375’ On other equipment 33 33
Other countries 48% 55% Total 131 15.8
Total 100% 100%

6.3 Other operatingincome 6.7 Other operating expenses

) EUR mill. 2022 2021

EUR mill. 2022 2021 Lease payments for aircraft 407.9 4181
Aircraft lease income 1054 206 Other rents for aircraft capacity 1024 7.4
Other rentalincome 220 200 Office and other rents 34.1 27.8
Otherincome 321 259 Traffic charges 206.5 120.4
Total 159.6 66.6 Sales and marketing expenses 95.6 337
Other expenses 126.2 90.4

Total 972.6 761.7
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Audit fees in other expenses

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Authorised Public Accountants KPMG KPMG

Auditor's fees 03 0.1

Tax advising 0.0

Other fees 0.2 0.1
Total 0.5 0.2

6.8 Financialincome and expenses

EUR mill. 2022 2021
Dividend income

From other companies 0.0 0.0
Total 0.0 0.0
Interestincome

From group companies 8.9 55

From other companies

Net gains on debt instruments held mandatorily at FVPL 3.7 -04
Other interestincome 2.7 0.0

Total 15.3 5.0
Gains on disposal of shares 59
Interest expenses

To other companies -54.8 -46.0
Total -54.8 -46.0
Other financial income

Financialincome from discontinued hedges 11.6
Total 11.6
Other financial expenses

Financial expenses for discontinued hedges -5.2

Revaluation of shares 41

Other -28.1 -19.1
Total -23.9 -24.3
Exchange gains and losses 19.5 22.9
Financial income and expenses total -44.0 -24.9

Auditor’'s Report
6.9 Appropriations
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Change in depreciation difference 12 1.5
Received group contribution 126.6 2443
Total 127.9 2459
6.10 Income taxes
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Income tax for the financial year 70.8
Change in deferred taxes -117.0 7.6
Total -117.0 78.5
6.11 Intangible assets
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Other long-term expenditure
Acquisition cost 1 January 84.9 854
Additions 22 46
Disposals -7.9 -39
Reclassification -1.2
Acquisition cost 31 December 79.1 849
Accumulated depreciation 1 January -57.7 -50.1
Disposals 7.8 3.6
Depreciation and reductionin value -8.4 -11.3
Accumulated depreciation 31 December -58.4 -57.7
Book value 31 December 20.8 271
Intangible assets Total 31 December 20.8 271
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Consolidated income statement 6.12Ta ngib|e asseis 6.13 Investments
Consolidated statement Tangible assets 2022 EUR mill 2022 2021
f h . . °
of comprenhensive income Other Advances Group companies
. EUR mill. Land  Buildings equipment paid Total Acquisition cost 1 January 653.6 640.6
Consolidated balance sheet Acquisition cost 1 January 07 542 59.9 0.8 115.6 Additions 13.0
. Additions 0.3 0.3 0.7 Revaluation of shares -4.1
Consolidated cash flow statement Disposals -0.1 -0.8 -0.9 Book value 31 December 649.4 653.6
Acquisition cost 31 December 0.7 54.2 60.2 0.3 115.4

Consolidated statement Associates and joint ventures

of changes in equity

Accumulated depreciation 1January -6.7 -20.2 -26.9 Acquisition cost 1 January 0.0 25

. Disposals 0.1 0.1 Disposals 24

:::;?‘i ::It:izf:r:sezlil:ated Depreciation and reductionin value -1.2 -3.3 -4.6 Book value 31 December 0.0 0.0
Accumulated depreciation 31 December -7.9 -23.5 -31.4

Shares in other companies

1.  Operating result

Book value 31 December 0.7 46.3 36.7 0.3 84.1 Acquisition cost 1 January 04 04
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing .
Additions 0.0
arrangements . :
The share of machines and equipment Book value 31 December 0.4 0.4
3. Capital structure and financing costs in the book value of tangible assets 31
4. Consolidation December 41.4%
5.  Other notes Share of
6. Parent company financial statements Tangible assets 2021 . . pqref,“
Associates and joint ventures company %
Other  Advances Nordic Regional Airlines AB, Sweden 40.00
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend EUR mill. Land  Buildings equipment paid Total : '
Acquisition cost 1 January 0.7 543 545 7.2 116.7
Reclassification 0.9 0.9 parent parent
Disposals 0.0 -1.1 -2.4 -6.6 -10.2 Group companies company % company %
Acquisition cost 31 December 0.7 54.2 59.9 0.8 115.6 Finnair Cargo Oy, Finland 100.00 Kiinteistdé Oy Lentokonehuolto, Finland 100.00
Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy, Finland 100.00 Amadeus Finland Oy, Finland 95.00
Accumulated depreciation 1January -6.3 -17.0 -23.2 Oy Aurinkomatkat - Suntours Ltd Ab,
Disposals 0.6 0.0 0.6 Northport Oy, Finland 100.00 Finland 100.00
Depreciation and reduction in value -1.0 33 43 Finnair Technical Services Oy, Finland 100.00 FTSFinancial Services Oy, Finland 100.00
Accumulated depreciation 31 December -6.7 -20.2 -26.9 Finnair Engine Services Oy, Finland 100.00 Finnair Business Services OU, Estonia 100.00
Finnair Kitchen Oy, Finland 100.00
Book value 31December 0.7 41.5 39.7 08 BE7] On 30th June Oy Aurinkomatkat - Suntours Ltd Ab, Finland shares were revaluated and written down by 4 149
082,36 EUR.
The share of machines and equipment
in the book value of tangible assets 31
December 423% 6.14 Non-current loan and other receivables
EUR mill. 2022 2021
From group companies
From other companies 2.5 1.8
Total 2.5 1.8
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Consolidated income statement 6.15 Deferred tax assets 6.17 Investments
Consolidated statement EUR mill, 2022 2021 EUR mill, 2022 2021
of comprehensive income : :
Deferred tax assets 1 January 220.0 1474 Short-term investments at fair value 738.6 5314
F It for the fi ial 70.8
Consolidated balance sheet romresuiioring : nancialyedr
From temporary differences 7.6 .
) From valuation of derivates at fair value 09 -59 6-1 8 CGSh cmd ban eCIUIVCﬂen’fS
Consolidated cash flow statement . . . .
Adjustments recognised for taxes of prior periods -117.0
. Deferred tax assets 31 December 104.0 220.0 EUR mill. 2022 2021
Consolidated statement Funds in group bank accounts and deposits maturing in three months 784.7 7341

of changes in equity

6.16 Currentreceivables

Notes to the consolidated 6.19 Shq reho'der's equify
financial statements )
EUR mill. 2022 2021 Un-
. Short-term receivables from group companies Share restricted
1. Operating result Trade receivables 18.4 n3 . Share premium  Legal Hedging  equity Retained Capital Equity
2. ererg’rn ogr;crzln c;’r:ér fixed assets and leasing Group contribution receivable 126.6 2443 EUR. mill. capital account reserve reserve funds earnings loan total
. - . Accrued income and prepaid expenses 28 16 Equity 1.1.20?2 75.4 24.7 147.7 3.7 7724 -698.7 774
3. Capital structure and financing costs Other receivables 2456 2290 Changein fair value
T of equity instruments -13.6 -13.6
4. Consolidation Total 393.4 486.2
: : Share-based
6. Parent company financial statements Short-term receivables from associates and joint ventures Withdrawal of
Trade receivables 0.0 0.0 capitalloan 400.0 400.0
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Prepaid expenses 6.5 6.7 Result for
prop Total 6.5 6.8 the financial year -350.2 -350.2
Equity 31.12.2022 75.4 24.7 147.7 -9.9 7729 -1,048.9 400.0 361.9

Auditor's report

Short-term receivables from others

Trade receivables 85.8 65.6 Un-
Prepaid expenses 629 60.6 Share restricted
Derivative financial instruments 9.6 49 Share premium Legal Hedging equity Retained Capital Equity
Other receivables 64.6 36 EUR mill. capital account reserve reserve funds earnings loan total
Total 2229 134.7 Equity 1.1.2021 75.4 24.7 147.7 -19.8 772.0 -390.5 609.5
Changeinfair value
Short-termreceivables total 622.7 627.6 of equity instruments 255 235
Share-based
payments 04 04
Purchase of own
Accrued income and prepaid expenses 2022 2021 shares 1.1 1.1
Group contribution 126.6 2443 Result for the financial
Sales accruals 4.4 403 year -307.0 -307.0
Employee related deferred charges and receivables 0.9 1.6 Equity 31.12.2021 75.4 24.7 147.7 3.7 772.4 -698.7 325.2
Ofther prepaid expenses 29.9 27.0
Prepaid expenses total 198.8 313.2
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Consolidated income statement Distributable equity 6.22 Non-current liabilities
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Consolidated statement Hedging reserve 9.9 EUR mill 2022 2021
of comprehensive income Unrestricted equity funds 7729 7724 Loans from financial institutions 400.0 300.0
' Retained earnings -698.7 -391.7 Bonds 400.0 400.0
Consolidated balance sheet Received grants -6.0 Hybrid loan 200.0 200.0
Profit/loss for the financial year -350.2 -307.0 Ofther liabilities 43 144
Consolidated cash flow statement Total -291.9 737 Total 1,004.3 914.4
Consolidated statement Finnair Oyj withdrew a 400 million capital loan in 2022. During the year, the company also received support for Maturity of interest-bearing liabilies
of changes in equity uncovered fixed expenses in total of 6 million euros from the State Treasury of Finland. Share and dividends -5 years 800.0 700.0
information is available in Financial statements in group note 3.9.
after 5years 200.0 200.0
Notes to the consolidated Total 1,000.0 900.0
financial statements 6.20 Accumulated appropriations
1. Operating result EURmill 2022 o 6.23 Current liabilities
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing Accumulated depreciation difference 1 January 19.5 21.0 .
arrangements Change in depreciation difference -1.2 -1.5 ER mll!. - . 2022 2021
3. Capital structure and financing costs Accumulated depreciation difference 31 December 18.2 19.5 Currentllobliiies o group companies
S : : Trade payables 511 22.0
4. Consolidation Accruals and deferredincome 13.8 16.0
5. Ofthernotes Accumulated appropriations total 18.2 19.5 Group bank account liabilities 3717 504.9
6. Parent company financial statements Total 436.6 5429
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend 621 PI’OVISIO“S Current liabilities to associates and joint ventures
Trade payables 0.1 0.1
Auditor's report EUR mill. 2022 2021 Accruals and deferred income 1.0 1.5
Provisions1January 182.4 155.9 Total 11 15
Provision for the period 67.0 345
Provision used -22.5 -19.7 Current liabilities to others
Exhange rate differences 8.8 1.7 Loans from financial institutions 200.0 3989
Provisions 31 December 235.8 182.4 Trade payables 79.7 457
Of which long-term 164.3 170.3 Accruals and deferredincome 6615 4484
Of which short-term 715 12.1 Other liabilities 8.2 59
Total 235.8 182.4 Total 949.3 898.9
Long-term aircraft maintenance provisions are expected to be used by 2033. Current liabilities total 1,387.0 1,443.3
Accruals and deferred income
Unflown air transport revenues 356.2 202.6
Jet fuels and traffic charges 509 498
Holiday payment liability 56.0 38.6
Other employee related accrued expenses 342 18.8
Loyalty program Finnair Plus 515 552
Derivative financial instruments 215 0.3
Accrued other charges 78.0 68.6
Other items 279 32.0
Total 676.2 465.9
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6.24 Collateral, contingent liabilities and other commitments
EUR mill. 2022 2021
Guarantees and contingent liabilities
On behalf of group companies 525 51.0
Total 52.5 51.0
Aircraft lease payments
Within one year 3799 364.8
After one year and not later than 5 years 7.7 1173.0
Later than 5years 517.7 648.0
Total 2,015.3 2,185.9
Parent company has leased the aircraft fleet from the fully owned subsidiary.
Other lease payments
Within one year 26.3 29.0
After one year and not later than 5 years 65.0 70.6
Laterthan 5years 158.7 159.6
Total 250.0 259.1
Pension obligations
Total obligation of pension fund 3213 333.3
Non-mandatory benefit covered -321.3 -333.3
Total
Capitalloan
Accrued interest from capital loan 9.
Other accrued fees from capital loan 6.9
Total 16.0

Finnair has withdrawn 290 million euros of hybrid bond on 22 June 2022, which has been converted into capital
loan on 30 June 2022 with the decision by plenary session of the Government. The remaining 110-million-euro
amount of the capital loan has been withdrawn on 2 September 2022. Therefore the 400-million-euro capital
loan is fully withdrawn. The withdrawn amount has been booked to the parent company’s equity as its own

tranche.

If the Limited Liability Companies Act and terms and conditions specified in the capital loan agreement are
met Finnair can pay from the facility a reference interest rate added with margin defined in the capital loan
agreement. At the time of the withdrawal the margin of the capital loan was 3.5% and reference rate was 0%
according to the terms and conditions. Margin of the capital loan will increase annually based on the margin
ratchet included in the terms and conditions of the capital loan agreement. Additionally, Finnair can pay
utilisation fee for the capital loan. The amount of the utilisation fee is tied to the amount of withdrawn capital
loan according to its terms and conditions. At the time of withdrawal, the annual cost from the utilisation fee was
2 per cent. In addition to the utilisation fee, Finnair pays commitment fee on the undrawn portion of the capital

loan totalling to 20 per cent of capital loan margin.

The capital loan does not have a determined maturity date, and it can be repaid in accordance with the
Limited Liability Companies Act and terms and conditions specified in the capital loan agreement. Finnair can
pay accrued interest and other payments from the loan if the conditions and the rules of the Limited Liability
Companies Act are met. The interest accrued on the capital loan has not been recorded as an expense.

Auditor’'s Report
6.25 Derivatives
2022 2021
Positive Negative Positive Negative
Nominal fair fair Fairnet Nominal fair fair Fairnet
EUR mill. value values values  value value values values  value
Currency derivatives
Jet fuel currency hedging
Operational cash flow hedging
(forward contracts) 2847 0.1 -14 -71.3 574 0.8 -0.1 07
Operational cash flow hedging,
bought options 45 0.0 0.0
Operational cash flow hedging,
sold options 43 0.0 0.0
Hedge accounting items total 284.7 0.1 -74 -7.3 66.3 0.8 -0.1 0.7
Currency derivatives total 284.7 0.1 -7.4 -7.3 66.3 0.8 -0.1 0.7
Commodity derivatives
Jet fuel forward contracts, tonnes 209,000 34 -6.0 -25 68,000 41 -0.2 39
Bought options, jet fuel, fonnes 149,000 49 -0.2 48
Sold options, jet fuel, tonnes 149,000 0.2 -79 -7.8
Hedge accounting items total 8.6 -14.1 -5.6 41 -0.2 3.9
Jet fuel forward contracts, tonnes
Bought options, jet fuel, tonnes 149,000 0.9 09
Sold options, jet fuel, tonnes
Electricity derivatives, MWh
ltems outside hedge accounting
total 149,000 0.9 0.9
Commodity derivatives total 9.5 -14.1 -4.6 3.9 4.1 -0.2
Derivatives total * 9.6 -21.5 -12.0 49 -0.3 4.6

* Positive (negattive) fair value of hedging instruments on 31 Dec 2022 is presented in the statement of financial position in the
item derivative assets within current assets (derivative liabilities within current liabilities).
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6.26 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value
Fair values at the end of the reporting period

EUR mill. 2022 Level1 Level 2
Financial assets at fair value

Securities held for trading 738.6 690.8 478
Derivatives

Currency and interest rate swaps and options
- of which in fair value hedge accounting

Currency derivatives 0.1 0.1
- of which in cash flow hedge accounting 0.1 0.1
Commodity derivatives 95 95
- of which in cash flow hedge accounting 8.6 8.6
Total 748.2 690.8 57.4

Financial liabilities at fair value

Derivatives

Currency derivatives 74 74
- of which in cash flow hedge accounting 74 74

Commodity derivatives 14.1 14.1
- of which in cash flow hedge accounting 14.1 14.1

Total 21.5 21.5

6.27 Fuel pricerisk in flight operations

Timing of the notional and hedged price

Maturity
Hedged price Notional
31December 2022 $/tonne amount (fonnes) Under1lyear 1to2years
Jet fuel consumption priced with NWE index 1,042.9 358,000 338,000 20,000
Foreign exchangerisk
Maturity
Timing of the notional Average exchange rate
EUR mill. of hedging instruments Notional
31 December 2022 againsttheeuro  amount (gross) Lessthan1year
usD 1.05 258.50 258.50
JPY 141.10 26.2 26.2

Cross-currency interest rate swaps are included in the nominal amount calculation.
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Board of Directors Proposal on the Dividend

Consolidated income statement

Board of directors'proposal on the dividend

of comprehensive income
Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated cash flow statement o o , ,
Finnair Plc's distributable equity on 31 December 2022 amounts to -291,913,121.87 euros, of which the net result for

the financial year 2022 is -350,246,231.89 euros.
Consolidated statement

of changes in equity The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be paid based on the balance

sheet to be adopted for the financial year, which ended on 31 December 2022, and the result be retained in the

Notes to the consolidated equity.
financial statements

P . Signing of the Report of the Board of Directors and the Financial Statements
) perating result

2. Fleetand other fixed assets and leasing Helsinki, 14 February 2023
arrangements The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc

3. Capital structure and financing costs

4. Consolidation

5. Othernotes

6. Parent company financial statements
Jouko Karvinen Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko Montie Brewer

® Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

Auditor's report
Jukka Erlund Hannele Jakosuo-Jansson Henrik Kjellberg
Simon Large Maija Strandberg

Topi Manner
President and CEO of Finnair Plc
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Auditor’'s Report

Auditor’ I
u I o r s r e p O r (This document is an English translation of the Finnish audiitor’s report. Only the Finnish version of the report is legally binding.)

To the Annual General Meeting of Finnair Plc
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Finnair Plc (business identity code 0108023-3) for the year ended
31 December 2022. The financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet, income statement,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes,
including a summary of significant accounting policies, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income
statement, statement of cash flows and notes.

In our opinion
— the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position, financial
performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the EU
— the financial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s financial performance and
financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial
statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit Committee.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under good
auditing practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

In our best knowledge and understanding, the non-audit services that we have provided to the parent
company and group companies are in compliance with laws and regulations applicable in Finland regarding
these services, and we have not provided any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of
regulation (EU) 537/2014. The non-audit services that we have provided have been disclosed in note 1.3.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. The materiality is determined based on
our professional judgement and is used to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and
to evaluate the effect of identified misstatements on the financial statements as a whole. The level of materiality
we set is based on our assessment of the magnitude of misstatements that, individually or in aggregate, could
reasonably be expected to have influence on the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements.
We have also taken info account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material
for qualitative reasons for the users of the financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. The significant risks of material misstatement referred to in the EU Regulation No 537/2014
point (c) of Article 10(2) are included in the description of key audit matters below.

We have also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls. This includes consideration of
whether there was evidence of management bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Financial position and funding arrangements
(Refer to Accounting principles for consolidated financial statements and Notes 3.3, 3.5 and 3.9)

Resulting from the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic and
the Ukrainian war the Group has incurred a netloss of €
476 million decreasing the equity to € 411 million. Liquid
funds amounted to € 1,376 million and the interest-
bearing liabilities were € 2,629 million.

Finnair renewed its strategy and continued adjusting
its operations and executing its extensive financing
programme.

As disclosed in the accounting principles to the financial
statements due to the current uncertainty embedded

in the economic environment and the difficulty in
forecasting the ultimate duration of it, the Board of
Directors have reviewed three different scenarios
prepared by the management. According to the
assessment of the Board of Directors Finnair will be able
to meet its obligations under all three scenarios as they
fall due atleast 12 months after the date of the issuance
of the financial statements.

With the involvement of KPMG valuation and IFRS
specialists, we assessed the terms of the financing
agreements and the impacts on classification and
recognition in relation to accounting principles and
accounting standards applied in the consolidated
financial statements.

We obtained an understanding of the financial
forecasting process. We analysed, among others,
cash flow forecasts based on different scenarios, the
reliability of the data underlying the forecasts and
whether effective implementation of management
plansis reasonable.

We challenged the appropriateness of key assumptions
used in the cash flow forecasts that require significant
management judgement.

We evaluated the sensitivity calculations prepared by
the management to test the headroom for the Group to
be able to conduct its adjusted business operations.

In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of the
disclosures provided on the financing arrangements
and financial position.
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The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Fleet valuation
(Refer to Accounting principles for consolidated financial statements and Note 2)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The Group has own aircraft and right of use aircraft
with total carrying value of € 1,828 million representing
44 % of total consolidated assets. The aircraft-related
depreciation charge was € 277 million. Finnair sold
four owned A321 aircrafts. As a result of the closure of
Russian airspace animpairment of € 33 million was
recognized relating to four owned A330 aircrafts.

The evaluation of the expected useful life of the
components of the aircraft, the expected residual
value, impairment of existing aircraft and assessment
of whether onerous contract exists related to the future
committed aircraft purchases requires a significant
degree of management judgement.

The valuation of the fleet is considered as a key

audit matter due to the significance to the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position, due to
management judgement and inherent uncertainty
increased by pandemic involved in forecasting future
cash flows.

We assessed the reasonableness of assumptions
made for useful lives, components and residual values
regarding owned and leased aircraft and reconciled
these assumptions against carrying values of aircraft
components and associated depreciation recorded in
the income statement.

Our audit procedures, with the involvement of KPMG
valuation specialists, included testing the integrity of
the calculations and the technical model. We have
challenged the assumptions used inimpairment testing
and their reasonableness by reconciling against
external industry market data, scenarios approved by
the Board of Directors and our own views.

Furthermore, we considered the potential impact of
uncertainties related to closure of Russian airspace
on the assumptions within management’s cash flow
estimates. We performed our own sensitivity analyses
over the key assumptions used.

We assessed the appropriateness of the related
disclosures.

Deferred passenger revenue
(Refer to Accounting principles for consolidated financial statements and Note 1.2.4)

Valuation of deferred tax asset for unused tax losses
(Refer to Accounting principles for consolidated financial statements and note 5.1)

The deferred passenger revenue amounted to € 452
million. Passenger ticket sale is presented as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial
position from the point of sale until the flight is flown
and the sale is recognized as revenue. Recognition of
unused fickets as revenue is based on the expected
breakage amount of tickets remaining unused. The
points earned in the customer loyalty program are
measured at fair value and recognised as a decrease of
revenue and debt at the time when the points-earning
eventis recognised as revenue or when the points
expire.

Large volumes of transactions flow through various
computer systems from the date of sale until revenue
is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. The recording process is complex, which givesrise
to inherent risk of error, in determining the amount and
timing of the revenue recognition.

Timing and accuracy in the recording of passenger
revenue is therefore determined as a key audit matterin
our audit of the consolidated financial statements.

We obtained an understanding of revenue recognition
process. We used data analytics tools for identifying
revenue flows and risks in revenue recognition of ticket
sales and focused our audit on key risks identified.
Further, we used data analyses in testing deferred
revenue of unflown tickets.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of key controls over revenue recognition.

We tested the mathematical accuracy and input data
of the calculation used to recognize revenues from the
breakage model. We also analysed the assumptions
used in the revenue recognition of the customer loyalty
program.

We tested a sample of passenger revenue recognized
as well as a sample of unused tickets in the deferred
revenue.

As aresult of the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic and
Ukrainian war Finnair recorded tax losses amounting

to EUR 1.3 billion in 2020-2022. Due to the significant
uncertainty caused by the closure of the Russian
airspace no deferred tax asset was recognized for
taxable losses in 2022. Furthermore, the carrying
amount of the deferred tax asset related to tax loss
carryforwards has been reduced by EUR 117 million. The
remaining balance of deferred tax asset arising from
tax losses amounts to EUR 99 million.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that

itis probable that they can be utilized against taxable
profitin the future. The valuation of deferred tax assets is
based on management’s estimate of the future taxable
profits which will be generated before the unused tax
losses expire.

Valuation of deferred tax assets is considered a key
audit matter due to the high level of management
judgement involved in preparation of forecasts of
future taxable profits and the significance of carrying
amounts.

We assessed the appropriateness of the methodology
adopted by Finnair to identify existing tax loss carry
forwards that will be utilized. To determine the
recognition threshold of the deferred tax asset for
unused tax losses we assessed the forecasting process
by examining the procedure for preparing the taxable
income forecasts used as a basis for estimates and by
comparing income forecasts for prior years with actual
results.

We evaluated the appropriateness of key assumptions
used in the forecasts and compared them with the ones
adopted for non-current asset impairment tests.

We also challenged the degree of the probability and
accuracy of the available future taxable profits taking
intfo consideration the Finnair's new strategy and high
uncertainty about the duration of Russian airspace
closure.

In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of
the disclosures relating to deferred tax assets in
accordance with IFRS.

Aircraft maintenance provision
(Refer to Accounting principles for consolidated financial statements and Note 1.3.6)

The Group operates aircrafts which are owned or

held under lease agreement. The Group is obliged to
return leased aircraft and their engines according to
the redelivery condition setin the lease agreement.

To fulfil these maintenance obligations, the Group

has recognised airframe heavy maintenance, engine
performance maintenance, engine life limited part and
other material maintenance provisions amounting to €
247 million.

The measurement of aircraft maintenance provisions
requires management judgement especially related
to timing of maintenance events and valuation of
maintenance costs occurring in the future. The future
maintenance costs and their timing are dependent
on, for example, how future traffic plans realise, the
market price development of maintenance costs and
the actual condition of the aircraft at the time of the
maintenance event.

We identified aircraft maintenance provision as a
key audit matter due to the inherently complex model
and management judgement incorporated in the
assumptions usedin the calculation.

We obtained an understanding of the process by which
the lease agreements are analysed and recorded in the
maintenance model and by which the variable factors
within the provision are estimated.

We evaluated the appropriateness of the maintenance
provision model and challenged the key assumptions
used such as expected timing and cost of maintenance
checks.

We obtained and inspected a sample of asset lease
agreements to evaluate the completeness of the
restoration and return liabilities for obligations at the
redelivery at the end of the lease.

We tested the input data and mathematical accuracy
of the calculations as well as recalculated the
maintenance provision by using data analysis tools.

In addition, we performed retrospective analysis on the
accuracy of the provision.
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements in Finland and comply with statutory
requirements. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal control
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible
for assessing the parent company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial
statements are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the
parent company or the group or cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with good auditing practice will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
— |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
parent company'’s or the group'’s internal control.
— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the parent company’s or the group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the parent company or the group to cease to continue
as a going concern.
— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events so that the financial
statements give a frue and fair view.
— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

Board of Directors’
Proposal on the Dividend

Auditor’'s Report

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Reporting Requirements

Information on our audit engagement

We were first appointed as auditors by the Annual General Meeting on May 29, 2020, and our appointment
represents a total period of uninterrupted engagement of three years.

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the report of the Board of Directors and the information included in the Annual Report
but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’'s report thereon. We have obtained the report of
the Board of Directors prior to the date of this auditor’'s report, and the Annual Report is expected to be made
available to us after that date. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
With respect to the report of the Board of Directors, our responsibility also includes considering whether the
report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the informationin
the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’'s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other opinions
We support that the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements should be adopted. The

proposal by the Board of Directors regarding the treatment of distributable funds is in compliance with the
Limited Liability Companies Act. We support that the Members of the Board of Directors of the parent company
and the Managing Director should be discharged from liability for the financial period audited by us.

Helsinki, 14 February 2023

KPMG OY AB

KIRSI JANTUNEN
Authorized Public Accountant, KHT
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